## Effective SCHOOL LEADERSHIP

in a Disadvantaged Area

# Effective SCHOOL LEADERSHIP

in a Disadvantaged Area

THEOPHILUS ITAMAN





© THEOPHILUS ITAMAN 2017





All Rights Reserved

No part of this book may be reproduced, stored in retrieval system, transmitted in any form or by any means - electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, without the prior written permission of the author.

ISBN: 978-978-931-325-9

Designed & Printed by



**Nigeria** tdprints247@gmail.com +234 7017 049 451, +234 8147 667 540

2017

This book is dedicated to my dad, Late Mr. B. B. O. Itaman, who laid the foundation of my education career and interest in leadership, and to all educational leaders and researchers.



## Contents

Acknowledgements

Preface

Foreword

## Chapter 1: The concept of Leadership

- Nature of Leadership
- Differences between leadership and management
- The essential qualities of a leader

## **Chapter 2: Effective School Leadership**

- Effective Schools
- Effective Leadership

## Chapter 3: Styles of Leadership

- Autocratic leadership style
- Laissez-faire leadership style

- Democratic leadership
- Distributed leadership
- Instructional leadership
- Transactional leadership
- Transformational leadership
- Leadership styles and student achievement

## Chapter 4: Catholic School Leadership

Catholic schools and Servant Leadership

## CHAPTER 5: Leadership in Schools in Disadvantaged Areas

• Improvement strategies for schools in disadvantaged areas

## **CHAPTER 6: Leadership Training**

- Quality and Content of leadership training program
- Method and processes of leadership development
- The nexus between leadership training and leaders' performance

## **CHAPTER 7: Four Core Leadership Practices**

- Setting Direction
- Developing People
- Redesigning the Organization
- Management of the Instructional Program

## **CHAPTER 8: School Improvement**

- Concept of school improvement
- Basic principles in school improvement process
- Organic and mechanistic approaches to school

improvement

- School culture
- Process of change
- Top-down school improvement
- Bottom-up school improvement
- A combination of top-down and bottom-up approaches
- Capacity building
- Teaching and learning
- Factors that may hinder school improvement
- Leadership and school improvement
- Limitations in the school improvement field
- Key lessons from school improvement research
- Theoretical assumptions guiding the study of leadership and school improvement

References



ALL REAL



am indebted to the Almighty God for the grace and strength bestowed on me to carry out this research work. With a grateful heart, I appreciate the support of my Bishop, Most Rev. Dr. Donatus Ogun, the Bishop of Uromi Diocese, in the course my study. Special thanks go to my mother, Mrs. Margaret Itaman, and the entire Itaman family for the support and prayers throughout my studies. In the same way, I thank my friends, Fr. Kelvin Anetor, Ephraim Itaman, Prof. F. I. Okungbowa, Prof. Oyayewo Aluede, Dr. Cheryl Keen, Dr. Katherine Emmons, and all my friends, who generously and meticulously did the proofreading for the success of this book. Finally, I wish to acknowledge my indebtedness to all who helped me in one way or the other in the process of writing this book.

I ask God to bless you all! ITAMAN,THEOPHILUS IDEBANERIA





esearchers have observed that schools and effective leaders are essential to achieving and \_sustaining high student achievement in disadvantaged poor rural areas. Poor leadership may negatively influence the academic performance of students. The poor performance of students in the disadvantaged rural area has been a continuous concern for educators in Nigeria. The purpose of this book is to explore and gain an understanding of the concept of leadership, leadership practices that a rural school principal implemented to improve the academic standards in a disadvantaged environment in Nigeria. This has become all the more pertinent because among those factors necessary for the survival and improvement of the school system is that of leadership (Huber, 2004; Stoll & Fink, 1996).

This book highlights the importance and impact of leadership training on the effectiveness of the leader. It establishes the fact that effective leadership is a key in school improvement projects. Hence, the participants maintained that effective leadership is the most important factor and the very key to school improvement. The book further draws a connection between effective leadership and school improvement (Bush, 2003; Harris, 2004; Wallace, 2002), while articulating ways of promoting school improvement apart from having effective leaders. The book suggests that to ensure school improvement, school leaders must focus on students' learning through the appropriate supervision of the teaching and learning process by way of class visits (Stoll & Fink, 1996; Harris et al., 2006).

Most importantly, the information provided in this book will contribute significantly to the body of knowledge in the area of school leadership and school improvement. It develops knowledge in educational leadership in Nigeria by bringing evidence from principals and teachers to establish what it takes to make leadership effective, and in turn, to ensure school improvement. The book also provides useful information for policy makers, educationists, and the Post Primary Education Board in the development and training of educational leaders effectively and efficiently for school improvement.

Finally, this book articulates the pivotal position that effective leadership occupies in the wheel of school improvement. It submits that if the Nation is to achieve her Vision 20:2020 in the education of Nigerians, leadership in schools must be repositioned by producing effective leaders.

# Foreword

ver the years, policy makers have become saddled with the policies that may be evolved not only to make the school a safe haven, but devoid of all forms of social vices, such as examination malpractices, cult activities gang rape, drug, addiction and abuse, etc. On the part of the Managers of the school, concerted efforts are continuously being made on how to enhance academic performance of students and by so doing make the school a centre of excellence.

In their desired efforts to achieve better academic achievements for students especially in their external examinations and related assessments, managers of our schools have often directed their attention towards the enhancement of instructions in schools. As it is generally believed that if students are to do well academically in schools, then, the instructional delivery mechanism must of necessity be overhauled and become more productive in terms of schools outputs and outcomes, particularly the quality of students' learning and graduation rates. This belief has over time led to the deployment of huge resources for the procurement of books and other resource materials for the school libraries and the training of learning facilitators, through in-service training schemes of our school teachers for greater productivity which can easily be measured by their students' performance in examinations, whether internal or external.

Surprisingly, even with the huge investment in the training and retraining of teachers and the upgrade of instructional facilities, students' academic achievement especially in the relatively recent times seems to still be on a downward dive as epitomized in the continued poor performance of students in most examinations. This very situation has led many scholars to ask what appropriate strategies may be deployed to reverse this trend. A possible solution to this nagging problem may be to direct attention to the quality of leadership in our school system.

Inquiring into and finding the type and quality of leadership that best suits our schools; one which would readily produce the goods irrespective of the disadvantaged nature of the area becomes critical. This is because even with the employment of highly qualified teachers and deployment of the best instructional facilities without highly skilled school managers and right leadership to offer our schools well-articulated vision and provide strategic plan, quality supervision, monitoring, evaluation appropriate channel of available resources in the schools, the hope of having schools in our environment where higher quality of learning are rigorously pursued and sterling students' academic achievements maximized may still be a dream.

Dr. Theophilus Itaman has in his book provided readers with array of theories, propositions put forward by leading schools in educational management in the quest for a better and functional school system. The book has further provided readers with the fundamentals of leadership and how these tools of leading successful schools may be deployed for the full realization of not only the goals of our school system but raising of the academic achievements levels in places tagged educational disadvantaged areas of our country.

Dr. Theoplilus Itaman being an expert in educational management and school manager himself, has brought to bear, his experience spanning over ten years at Lumen Christ international High School, Uromi that has remained the best performing secondary school in Nigeria.

This book has provided ample tools and pieces of information to unravel what has remained a puzzle to many of us. That is, how do we achieve as better school system, especially in areas perceived as educational disadvantaged where the access and availability of needed resources, both human and otherwise are of a relatively higher challenge, where our students can achieve sterling academic performance and related greater learning

#### xviii Effective School Leadership in a Disadvantaged Area

outcomes. The books also assures the governments, religious organizations, local communities and spirited individual that with the right leadership in place in our schools their huge investments in education is not a wasteful venture.

In all, this book offers its readers and the general public a clear condition that for us to achieve better schools, where students can fully realize their potentials especially by having higher levels of academic achievement, search lights must be turned to the type of leadership we offer to our schools. To put it succinctly, the quality of school leadership determines the type of school, the quality of instruction, the nature of the school culture and climate and the competitiveness of the schools' outputs and invariably its outcomes.

**Prof. Oyaziwo Aluede, Ph.D., mnae** Ambrose Alli University, Ekpoma-Nigeria



## Chapter One

## The Concept of Leadership

Figure 6 functioning of a social system is assumed to be dependent on the quality of leadership. Hence, the concept of leadership has a social significance; the art of leadership is as old as age itself; its discussion dates back as far as the Bible and Ancient Rome. A basic characteristic of organisations is that they all have leaders who are responsible for leading them to achieve their goals. Indeed, all human organisations,

including the educational systems of the world, irrespective of their size or complexity, are designed to have leaders and followers at every level. Leadership always comes first in every organisation. In stressing the place and relevance of leadership in an organisation, Gronn (2003) provides an interesting metaphor thus "leadership lives in a family with power, authority, influence, manipulation, coercion, and force, with persuasion as a first cousin. As a favourite offspring, none of its siblings command anything like the reverence and respect with which leadership is adorned" (p.60). By this assertion, Gronn is of the opinion that leadership is the most important element in any organisation.

Conceptions of school leadership are highly dynamic, challenged, culturally and historically situated at the hub of ideological and socio-political struggles for the future of our schools. Conceptions of educational leadership are not simply academic constructions for school effectiveness but essentially lexes of political and cultural and values (Grace, 1995). In a bid to cut through and understand this most celebrated, respected, but complex phenomenon that is leadership, people have described it in various ways. Indeed:

Decades of academic analysis have given us more than 350 definitions of leadership...never had so many laboured for so long to say so little. Multiple interpretations of leadership exist, each providing a sliver of insight but each remaining an incomplete and wholly inadequate explanation...

(Bennis & Nanus, 1985, p. 4-5).

In this changing world that is enveloped in ambiguity and uncertainty, it is hard to be certain that any single definition of leadership will hold good for all (Obi, 2003). This means that there can be no single, all-satisfying definition of leadership because the concept of leadership is complex and it encapsulates variables that make it almost impossible to be captured by any one definition. Consequently, there are as many definitions of leadership as there are persons who have attempted to define the concept; each emphasising one aspect of leadership more than the other. While some definitions of leadership stress the idea of moving forward, as the verb 'lead' implies (Fapojuwo, 2002; Kreitner, 2001) others view leadership as helping or facilitating, with the leader as one who uses his/her skills to aid a person or group of people to attain a goal (Ade, 2003; Bush & Middlewood 1997; Weihrich & Koontz, 2005; Brundrett, 1999; Ojo & Olaniyan, 2008).

In considering the multifaceted nature of leadership, Bennis (1989, p. 18) is of the view that "leadership is like beauty: it is hard to define, but you know it when you see it." However, in attempting to define leadership, some authors have stressed the idea of influencing others, indicating that leadership is the process in which the leader influences the activities of an individual or a group towards goal achievement (Cole, 1986; Fapojuwo, 2002; Kreitner, 2001). As such, a good leader is one who is capable of persuading others to move enthusiastically towards the achievement of group goals. A leader enables and assists others in achieving planned goals by organising, directing and influencing them (Bush and Middlewood 1997; Weihrich & Koontz, 2005; Brundrett, 1999; Ojo & Olaniyan, 2008). This implies that leadership is conceived of as a process, not a position or personality. It is somehow linked to the behaviour of the leader towards the followers in an organisation, directed at achieving a goal in a given situation.

A critical review of the literature indicates some essential components in school leadership that could lead to a detailed understanding of the concept of leadership in school management. Literature suggests that leadership is conceived as a means of exercising influence, as an instrument of goal achievement, a form of persuasion, a process of initiating structure, the outcome of the interaction, the influence of power, and a way of behaviour (Leithword, 2012; Northouse, 2013; Odhiambo & Hii, 2012). In this light, Leithwood (2012, p. 3) describes leadership as "the exercise of influence on organisational members and diverse stakeholders toward the identification and achievement of the organisation's vision and goals." Leadership involves a process of influence over a given group with the purpose of achieving a common goal (Northouse, 2013). In a systematic review of leadership practices that promoted student achievement, Hitt and Tucker (2016) claimed that school leaders are those who mobilise and influence groups (teachers, parents, and students) to achieve school goals (student achievement). Besides, leadership has also been found to be concerned with achieving goals, working with people in a social organisation, being ethical and exercising power (Donaldson, 2006; Odhiambo & Hii, 2012; Horg & Loeb, 2010; Hitt & Tucker, 2016).

In the same way, Ade (2003, p. 15) defines leadership as "a social influence process in which the leader seeks the voluntary participation of the subordinates in an effort to reach organisational objectives." The operative word in the definition of Cole and Ade is 'voluntary,' suggesting that one does not need to rely on power or force to lead others. The implication is that successful leaders need to back up any authority and power vested in them through their attributes and social skills.

Through critical examination, there are three general elements of leadership that may be identified in the various definitions above: First, leadership is related to the process of influencing others' behaviour. Secondly, it is related to goal development and achievement. Thirdly, it is the art of influencing others (Northouse, 2013). Considering the first element, there are many methods to influence followers or other people to work. Based on different perspectives, different approaches may be developed to lead, manage, influence and even to control people and their activities within an educational institution. As for the second element, how to set goals, create meanings, direct actions, eliminate uncertainty or ambiguity and achieve goals, is also a core part of leadership activities in education (Bush & Bell, 2002). Leadership has the function of influencing the performance of organisations positively by affecting the minds and behaviour of the participants. Performance means goal-attainment. Thus, successful leaders are those whose organisations reach their goals. Thirdly, in regards to the art of *influencing* others, influencing may be seen as better than *inducing*, which some definitions used while

defining leadership as the ability to induce compliance in the rest of the group (Townsend, 1994). Most definitions of leadership suggest that it involves social influence over others. For Gronn (2003) leadership is "too immature a sibling to stand on its own feet, for it requires a fellow sibling, influence, to provide support" (p.61). Hence, influence is needed to define leadership. Leadership is a form of direct and indirect influence on the followers (Gronn, 1999; Northouse, 2013). Consequently, the leader is seen as an influential person. Influence means 'significant affecting,' whereby a tangible difference in degree or kind is made to an individual or a group's wellbeing, interests, attitudes, beliefs, intentions, desires, hopes, policies or behaviour'(Gronn, 1999; Northouse, 2013; Strain et al., undated). Moreover, when followers ascribe leadership, they mentally position themselves in a state of readiness as desiring to be influenced. Thus, they deem the leader's influence to be legitimate, and they do so willingly and freely. Influence, then, seems to be a necessary part of most leadership concepts; types or models of influence can be accounted for by the difference in the person who exerts the influence, the nature of that influence, the purpose for the exercise of influence and its outcomes.

On the other hand, Gardner (1990) maintains that "leadership is the accomplishment of group purpose, which is furthered not only by effective leaders but also by innovators, entrepreneurs, and thinkers; by the availability of resources; by questions of value and social cohesion" (p.38). This definition demurs at the popular notion that leadership exists in a designated person and situation. It is a move to achieve a set goal, not because of the leader but because of the work of all the members of the group. In all, leadership is concerned with setting and achieving goals, being ethical, working with people and exercising power in a social organisation.

More recently, leadership has come to be seen as a construct that influences the attitudes and behaviour of individuals and also the organisational system in which people work (Northouse, 2013; Hallinger & Heck, 1996). Leaders articulate their vision, set clear goals for their organisations, and create a sense of shared mission. Leadership is the ability, either directly or indirectly, to lead people by setting an inspiring example, with the express aim of realising the vision and values of the principal (Williams, 2002). It is the responsibility of the leader to create the vision (Kydd et al., 2003). The principal needs to effectively communicate the vision and its associated values to staff. The leadership team has the task of further communicating this vision to others and putting procedures in place that will help to achieve the set vision. These definitions convey the idea of identifying a future state that is desirable for the organisation and how to improve it.

From these definitions, one may deduce that:

- Leadership is a necessary process of influencing, coordinating and directing the activities of a school or organisation towards achieving set goals.
- Leadership occurs whenever one wishes to influence the behaviour of an individual or a group, regardless of the reason.

Leadership always involves followership and the situations under which different groups and individuals will follow vary considerably.

This agrees with the review of the literature on the definition of leadership by Peretomode (cited in Ijeoma, 2004), which identifies some aspects of the definition of leadership as:

- 1. The ability of a leader to motivate and persuade others to work towards achieving a set goals.
- 2. Interpersonal influence designed for effective communication process.
- 3. Initiation of a new structure or procedure for accomplishing or changing an organisation's goals.
- 4. Influencing the actions, behaviours, beliefs, and goals of one person by another with the willing cooperation of the one being influenced.

In analysing these definitions, there is further indication that effective performance in any given situation may depend on the right type of leadership, which enables the leader to co-ordinate the activities of his or her subordinates. This shows that leadership is an integral part of any organisation; as it determines the maintenance, effectiveness, and productivity of complex institutions such as government departments, schools, colleges, and universities. Again, these definitions suggest that leadership is concerned with achieving *goals*, working with *people* in a social *organisation*, being *ethical* and exercising *power* (Northouse, 2013). Further analysis shows that whether a writer is describing leadership or a leader, definitions inevitably fall into three parts:

- 1. What the leader does.
- 2. For or against whom the action is taken.
- 3. Towards what end the actions are taken.

Most writers adhere to leadership as something that is carried out by an individual, with or for others, towards a specific goal or outcome (Ade, 2003; Gardner, 1990; Northouse, 2013). More recently, a description of leadership in terms of transformational leadership seems more helpful. This leadership involves the process whereby leaders develop followers into leaders. In it, the leader has a developmental plan in her or his head for each follower (Avolio, 2005). This definition is the most progressive of all the descriptions, in that it aims towards the deep transformation or emancipation of those led.

Studying the above definitions and descriptions of leadership, a *leader is one who achieves set goals by working collaboratively with stakeholders and enlisting the efforts of the followers by influencing and motivating them positively to achieve school goals.* This is in line with the view of Sergiovanni (2001) that the "idea of superhero will not work. Success will depend on the ability of the leader to harness the capacity of others" (p.55).

In examining leadership, Rost (1991) undertook an extensive analysis of influential writers from 1900 through 1990, and found that this picture of leadership was highly consistent in them. He says:

Leadership is good management... Leadership is great men and women with certain preferred traits

influencing followers to do what the leaders wish in order to achieve group/organisational goals that reflect excellence defined as some kind of higher- level effectiveness (p. 180).

Rost (1991) regards this composite definition as the "industrial leadership paradigm," which is hierarchical, individualistic, linear, and mechanical – these ideas are worlds away from the needs of today's schools and societies. Consequently, many, like Peter Block (1996) and Warren Bennis (2000) have called for the abandonment of the word 'leadership.' While Block prefers stewardship, Bennis calls for the total abandonment of what he calls, "archaic baggage that has situated leadership in top-down hierarchical models" (Bennis, 2000, p. 32). Bennis reframes leadership by changing and modifying the distinct qualities of the leader in these ways:

- 1. The New Leader understands and practices the power of appreciation.
- 2. They are connoisseurs of talent, more curators than creators.
- 3. The New leader keeps reminding people of what is important.
- 4. The New Leader generates and sustains trust.
- 5. The New Leader and the Led are intimate allies (Bennis,2000;Lambert et al.,2002,p.37).

In all, concise definitions and descriptions of leadership are difficult, if not impossible, to arrive at. As Yukl (1994) argues, "Like all constructs in social sciences, the definition of leadership is arbitrary and subjective. Some definitions are more useful than others, but there is no "correct" definition" (p. 16). It may be noted that lack of attention to definition has been one of the main impediments to progress in the field (Rost, 1991). Indeed, record indicates that over 60 per cent of researchers on leadership since 1910 did not define leadership in their works (Rost, 1991). This is probably because of its complexity. As Duke (cited in Bolam et al., 1993) observes, "*Leadership seems to be a gestalt phenomenon; greater than the sum of its parts*" (p.45). This shows that leadership is a complex and a contested concept.

In the past five decades, the concept and understanding of leadership have changed from autocratic, dominance, and social control to democratic, collaborative and shared leadership that enlist the effort and skills of others through influence, persuasion, empowerment, and shared responsibilities (Hitt & Tucker, 2016; Northouse, 2013). These new approaches are underscored by various leadership theories and styles, and these theories and styles serve as the foundation for the framing of leadership practices and behaviours of school principals (Northouse, 2013; Yusuf, 2012). The description of leadership as a process influenced the change in the concept of leadership as shared, and led to the unique perspective and understanding of leadership as distributed (Hitt & Tucker, 2016; Northouse, 2013). In this sense, the principal is not seen as one who provides all leadership functions but as one that shares leadership with teachers and subordinates to enhance effective leadership practice and school success (Gronn, 2008).

School leaders can mobilise all available resources to achieve school goals and student high achievement (Donaldson, 2006). Supporting these findings, Hitt and Tucker (2016) and Smith and Piele (2006) claimed that an understanding of leadership must encapsulate the desired ends of school leadership and of empowering others to serve the needs of the students. In agreement, Donaldson (2006) observed that an effective school leadership mobilises the followers to harness all school practices and beliefs to promote student achievement. This observation suggests that an effective school leader would be one who develops school vision with the followers in line with school goals and values and communicates such visions to the followers with the view of influencing them to achieve school goals and promote school improvement (Hallinger, 2013; Nagy & Fawcett, 2011).

## Nature of Leadership

In a bid to understand the basic nature of leadership, there is a need to examine the transactions between leaders and followers. Therefore, this section looks at the basic components of leadership. Leadership is seen as a social exchange process which involves three basic elements: the leader, the follower and the situation. This shows that leaders bring to a situation their personalities, motivation, competencies, and legitimacy while followers bring their personalities, expectations, motivations, and competencies (Obi, 2003).

Each situation has its unique characteristics, including the availability of resources, nature of the task, social structure, and rules, physical setting and history. Where these three

elements overlap is where the leader and followers interact within a given situation, and the level of their effectiveness is highest. It means that for a leader to be effective such person must maintain a good relationship with the followers and work collaboratively with the stakeholders to achieve school goals. The idea that leadership is a social action introduces the fact that it involves not simply working with colleagues but striving to accomplish common goals (Northouse, 2013; Southworth, 1998). It is not just an activity by an individual in a social setting, but a social act with others who the leader is trying to influence. In this analysis, the literature indicates that by the nature of leadership, there must be a good relationship between the leader and the led. Considering the nature of leadership, the questions that readily come to mind are: Does the principal alone make the school and do Nigerian principals consider working with the staff as an important element in leadership? These questions become relevant in considering the Nigerian situation where principals are autocratic and always wanting to take decisions alone (Ogunu, 2000; Olagboye, 2004; Obi, 2003).

## Differences between Leadership and Management

The two terms leadership and management seem to be used interchangeably among Nigerian principals (Olagboye, 2004; Riley & Mulford, 2007). Indeed, leadership often appears to be used as an aspect of management. There is a distinction between leading and managing. Although some managers are leaders and some leaders are managers in their organisations, leading and managing are not identical activities. This agrees with Kreitner and Kinicki idea (2004) that "leaders manage and managers lead, but the two activities are not synonymous" (p. 596). Some researchers see clear differences between management and leadership. One of the most quoted and most vehement researchers is Kotter (1993), who maintains that a distinction can be made in terms of their (leaders' and managers') functions. As Kotter notes, "strategic development is a key function of leadership for change, while day-to-day problem-solving is a management function" (Sue & Glover, 2000, p.13). In the same light, Everard et al. (2004) and Day et al. (2000) differentiate leading from managing by stressing six fundamental differences thus:

- 1. A manager administers a leader innovates
- 2. A manager maintains a leader develops
- 3. A manager focuses on systems and structure a leader focuses on people.
- 4. A manager relies on control a leader inspires trust
- 5. A manager keeps an eye on the bottom line a leader has his/her eyes on the horizon
- 6. A manager does things right a leader does the right things

Though these authors have stressed the idea of the leader doing the right thing and manager doing things right, they have failed to add how this would be recognised. In picking up the idea of transformational and transactional leadership, Burns, (cited in Teske et al., 1999) says that the transactional is concerned with management, while the transformational is concerned with leading an organization to achieve a set goal. However, many authors never agree with this list of differences. None-the-less, the differences made by these authors make for a helpful basis for critical discussion on the nature of management and leadership.

It is important to state here that many people have also canvassed for separation between management and leadership.Thus,Schon notes:

Leadership and management are not synonymous terms. One can be a leader without being a manager. One can, for example, fulfil many of the symbolic, inspirational, educational and normative functions of a leader...without carrying any of the formal burdens of management. Conversely, one can manage without leading (cited in Jones & Pound, 2009, p.8).

Supporting the view that leadership and management are different, Grint (1995) says that, "Leadership is construed as the process of constructing a vision and then cajoling one's subordinates to follow it...; whereas, management ... is much more a routine administrative affair"(pp.125-126). This shows that management depends on a formal position of power, whereas leadership stems from social influence processes (Northouse, 2013; Moorhead & Griffin, 1992). In this sense, Kotter (1993) argues that "Management is about coping with complexity.... Leadership, by contrast, is about coping with change"(p. 27). Kotter further advances a reason as to why there are differences in both concepts, namely that the business world has become more competitive and more volatile in recent years. The volatility of this nature demands a range of approaches which are clearly divided into managerial

and leadership roles. For him, managing complexity requires planning and budgeting- setting targets and goals for the future, that is, the manager's roles. In contrast, leading for positive change requires setting the direction, developing people, managing instructional programs, and redesigning the school to achieve the school vision. Bennis (2000) framed Kotter's distinction more pejoratively, namely that leaders master the context and managers succumb to it. Leadership is concerned with constructive or adoptive approaches to change while management is concerned with consistency and order.

Kotter (1990) summarises the differences between leadership and management thus, in Table 2.1.

Table 2.1: The differences between leadership and management

LEADERSHIP	MANAGEMENT
Establishing Direction	Planning/Budgeting
<ul> <li>↓ F gxgqr "hwwtg"xkkqp" (often very distant)</li> <li>↓ F gxgqr "ej cpi g" strategies to achieve</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>↓ F gxgnqr "f gvckgf " steps/timetables for results.</li> <li>↓ Cmqecvg"pgegurt{"tguqwtegu</li> </ul>
vision	
Aligning people	Organising/staffing
<ul> <li>↓ E qo o wpkecvg"f ktgevkqp" by words and deeds to those whose co- operation is needed.</li> <li>↓ Kohnvgpeg"etgcvkqp"qH' coalitions/terms that understand and accept vision and strategies</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>↓ F gxgŋr "pgeguct {"r rppkpi ." staffing, delegation structures</li> <li>↓ Rtqxkf g policies/procedures for guidance and methods/systems for monitoring</li> </ul>

Oqvkxcvkpi 1Kpur kt/pi	Eqpvtqnkpi 1Rtqdngo "uqnxkpi
<ul> <li>↓ Gpgti kg"\q"qxgteqo g" barriers (e.g. political, resource, bureaucratic) to change by satisfying need</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>↓ O qpkqt"tguwnulcpf "r ncp"kp" detail</li> <li>↓ If gpvkh{"tguwnu1r ncp"f gxkcvkqpu" and plan and organise to correct</li> </ul>
Tends to Produce	Tends to produce
<ul> <li>↓ Ej cpi g."qhgp"f tco cvke</li> <li>↓ Rqvgpvkcn!hqt"xgt {" useful change (e.g. new products etc.)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>↓ Qtf gt1"r tgf kevcdkkv{</li> <li>↓ Mg{"tguvnu'gzr gevgf "d{" stakeholders (e.g. in time, within budget).</li> </ul>

(Adapted from Kotter, 1990, p. 139)

In a similar vein, the literature indicates that management is within the domain of implementation and control, while leadership involves developing a vision and inspiring people to achieve this set vision (Gomez-Mejia et al., 2005; Northouse, 2013; Kreitner & Kinicki, 2004; Kent et al., 2001). Leadership frequently requires altering the status quo and getting people to commit to the strategy, while management is more closely oriented toward maintaining the status quo (Gomez-Mejia et al., 2005).

Research with focus groups in 38 countries reported by House and Aditya (1997) shows that there is a consistent view that leadership and management are different activities. Leadership may be seen as the production and explanation of a vision for the organisation with the introduction of major organisational change, providing inspiration and dealing with 'highly stressful and troublesome aspects of the external environments of organisations. Managers and leaders are very different kinds of people, and indeed, they differ in motivation, personal history, and how they think and act (Obi, 2003).

Again, Fullan, (1991), Northouse (2013), and Dimmock (2002) maintained that while *leadership* 'relates to mission, direction, and inspiration,' *management* 'involves designing and carrying out plans, getting things done, and working effectively with people.' Moreover, management is concerned with building and maintaining an organisational structure while leadership focuses on building and maintaining an organisational culture (Schein, 1992). It suggests that the significant difference between leaders and managers is that the former create and change cultures, while the latter live with them and work for acceptable compromise (Latchem & Hanna, 2001). Schein stresses that the main focus of leadership is the organisational culture.

In addition, Mullins (2002) applied the 7-s organisational framework to show the differences between management and leadership thus: "managers tend towards reliance on strategy, structure, and system while leaders have an inherent inclination for utilization of the 'soft' Ss of style, staff, skills, and shared goals. Management involves using human, equipment and information resources to achieve various objectives. On the other hand, leadership focuses on getting things done through others."Thus, we manage things, but lead people (Northouse, 2013).

Management may, arguably, be viewed more in terms of planning, directing, organising, and controlling the

activities of the followers. Leadership, however, is concerned more with attention to communicating with, motivating, encouraging and involving people. Dunford et al. (2000) maintain that "leadership is the ability to move the school forward, while management is concerned with the procedures necessary to keep school running" (p. 2). Leadership is concerned with the long term and the strategic, management with the immediate and short term. Managing is much broader in scope than leading, and focuses on behavioural as well as nonbehavioural issues, whereas leading emphasises mainly behavioural issues.

In a research conducted with regard to 12 schools in England, Day et al. (2000) presented the view of the respondents thus:

Leadership and management must coincide; leadership makes sure that the ship gets to the right place; Management makes sure that the ship (crew and cargo) is well run... Leadership is about getting across to the staff where we are now and where we are going. It is not about the mechanisms by which that vision is achievedthat is management (p.37).

It suggests that one could link leadership to values or purpose while management relates to the implementation or technical issues (Bush, 2003; 2008).

While efforts have been made to distinguish between a leader and a manager, the fact remains that they overlap in many areas (Bush, 2008). Indeed, many researchers are of the opinion that leadership and management are two sides

of the same coin. This indicates that leadership is, effectively, part of management. This agrees with the view of Sue and Glover, (2000) that the terms tend to be used interchangeably, and that leading is frequently seen as an aspect of management. The nature of educational organisation suggests that it is necessary also for leaders to undertake management activities. A common view is that the job of the manager requires the ability of leadership, and leadership is in effect a sub-set of management (Bush, 2003; Northouse, 2013). An effective principal needs to be both a leader and a manager. This brings out the relevance of the distinction between leadership and management to this study. Hence, Olagboye, (2004) argues that most principals in Nigeria only manage schools and this has contributed to their ineffectiveness. This is in line with the assertion of Bush (2008) that if schools and colleges are to operate effectively and achieve their objective, they must focus on both management and leadership in the organisation. For Bush (2008), while a clear vision is essential to establish the nature and direction of change, it is equally important to ensure that innovations are implemented efficiently, and the school's functions are carried out effectively. Thus, schools need both visionary leadership and effective management. This suggests that these two dimensions have a symbiotic relationship and consequently need to be kept in balance (Brigg, 2003). As Nicholls (1993) notes "Managers who do not lead are failing to fulfil their functions as managers. When lacking its leadership dimension, management is reduced to mere administration" (p.73).

Considering the literature, what is obvious is a picture of school leaders who must staff schools, meet pupils' needs, attend to staff personal and professional problems, keep open lines of communications to parents and the community and, of course, handle the paperwork, all within the constraints of time and energy (Bush, 2003; Northouse, 2013; Mullins, 2002). Hence, management cannot be removed from leadership. This literature review shows that though there are differences, both management and leadership are important in an organisation (Bush, 2008). Effective educational leaders must attend to structure and culture, continuity and change; they are both managers and leaders, and they are both transactional and transformational (Nicholls, 1993).

Finally, Louis and Miles (1991) found that leadership and management are difficult to separate in the daily life of schools. They maintain that "school administrators need both leadership and management skills to deal with change and 'ordinary' circumstances." In fact, Southworth (1994) adds that "often 'the seemingly ordinary' and 'little stuff' of management is the vehicle for the leader's messages" (p.19). Therefore, school leaders need to be both managers and leaders to be more effective in ensuring school improvement.

## The Essential Qualities of a Leader

To attain a better understanding of leadership, this segment examines the qualities of a leader as stressed by the literature and research findings. A leader is seen as somebody endowed with special traits. Hence, Aristotle felt that leaders are born, not made. In the same way, Paisey (cited in Erayoma, 1990) in one of his fair models, 'The congenital or trait model' asserts that "leaders are born, rather than fashioned by the environment and that they possess qualities which are universal to leaders, such as intelligence, humour, tolerance, decisiveness, physical dominance, and attractiveness" (p. 28). Moreover, research carried out in Hong Kong by Hau-Siu Chow (2005) revealed that leaders possess the following attributes: the ability to inspire, performance orientation, decisiveness, visionary thinking, integrity, administrative competence, diplomacy, collaboration, self-sacrifice, and modesty. The essential qualities of a leader can be articulated thus: intelligence, responsibility, achievement, status, authority, participation, and charisma (Erayoma, 1990; Northouse, 2013).

In a bid to invalidate the model that says 'leaders are born,' Stogdill opines that

> ... Leadership is a relation that exists between persons in social situations and that persons who are leaders in one situation may not necessary be leaders in other situations. (cited in Erayoma, 1990, p. 30)

He concludes that the qualities, characteristics, and skills required in a leader are determined to a large extent by the demands of the situation in which he/she is to function as a leader. This agrees with Paisey's second model – the situational model which stresses the relative and ubiquitous nature of leadership, suggesting that leadership is less about natural qualities, as about the right person being in the right place at the right time. More recently, there is a switch from "inbred superiority" and "great men" idea to an attempt to identify general leadership traits. In this direction, most studies of leadership traits single out intelligence, initiative, and self-assurance (Brundrett, 1999; Northouse, 2013). This suggests that most people accept that leadership implies personality; that enthusiasm, warmth, moral courage and integrity are important qualities of a good leader.

Most researchers have listed the qualities of good leaders to include:

- Personal impact and presence;
- Adaptability to changing circumstances and new ideas;
- Energy, vigour, and perseverance;
- ➢ Self-confidence
- ➢ Enthusiasm;
- ➢ Intellectual ability;
- Reliability and integrity;
- Commitment (Erayoma, 1990; Northouse, 2013).

On the other hand, Bolam et al. (1993) listed the qualities found in ineffective leaders thus:

- Lacking dynamism and failing to inspire;
- Being insufficiently forceful;
- Failing to be at ease with others and enable them to feel at ease;
- Inability to accept any form of questioning or perceived criticism.

In analyzing the above qualities, commitment is seen as a key quality that makes a leader available, reliable, forceful, and full of dynamism, which directly impacts on the organisation. A school leader, therefore, must be committed to his or her duties to ensure effectiveness and school improvement.

Another important quality of leadership is vision. This is the ability to articulate your philosophy to a range of people (Northouse, 2013; Hopkins, 1996; Moyles, 2006). As Bush and Coleman (2000) assert "Vision refers to a desirable future state of the organisation. It relates to the intended purposes of the school or college, expressed in terms of values and clarifying the direction to be taken by the institution" (p. 10). It is about desirable and attainable futures.

Considering vision as a mental image, Holmes, (1993) states that "vision is the mental image of the kind of school you are trying to build for the future" (p.16). This vision entails the aspiration one has for the present school and the future school, the quality of teaching and learning which one thinks is attainable and the values that must influence the things that will happen in the future. In education, 'vision,' like 'purpose,' denotes that something is being aimed at in the organisation. Moreover, like purpose, vision can give a sense of direction and motivation. On the other hand, vision differs from purpose, in that it presents a picture of how things will be at some point in the future, which purpose does not necessarily do (Haydon, 2007). The vision of a school embraces the following:

1. Those public statements and writings which refer to a desired future state for the school.

- 2. Those statements and tenets which describe the particular nuances of teaching and learning, which pertain to the school.
- 3. The plans and purposes which enact the school's future while specifically articulating what the school stands for (Holmes, 1993).

This vision should be made clear and must be communicated in a way which promotes commitment among members of the organisation. It means that vision must be made clear to all members for a better understanding of the setting's current and future thinking and direction (Moyles, 2006). Vision requires a set of shared values and a shared philosophy among the staff so that they could be motivated to work towards it with pride and enthusiasm (Haydon, 2007). With this, everyone would have a common ground and a common understanding of the vision.

In building vision in the organisation, leaders should avoid a 'top-down' approach, forcing staff and stakeholders to embrace their ideas. Instead, they should enrol the interests and aspirations of others (Foreman 1998; Northouse, 2013). This suggests that there is a need for school principals to communicate vision and mission statements with the stakeholders (Brighouse, 1991; Northouse, 2013). It further suggests that if vision is to be communicated successfully, the following qualities of leadership are needed:

- ➢ Keep it simple
- Avoid transferring the blame to actions beyond your control

- Concentrate on issues which reinforce the professional culture
- Practise being brave
- ➢ Empower others
- Build corporate visions
- Decide what not to do
- Find some allies

To ensure the effectiveness of the vision, a leader should have a definite plan on how he/she hopes to achieve the set vision (McCallion, 1998). A strong commitment to this vision is highly required from the leader to ensure effectiveness.

A further important quality of a good leader is communication skill. The leader needs to communicate the vision to others. This will enable others to share and own the vision. A communication that is top-down will portray a hierarchical, formal system, with the head relating to his colleagues through a series of descending lines of authority (Barker, 1990; Northouse, 2013). This links leadership qualities to leadership styles. This form of communication does not enhance effectiveness. An effective communicator is an individual who can make his or her message understood by everybody (Williams, 2002). A leader has to speak with clarity and conviction and be confident in getting any message or information across to others in the school (McCall & Lawlor, 2000). Leaders require well-developed information and communication technology skills. There is a need to establish effective communication chains both within the department and across the school. What needs to be

communicated, how it should be made, with whom are we communicating, and how it should take place must be borne in mind in the process of communication. In the final analysis, there must be an element of credibility in the leader. It may be noted that the key ingredient for effective communication is credibility. Consequently, the

tone of one's voice must convey sincerity and credibility.

Other qualities of a leader are responsibility, accountability, flexibility, versatility, risk-taking, and ability to manage change (Moyles, 2006). Flexibility to be able to change the plan, as circumstances change, and still keep the final goal in view is very important in leadership (McCallion, 1998). In the same way, Southworth (1998) asserts that a leader should have the following qualities: modelling professionalism i.e., behaving with integrity, displaying consistency, being open and honest, displaying firmness but fairness to all, committed, well-organised, being personable, approachable and accessible. Therefore, the principal must be accessible to all in the school to ensure effectiveness.

Ogunu (2000) suggests that a purposeful and democratic school leader is needed who will share ownership of the school with colleagues. This brings out the quality of delegating. A leader should have the ability to delegate to a deputy without feeling threatened, and to involve members of staff in the planning and management of the school (Sheila & Sally, 1991). Since the principal does not make the school, he or she must work with others by delegating duties to ensure effectiveness (Obi, 2003). Empirically, in a case-study research by Anne Gold and her colleagues, the principals studied

....were concerned with the personal qualities of school leaders. These included openness, accessibility, compassion, honesty, transparency, integrity, consistency, decisiveness, risk-taking, and an awareness of others and their situations. (Gold et al., 2003, p. 136)

These findings agree with the view of Southworth (1998) in terms of openness and accessibility which a leader should have for effectiveness.

In an Australian case study of practices of a successful principal, Drysdale and Gurr (2011) found that successful principals have innate goodness, passion, commitment, equity, open, flexible, child-centred, and with a strong vision. The study further showed that successful school leaders promote a culture of innovation, collegiality, support, collaboration, and trust (Drysdale & Gurr, 2011), as well as shared decision-making, distributed leadership, and professional development (Drysdale & Gurr, 2011; Gurr, Drysdale & Mulford, 2005; Ojera & Yambo, 2014; Wagner et al., 2010).

Principals who succeeded in disadvantaged areas had the quality that enabled them to exercise perfect control of the school (Drysdale & Gurr, 2011; Norviewu-Mortty, 2012). In a qualitative case study of principals' strategies for academic improvement in disadvantaged rural areas in Ghana, which involved four schools, with two high-achieving and two low-achieving schools, Norviewu-

Mortty (2012) found that an effective leader has the quality and ability to develop a clear vision, honesty, commitment, integrity, exercising perfect control of the school, and a strong passion for the school leadership. The study further observed that successful principals in disadvantaged contexts were committed, open-minded, caring, good listeners, team players, inspiring, sympathetic, delegated responsibilities, and friendly (Norviewu-Mortty, 2012). Analysis of these findings indicated that these qualities enabled the principals to lead the school effectively in the disadvantaged areas.

Qualities of effective communication, including being flexible and focused; having clear goals; being knowledgeable in instructional management; having ability to inspire, lead innovations, and manage change; and having situational awareness and good personal relationship with stakeholders, have been associated with effective leaders (Imhangbe, 2012; Leithwood & Riehl, 2003; Marzano et al., 2005). In a quantitative study on personal traits of effective school leaders in Central Coast of California, with data collected from 92 principals, Miller (2015) found that effective leaders possess conscientiousness, extraversion, and openness to experience in leading schools. Analysis of these findings suggested that school leaders need some essential qualities of being conscious of the environment and stakeholders to manage schools effectively and succeed in disadvantaged areas.

Finally, there are frequent difficulties in distinguishing critical qualities of leadership. Researchers discovered that

#### 30 Effective School Leadership in a Disadvantaged Area

the people classified as effective leaders vary considerably in the qualities they possess (Northouse, 2013; Olagboye, 2004; Obi, 2003). The possession of certain qualities, indeed, does not guarantee success in all situations. What appears most helpful is for leaders to know their qualities and how they have helped them to be more effective. Everything the leader does, reflects what he or she is (Brundrett, 1999).



## Chapter Two

Effective School Leadership

A ssuming that an effective school is considered a successful school, and successful schools have effective leadership (The Wallace Foundation, 2011), this chapter analyses research on effective schools, effective leadership, qualities of the school leader, Catholic school leadership, and leadership styles. It further analyses leadership in disadvantaged schools and improvement strategies for schools in disadvantaged areas.

#### **Effective Schools**

Lezotte and Snyder (2011) described an effective school as a school with no achievement gaps and with improved student achievement. In capturing the concept of effective schools, Lezotte (2009) and Lezotte and Snyder (2011) suggested that there are seven characteristics of an effective school. These characteristics include clear and focused mission, instructional leadership, a school climate that demands high expectations, effective monitoring of student progress, offering a good opportunity to learn on time on task, creating a safe and enabling environment, and maintaining a positive home-school relationship. These characteristics align with the components of Leithwood and Riehl's (2003) core leadership practices. An effective school has a principal who ensures and creates clear vision and mission, effective school climate (Thapa et al., 2013), and supervision of teaching and learning (Glanz & Sullivan, 2009; Tan, 2012), motivates the teachers and manages the curriculum (Glanz & Sullivan, 2009; Ojera &Yambo, 2014), and creates enabling environment for learning (Fullan, 2007; Thapa et al.,2013).

For decades, researchers have shown that school leaders are essential instruments for school effectiveness and student achievement even in poverty areas (Arogundade, 2015; Caldwell, 2010; Masewicz, 2010; Wallace Foundation, 2011). In this light, the National Center for Effective Schools Research and Development (2004) and Tschannen-Moran and Gareis (2015) claimed that an effective school has sound school leadership, leadership team, trust, leadership training and support, and decisionmaking process informed by data. Ross (2013) focused on similar variables in a qualitative study that examined the behaviours of principals in high-performing poverty schools. Ross (2013) found that school effectiveness was enhanced by capable leadership, support system, viable curriculum, making decisions informed by data, stakeholders' involvement, safe environment, a culture of high expectations, and professionalism.

An effective school is characterised by positive school climate (Colby, 2014). Supporting this, in a qualitative study of 142 teachers and principals in six high-achieving schools in a poverty setting, Reinhorn, Johnson, and Simon (2015) found that effective schools in poverty areas are characterised by teacher collaboration, positive school climate, principal leadership behaviour, and high level of trust. These findings agree with a qualitative study of an Indiana high-performing school in a poverty area, in which Colby (2014) found that an effective school was characterised by positive school climate, high expectations, effective leadership, community collaboration, behaviour strategies, and demonstrations of cultural competence. Colby's study corroborates qualities of positive school climate, effective leadership, and high expectations that were found by Barber (2013) in a study of principals in high-performing poverty schools in South Carolina. These findings imply that positive school climate and collaborative leadership may promote school effectiveness (Colby, 2014).

Vision has also been found to associate with effective schools, as shown in a study by Leithwood (2007) and the

core leadership practices of Leithwood and Riehl (2003) which note that effective schools are characterised by a shared vision, a unity of purpose, consistency of practice, and leadership that enjoys collegiality and collaboration (Dawson, 2007; Hallinger & Lee, 2013; Leithwood, 2007).

Effective schools nurture positive culture to promote school improvement (Mulford, et al., 2008). In support of this, Mulford et al. (2008) found in a qualitative case study carried out in 21 successful schools in a disadvantaged setting in Australia that successful schools in poverty areas nurtured positive culture, used measurable goals, involved parents, improved the quality of teachers, and re-enforced school goals. The study suggested that high-performing schools in disadvantaged and high-poverty settings nurture positive culture, clear expectation, positive relationship, and supportive structures (Mulford et al., 2008). Also, teamwork, committed teachers, improved results, and strong and focused leadership were considered as features that accounted for student achievement in the disadvantaged locality in the study by Mulford et al. (2008).

Successful schools are considered as schools with high excellent achievement and improvement on student learning in a disadvantaged environment (Reeves, 2009). In corroboration, Robinson, Lloyd, and Rowe (2008) conceptualised an effective school as one that has high attainment of education excellence through improved student academic achievement, teamwork, and effective management regardless its context. Analysis of literature suggests that an effective school is perceived as a school with competent principal leadership, with committed teachers; a school that supports teachers and students positively, with an enabling environment, and sustained effective climate and culture of learning (Hallinger & Lee, 2013; Reeves, 2009).

The above analysis of literature suggests that an effective principal is essential to school success. Brown (2012) found in a quantitative study of turnaround schools, that leadership, collaboration, school organisation, and professional development were essential to ensuring school effectiveness. Since schools that are successful in disadvantaged contexts have been shown to have effective principals, it is important to explore the concept of effective school leader in creating and sustaining academic standards in the disadvantaged communities.

## **Effective Leadership**

Most researchers agree that strong leadership is necessary to ensure organisational success (Brundrett, 1999; Bush & Coleman, 2000; Brundrett et al., 2003; Northouse, 2013; Huber, 2004). Leadership is seen as the key to a successful school because it is an indispensable constituent in the effectiveness of the school (Northouse, 2013; Sammons et al., 1995). However, there is no universally agreed definition of effective leadership as such. Effectiveness is, rather, a contested notion, and one that has to remain open to question, to challenge and to refinement (Huber, 2004). In a bid to have a greater insight into it, some children in the study described an effective leader thus:

➢ Has a good education and is able to solve problem.

➢ Is very experienced as a teacher.

- $\blacktriangleright$  Is easy going but firm.
- Knows how to look after the building and create a nice environment and a safe place for children.
- Knows how to take responsibility for things happening in the school and does not blame others.
- Is able to make children, adults and the community feel confident about the things they do in school. Also, builds a good relationship with the community.
- Provides a good example in their behaviour.
   (Adapted from MacBeath, 1998, p. 147)

These children stressed the idea of relating to the community by building a relationship with the community. It keys into the view of MacBeath (1998) that effective leadership means "sustaining those relationships within a community in which all its members are heard, and taken account of." An effective leader is a dynamic leader, assertive, result-oriented, flexible, yet task-oriented, confident in sharing responsibility, involving staff and students in decision-making, and enabling the initiating and supporting of school improvement programmes (Nwagwu et al., 2004).

An effective principal is essential in leading and coordinating the teachers and students in schools in poverty areas to achieve success and effectiveness (Kunzle et al., 2010). In corroboration, the Wallace Foundation (2012) claimed that effective leaders determine the effectiveness of schools because they are a key constituent of the effectiveness of any school irrespective of the context. An effective leader is considered as dynamic, assertive, resultoriented, flexible yet task-oriented, and democratic in decision-making (Hitt & Tucker, 2016; Supovits et al., 2009). In a mixed method study of school leadership practices in challenging contexts, involving four schools and their principals, Masewicz (2010) observed that effective leaders are resilient, vision-builders, accountable, flexible, and have the ability to manage change. In the study, Masewicz conceptualised an effective leader as a servant with shared leadership and positive instructional climate that impact on student achievement.

Research has indicated that an effective leader shares power and responsibilities with teachers, shows firm leadership, motivates, responds to school change, and achieves goals (Hitt & Tucker, 2016; Northouse, 2013; Ojera & Yambo, 2014; Ozgan, 2011; Reitzug et al., 2008). A growing body of research indicates the need for collaborative and participatory leadership and leadership that can share responsibilities with followers to ensure effectiveness (Hitt & Tucker, 2016; Hufffman & Hipp, 2004; Marzano et al., 2005; Tan, 2012).

Effective principals build a supportive and collaborative relationship with stakeholders in leading the schools (Gronn, 2008; Ojera & Yambo, 2014). In support of this assertion, Ojera and Yambo (2014) found in a quantitative study of the role of principals' leadership styles in facilitating students' performance in Kenya that involved 150 participants that an effective leader builds a relationship that is open, collaborative, facilitative, and supportive with staff rather than a relationship that is

closed, exclusive, and controlling. The study further observed that an effective leader has a sense of direction, has a good relationship with people, has control over teaching and learning process, promotes teamwork, delegates, maintains shared decision-making, and enhance staff development. In their study, Ojera and Yambo found that effective leadership builds a leadership team that is capable of motivating and raising staff morale and enhance performance over time. Analysis of these findings suggests that leading schools in the disadvantaged areas need leaders that are capable of setting clear goals, articulating the school's vision, and creating positive school climate for effective learning.

There is an indication in the literature that an effective leader has a strong vision of the school, strives to inspire and motive the followers, has good communication, focuses on instructional process, and manages the internal and external environment of the school to impact on the student achievement (Huber, 2004; Nagy & Fawcett, 2011; Ojera & Yambo, 2014; Thapa et al., 2013; Tan, 2012). In a quantitative study of the impact of effective leadership on student achievement in schools in poverty areas, with 64 educators from Illinois, Indiana, Kentucky, and Iowa, Merritt (2016) found that effective leaders involve others in decision-making, create school vision, stress students' expectation, create school culture, maintain effective communication, and improve student achievement. Analysis of the study suggests that an effective leader is a guardian to the school, a collaborator in the instructional process, and an accommodator of stakeholders in school leadership (Merritt, 2016).

Leithwood and Riehl (2003, 2005) observed that successful principals develop and improve their schools by supporting and sustaining the performance of their teachers and students. In corroboration, Ylimaki et al. (2007) found in a case-study of successful principals in 13 challenging, high-poverty schools in the United States, England, and Australia that successful principals in the challenging contexts set and sustained direction in their schools, and exerted a strong, positive influence on the teachers and students. The study further indicated that the principals studied exhibited Leithwood and Riehi's (2005) four core leadership practices (Ylimaki et al., 2007).

Schools need effective principals to implement school programs and achieve success (Duke et al., 2006; Hitt & Tucker, 2016). Supporting this assertion, in a qualitative study of challenges facing 19 principals in low-performing schools, Duke, Tucker, Salmonowicz, and Levy (2006) observed that ineffective leadership lowers student achievement because, without quality leadership, school programs will not be implemented effectively. However, the study suggests that schools need effective leaders who are motivators, team players, visionaries, listeners, and good observers to achieve success.

An essential aspect of effective leadership is the ability to influence other people and achieve the set goals. These key terms: influencing and achieving set goals were articulated in the definitions and descriptions of leadership (Ade, 2003; Fapojuwo, 2003; Kreitner, 2001). In the ordinary usage, to be effective means to achieve the desired result (Olagboye, 2004). Thus, effective leaders are strongly driven by a set of personal values which create a 'passionate conviction' to build, implement and continually monitor a vision by means of feedback from stakeholders. Such leaders are capable of managing tensions and dilemmas which arise from competing interest groups from the contexts which they work (Kreitner, 2001).

In considering the assessment of an effective leader, here are two criteria for judging the effectiveness of a leader: outcome and process (Fidler, 2002):

*Outcome*- It is what the leader achieves in terms of organisational outcome, and this can be seen in the performance of the organisation. This has to do with examination results, attendance and other published indicators, value added to children's progress and achievement of aims. Hence, Harris et al. (1996) assert that "one of the most common ways of measuring a school's performance is by its examination results" (p.10).

*Process* – This is the way and manner in which a leader carries out his or her work (Fidler, 2002). The implication of Fidler's assertion is that there is a need to combine both the outcome and process in judging the effectiveness of the leader.

An effective leader combines values and purpose with intra and interpersonal knowledge (Leithwood et al., 1999). Such a leader builds a relationship that is open, collaborative, facilitative and supportive with staff against the relationship that is closed, exclusionary, and controlling (MacBeath, 1998). Research conducted by Zhang (1994) in Singapore reveals that effective principals possess attributes such as being assertive, authoritative, competitive, aggressive, stubborn, independent-minded, more considerate and adaptable.

Moreover, a Canadian review of school leaders concludes that 'effective' leaders were good role models in their schools, they set examples by 'working hard, having lots of energy, being genuine in their beliefs, modelling openness, having good skills, and by showing evidence of learning by growing and changing themselves' (Leithwood et al., 1997). In considering these two research findings, one might say that effective leaders are those who know where they want to go, but also know how to track with the wind. Effectiveness is about making choices and about managing the 'fit' between the external world and the internal world of the school (Northouse, 2013; MacBeath, 1998). This agrees with a study carried by Ian (2003) which indicated that effective leadership could be seen broadly as a process of enabling interactions between internal, external and individual domains of activity. The implication is that effective school leaders are 'good' leaders who are able to balance both the external and internal activities of the school for improvement. Effective leaders are distinguished by their vision, passion, focusing on classroom pedagogy, capacity to bring a critical spirit into the complex job of headship, and ability to improve staff and pupil performance (MacBeath, 1998). In this light, leaders may be considered effective if they possess the ability to set direction, collaboratively develop and articulate a vision, show honesty, commitment, energy, internal locus of control, integrity, and a passion for continuous improvement of the school.

The characteristics of effective leaders have been further articulated by Ribbins et al. (1990) thus:

- Possess a vision of what the organisation with which they are connected should be like.
- ➤ Know how to inspire and motivate those with whom they work.
- Understand the major operational levers which can be employed to control or change an organisation's course.
- Are intensely sensitive to and continually reflect upon the interaction of external environmental conditions and internal organisational dynamics.
- Understand the fundamental components of strategic thinking that can be used to guide or alter an organisation.
- Comprehend the symbolic significance involved in representing their organisation to the outside world (adapted from Dean, 1999, pp. 37-38).

Here, vision, as a quality of a leader, is seen by both MacBeath, 1998 and Ribbins et al. (1990) as a sign of effectiveness of the leader. This assertion keys into the empirical findings of some researchers, as summarised below. Various research projects carried out by Bradley (1988), Leigh (1994) and Scheerens (1992) have, meanwhile, shown that an effective school leader:

- Has clear thinking, has vision and a sense of direction
- ➤ Has the ability to see the whole picture.

- Is a competent planner and has the ability to get things done.
- ➤ Has good relationship with people.
- Possesses intelligence and maturity.
- ➤ Has the ability to inspire and engender excitement about the work.
- Has concern for what is happening in classrooms and the centrality of learning and teaching.
- Encourages collegiate approaches, teamwork, and shared decision-making.
- > Delegates effectively.
- > Deals effectively with problems.
- Sets high expectations for self and teachers.
- Encourages active reflection about teaching on the part of the staff.
- Encourages appropriate staff development.
- Accepts professional accountability.
- Encourages parents to support the work of the school.
- Is well organised and makes effective use of time. (Adapted from Dean, 1999, p. 38)

The above qualities of an effective leader stress the idea of maturity. An effective leader should have a high sense of maturity, and to ensure this, the leader must be able to assess his or her strengths and weaknesses. It is highly recommended, for instance, that leaders should carry out an assessment of their effectiveness from time to time. An honest assessment will help to reposition the leader more effectively as he or she takes advantage of his or her strength while working on his or her weakness for better performance. An effective leader creates a personal development programme and, is a good learner who learns how to handle stress. A good leader, meanwhile, also has the ability to manage conflict and time, to motivate and to influence the followers to achieve organisational goals.

Research findings from three studies carried out by Teddlie and Stringfield (1993), Rutter et al. (1979) and Mortimore et al. (1988) revealed three facts about leadership effectiveness thus:

- 1. Teddlie and Stringfield's (1993) study indicated that effective leaders have stable and appropriate leadership, use formal and informal structures, share their power and respond to school change.
- 2. A study by Rutter et al. (1979) showed that student outcomes in secondary schools were better when school heads adopted both firm leadership and teacher involvement than adopting only one of them.
- 3. Mortimore et al.'s (1988) study revealed that what was important to the success of the schools was the purposeful leadership of the staff, which occurred when the school head understood school needs and involved the staff in administration by sharing power with them.

In considering these studies, Reynolds (2000) identified eight characteristics that are important in determining the quality and effectiveness of leadership thus:

- ➢ Firm and purposeful leadership of the head;
- Involving others through participative approach;
- Exhibiting instructional leadership by ensuring teaching and learning;

- Having direct intervention by monitoring staff performance;
- Effective selection and replacement of staff;
- Focusing on the importance of academic goals and processes;
- Ability to motivate the staff for more productivity;
- ➤ Having the ability to use monitoring and evaluation system to manage the school.

These qualities put forward by Reynolds (2000) bring in the leadership styles of distribution, instructional and transformation in relation to effective leadership. This shows the link between effective leadership and leadership styles. Hence, the literature on effective leaders suggests that they are 'transformative,' rather than 'transactional' (Burns, 1978), 'invitational' rather than 'autocratic' (Stoll & Fink, 1996), 'empowering' rather than 'controlling' (Blasé & Anderson, 1995). We shall examine these styles in detail in the next chapter.

Finally, effective leaders are both skilled and trained. They have the know-how of leadership (Northouse, 2013; Kreitner, 2001). Therefore, principals should be trained on leadership roles to ensure effectiveness. As Uwazurike (1991) notes, "they need specialized training in educational administration and planning to provide better leadership of the schools under their charge" (p. 262). In this direction, Ocho (cited in Uwazurike, 1991) asserts, "School leaders ... must be given the knowledge, insight, and skills to enable them to perform their jobs effectively and efficiently." This indicates that training enhances effectiveness.

46 Effective School Leadership in a Disadvantaged Area



## Chapter Three

Carlo Carlo

**Styles of Leadership** 

here are a number of theories of leadership that have developed along with history of leadership, such as Trait (Northouse, 2013; Stogdill, 1948; Pierce and Merrill, 1974; Mahoney, 1960; Kreitner, 2001; Olagboye, 2004), Behavioural (Bass, 1990; Northouse, 2013; Kreitner, 2001), Situational (Stogdill, cited in Bass, 1990; Northouse, 2013; Obi, 2003), Contingency (Northouse, 2013; Kreitner, 2001; Lingard et al., 2003; Obi, 2003) and the Path-Goal theories (Evans, 1970; House, 1971; Northouse, 2013; Olagboye, 2004; Kreitner, 2001). A critical examination of these theories based on the literature and empirical findings indicate that these theories underline the factors and motives behind different leadership practices, styles and leadership effectiveness (Olagboye, 2004).

During Second World War, the study of leadership took on a significant new twist. Rather than concentrating on the personal traits of successful leaders, researchers began to turn their attention to patterns of leader behaviour, known as leadership styles. Put differently, attention turned from who the leader was to how the leader actually behaved (Kreitner, 2001). In some earlier explanations of leadership styles, researchers classified different styles on the basis of how leaders used their authority. As Ogunu (2000) notes, leadership styles may be described as the "dominant behavior of an occupant" of a leadership position. Leadership styles can broadly be classified into three: "autocratic, Laissez-Faire and democratic" (Ogunu, 2000, p. 87), though more recently, the search light has shifted to leadership styles like invitational, instructional, transactional, and transformational leadership. Hence, this chapter exposes the different leadership styles in line with the relevant literature and findings. This is relevant because it will help readers to locate leadership practice in Nigeria, and suggest better practices for school leadership, as informed by the relevant literature and findings.

#### Autocratic Leadership Style

In this leadership style, all authority and responsibility are centered on the leader (Ogunu, 2000). It is leadership through force, with little or no acknowledgment of the capacity of followers to contribute to decision making (Northouse, 2013; Whawo, 1995). It is predicated on Douglas McGregor's Theory X, which holds that people are naturally lazy; they regard work only as necessary for earning a living and therefore will avoid it as far as possible. Consequently, they need to be coerced and strictly controlled by their leaders in order to get them to give their best in the workplace. It is a style that connotes the behaviour of a leader who tells subordinates what to do and who demands and expects to be obeyed without question (Kreitner, 2001; Olagboye, 2004). It is primarily a downward flow of communication. Hence, Barth (1988), in critiquing this style of leadership, asserts that it encourages the top-down relationship, as he notes:

> Top-down hierarchical relationships foster dependency. ... This dependency immobilizes and distances teacher and principal when what they need to accomplish their important work is maximum mobility, responsibility, and cooperation (cited in Blasé & Anderson, 1995, p. 27).

Rather, it places emphasis on the task to be accomplished at the expense of human considerations and does not allow followers to contribute to the decision-making process. Hence, researchers are of the opinion that an autocratic leader does not give his subordinates the opportunity to contribute to decision-making; he sees opposition as a threat to goal accomplishment and prevents it as much as possible (Ogunu, 2000). In this connection, Obi (2003) states some characteristics of autocratic leaders as follows:

- Dictation of all policies and procedures
- ➢ Absence of effective communication
- Imposition of tasks and methods on the subordinates
- Nagging and suspecting the subordinates hence strict supervision
- ➤ Lack of trust.

In evaluating this model of leadership, one could say it is a defective model, which emanates from fear and the leaders' feelings of insecurity.

In a school system, this style of leadership could have a negative effect on teachers and school development. This is obvious in some research carried out in this area. Firstly, McNeil (1986) discovered a strong relationship between control-oriented school administrators, teacher alienation and the development of 'defensive teaching' in the classroom (Blasé & Anderson, 1995). Moreover, the studies of Kurt Kemn and his associates, according to Edem (1982), in which three experimental social climates- autocratic, democratic and laissez-faire were created to test their effects on children, revealed that children under autocratic control exhibited much more aggressive behaviour than those under democratic leadership. In analysing these findings and the literature, there is a strong indication that this style of leadership has a lot of consequences in an organization. Some of the consequences of autocratic style of leadership include the fact that it encourages 'eye service' and gossiping out of fear among staff. It affects the behaviour of the students who are responding to the school environment. Also, it is capable of lowering the morale of the workers who are most likely to resent the way decisions are taken (Obi, 2003). As Kreitner, (2001) notes, "this approach tends to stifle individual initiative" (p. 467). In addition, it tends to reduce workers' job satisfaction which will inevitably affect the productivity and promote unsatisfactory working climate or condition. After a careful research analysis, Blasé and Anderson (1995) assert thus:

An overwhelming portion of the data supports the general conclusion that the use of control tactics by school principals tends to have profound negative consequences for teachers. School-wide performance was negativity affected in terms of morale, involvement and expression. Relationships among teachers, between teachers and principals, and between teachers and students also suffered as a result of the use of these tactics...."(p. 41)

The use of power such as coercion sometimes affects the psychological dispositions of teachers, and thus has significant negative consequences. Etzioni (cited Blasé and Anderson, 1995) argues that when teachers perceive that principals misuse power, it always has a negative effect on their involvement in work, as well as on the stability of the school as a whole. In all, there are doubts as to whether this style of leadership can promote school improvement (Obi, 2003). Unfortunately, this style of leadership is the most practised in Nigerian secondary schools (Olagboye, 2004). Authors have argued that many practice this style of leadership because Nigeria has been under military rule for many years (Ozaralli, 2003; Ogunu, 2000; Olagboye, 2004). The questions that still need to be answered are whether this style of leadership affects the effectiveness of the principals; whether the military style of leadership actually affects the principals' concept of leadership; whether it promotes school improvement; and whether this is still the most practised leadership styles in Nigeria today.

## Laissez-faire Leadership Style

"Laissez-Faire" is a French word meaning "let people do as they want it." This style of leadership is characterized by indifference and the allowing of complete freedom to the group and its individual members to do as they wish (Northouse, 2013; Obi, 2003). Individuals are thus left alone to set and pursue their own goals. The behaviour of such leaders is marked by indecision, vacillation, and indifference towards the group and their activities (Ajayi, 1997). As Whawo (1995) asserts, "Since the followers are free to do whatever they like, the Laissez-Faire leader has no authority" (p. 26). The leader is not bothered and does not exercise control over the conduct of workers under him. The philosophy behind this style of leadership is that workers will work towards organisational goals if they are committed to them (Kreitner, 2001). The less the supervision, the better the commitment and productivity. This style places little or no emphasis on consideration for work performance or human welfare (Northouse, 2013). The leader has neither a clear vision of the goal of his group or organisation, nor does he develop policies for it (Olagboye, 2004).

This style of leadership turns the means into an end (Northouse, 2013). It reduces the quality of job performance and encourages low productivity (Obi, 2003). It can only lead to a state of organisational anarchy where everything goes. As Kreitner, (2001) notes, "group may drift aimlessly in the absence of direction from the leader" (p. 467). In this leadership style, it will be difficult to control and maintain discipline among the staff and students, since the leader appears to be a figure head (Olagboye, 2004).

## **Democratic Leadership**

A democratic leadership style is predicated on the belief that members of a group who will be affected by a policy should be involved in the formulation of such a policy. The definition put forward by Bush (2011) below captures the main features of this style of leadership:

> Democratic models assume that organizations determine policy and make decisions through a process of discussion leading to consensus. Power is shared among some or all members of the organization who are thought to
54 Effective School Leadership in a Disadvantaged Area

have a mutual understanding about the objectives of the institution (P.72).

This style of leadership is based on the assumptions that organisations have professional staff that possess the authority of expertise, and that staff also have a right to share in the wider decision-making process. This leadership style further assumes that there is a common set of values held by staff of the organisation, and that staff have formal representation within the various decisionmaking bodies. Finally, a democratic model assumes that decisions are reached by a process of consensus (Bush, 2003).

Democratic leadership style is rooted in Douglas McGregor's Theory Y which posits that people in the work place are capable of being responsible and mature; they consequently require no coercion or excessive control by their leader; rather, the leader delegates a significant amount of authority, whilst retaining ultimate responsibility (Kreitner, 2001; Northouse, 2013). In considering the characteristics of democratic style, Olagboye (2004) states:

- Every member of the group is accorded due respect
- Welfare of the group members is given adequate attention
- Leadership responsibilities are shared with or delegated to group members
- Group members are frequently involved in decision making

- Individual and group initiatives and creativity are encouraged
- Facilitation of participatory management through assumption of coordinating and organizing roles by the leader.

These above-mentioned characteristics indicate that the democratic leader gives consideration to his subordinates to contribute to the decision-making process through meetings and consultations (Ogunu, 2000). It further stresses the importance of all human beings and they are consequently given the opportunity to contribute meaningfully to the decisions within the organisation, unlike the autocratic leadership. Staff always desire to be part of decision-making process. Research conducted by Davies (1983) among fifty-one heads of department in secondary schools reveals that they desire a higher level of involvement in decision-making (Bush, 2003). This finding shows that staff involvement in decision making processes is a key to ensuring leadership effectiveness and school improvement.

Within a democratic setting, there is some degree of flow of effective communication between the leader and the led (Obi, 2003). This communication, in both formal and informal ways, promotes the cross-fertilisation of ideas and increases membership morale and strong support for any decisions reached (Northouse, 2013). The leader strives to inspire and motivate the majority of his subordinates or followers. Research by Ndongko (1984) on the principals' leadership styles and their influence on their relationships with teachers and students shows that principals who have a democratic leadership style have cordial relationships with their teachers and students. This enhances personal commitment through participation. The finding further indicates that a democratic style promotes school effectiveness and school improvement because both the leader and the led see themselves as partners in the pursuit of institutional effectiveness.

Nonetheless, the decision-making process may be slow and cumbersome, since many people may be consulted (Northouse, 2013). In fact, the democratic process is time consuming. Criticizing this style of leadership, Kreitner (2001) argues that "Practical experience has shown that the democratic style does not always stimulate better performance. Some employees prefer to be told what to do rather than to participate in decision making" (p. 469). In all, though decision making may be slow and some want to be told what to do, this style of leadership encourages more collaboration that promotes school improvement (Northouse, 2013).

#### **Distributed Leadership**

Literature and research have revealed that effective leadership need not be located in the person of the leader, but can be distributed within the school (MacBeath, 1998; Northouse, 2013; Harris, 2002; Harris & Muijs, 2002). Reasoning along this line, Bennett et al. (2003) assert thus:

Leadership is not located in the individual but is 'an emergent property of a group or network of interacting individuals' and through this dynamism people work together in such a way that they pool their initiative and expertise, the outcome is a product or energy which is greater than the sum of their individual actions.'

- Leadership is wider than those appointed to formal leader roles, so there is an 'openness of the boundaries of leadership.'
- Leadership boundaries are open by embracing a range of knowledge and skills so that varieties of expertise are distributed across the many, not the few' (adapted from Gunter, 2005, p. 51).

This implies a redistribution of power and a realignment of authority within the organisation (Harris et al., 2003). Here, leadership is shared among formal and informal leaders, which means engaging many people in the leadership activity in an organization. This agrees with the view of Gronn (2000) that distributed leadership is an emergent property of a group or a network of interacting individuals. It is different from team working, which is not necessarily leadership (taking the initiative and helping to set the direction of activity), though the collective, emergent character of what results from people collaborating in team is similar to concerted action, which is the most significant form of distributed leadership. According to Gronn (2002), this refers to the additional dynamic or energy that arises from individuals pooling and sharing their initiative, ideas, and expertise, so that the result is greater than the sum of their individual actions. It is understood as a practice distributed over leaders, followers and their situation (Spillane et al., 2004), and incorporates the activities of multiple groups of individuals in a school who work at guiding and

mobilizing staff in the instructional change process (Gunter, 2005). Hence, Spillane et al. (2004) assert that distributed leadership may be understood as the practice where the leadership function is *stretched over* the work of a number of individuals, and where the leadership task is accomplished through the interaction of *multiple leaders*. Spillane's definition depicts the social dimension of leadership. This means that leadership activity is distributed in the interactive web of leaders, followers, and situation. The usage of *stretched over* implies interdependency rather than dependency, embracing how leaders of various kinds and in various roles share responsibility.

Again, distributed leadership means multiple sources of guidance and direction, following the contours of expertise in an organization, made coherent through a common culture (Harris, 2004; 2005). It is the 'glue of a common task or goal- improvement of instruction- and a common frame of values for how to approach that task (Elmore, 2000). The implication of these definitions is that distributed leadership is a leadership that is shared across various members of the organization in accordance with contextual variables, needs, interests, and abilities (Lindahi, 2007). It further implies that leadership requires us to de-centre 'the leader,' and work should be shared among members. There are three patterns of distribution in this form of leadership: spontaneous collaboration, intuitive working relations and institutionalised and quasi-institutionalised practices:

- *Spontaneous collaboration*: In this type of distribution, colleagues with shared skills, interests and backgrounds come together deliberately in twos and threes to address a temporary difficulty.

- *Intuitive working relation:* This happens when two or more organisation members come to rely on each other to accomplish their work. This effective role sharing occurs when members capitalise on their dependence on one another by balancing each other's skills.

- Institutionalized and quasi-institutionalized practice: This may occur in two, three, four or more multi-member work units, or even in larger units like the team. A good example is the concept of partner principals. This entails split-task specialization (i.e. one principal for administration and another for curriculum; emergent split-task specialisation (i.e. the division of labour is negotiated); alternating co-principals (i.e. turn-taking or simultaneous 50-50 job sharing); and rotation of responsibilities within a collective teacher leadership executive group (i.e. non-principal school) (Gronn, 2003). In all, Ross et al. (2005) maintain that "in the performance of work, different specialisms are required. This further requires interdependent relations so that specialisms can be integrated..." (p.136).

Distributed leadership is characterised as: authorised, dispersed, and democratic (Woods, 2004). As authorised-work is distributed from the principal to others. It is accepted because it is recognised as legitimate, coming from the head. In a system, it is through delegation of the

leader to the led; in a market, it is empowerment of the led to work in a particular way. Woods is of the opinion that although leadership may be distributed, it does not necessarily imply an absence of hierarchy (Gunter, 2005). Thus, we should not confuse democratic leadership with distributive leadership. Consequently, Woods (2004) argues that democratic leadership is different from distributed leadership, though with some similarities in a number of ways:

- While both enable analytical description, it is democratic leadership that has more normative potential.
- While both are emergent and reveal a dispersal of influence, it is democratic leadership that acknowledges formal leaders, as well as leadership.
- While both are inclusive, it is democratic leadership that has open boundaries, and so involvement is based less on organisational requirements and more on wider and widening recognition.
- While both recognise the importance of the position of those who receive the distribution, it is democratic leadership that recognises the significance and value of dissent, whereas distribution assumes political neutrality.
- While both value autonomy, it is democratic leadership that extends this beyond the instrumentality of organisational goals, to encompass the rationality of decision making and ethics (adapted from Gunter, 2005, p. 56).

Furthermore, distributed leadership is concerned with managing professional knowledge and skills in the school. What is distributed is not simply 'leadership,' but a particular form, namely learning-centred leadership, because this embraces knowledge creation, management, and transfer, while improving the quality of teaching and learning (Southworth, 2004). It is more than a formal position of leadership; once teachers are invited to share their strengths and lead discussions, workshops, and seminars; in effect, to lead by example, leadership becomes distributed in a way which breaks away from positional leadership. Hence, Gronn (2003) asserts that distributed leadership challenges the belief in 'the power of one,' that is, the belief in the heroic, individual leader; it is an effort to empower everyone.

On a positive note, research has shown that distributed leadership has a positive effect on pedagogy, school culture and educational quality (King, 1996; Harris and Muijs, 2005). Research further shows that the success of distributed leadership within a school may be influenced by a number of interpersonal factors such as relationships with other teachers and school management. This is so because one has to ensure that management is not threatened, and is able to influence other staff. The evidence- based study of Bell et al. (2002) identifies leadership as an important tool in school success, but this leadership must be distributed among staff and others so as to impact directly on student learning outcomes. Successful leaders are those who distribute leadership, understand relationships and recognize the importance of reciprocal learning processes that lead to shared purposes (Harris & Muijs, 2005). Hence, as Fullan (2001) avers, "Good leaders foster good leadership at other levels. Leadership at other levels produces a steady stream of future leaders for the system as a whole" (p. 10).

Distributed leadership promotes leadership capacity in schools (Harris & Lambert, 2003). It opens up the possibility of all teachers becoming leaders at various times. This has the most potency and potential for school improvement because it is premised upon collaborative forms of working among teachers (Harris et al., 2003). By implication, distributed leadership de-monopolizes leadership, and potentially increases the sources and voices of influence in organizations beyond just one; it helps widen the span of worker and member participation (Gronn, 2008). Moreover, research by Silns and Mulford (2003) has shown that student outcomes are more likely to improve where leadership sources are distributed throughout the school community, and where teachers are empowered in areas of importance to them. These findings have linked distributed leadership to student outcomes. It indicates that this style of leadership is capable of promoting school improvement (Harris, 2004). In fact, it shows that for truly significant school reform or improvement to take place, power must be distributed across the faculty and staff (Lindahl, 2007).

In stressing the advantages of distributed leadership, we must not forget the difficulties associated with its implementation in schools. The traditional hierarchies in school with all demarcations of positions and pay-scale would not be readily responsive to a more fluid and distributed approach to leadership (Harris, 2004). Moreover, there are inherent threats to status and the status quo, considering all that distributed leadership stands for in the school. In the first instance, it requires those in formal positions to relinquish power to others or share power with others, which many are not ready to let go (Harris, 2004). It further challenges the authority and ego of the head and places the principal in a vulnerable position because of the lack of direct control over certain activities (Harris & Muijs, 2005). The top-down structure of leadership in our schools can actively prevent teachers from attaining autonomy and taking on leadership roles within the school, as they demarcate roles and responsibilities (Harris, 2004). In addition, Harris and Muijs (2005) maintain that distributed leadership poses a major challenge in terms of how to distribute development responsibility, and who distributes responsibility and authority. It is clear that only a topdown approach to leadership could accommodate distributed leadership. Hence, despite the growing currency of the idea of distributed leadership, research on what it means in practice for organizational processes and values is relatively limited (Wood et al., 2004).

Finally, the literature thus far has suggested that schools are not faced with the choice between top-down leadership and distributed leadership; both forms can coexist simultaneously within the school (Harris, 2005). This view indicates that neither is sufficient and that for largescale reform to be successful both must be provided in a coordinated form (Leithwood et al., 2004).

#### Instructional Leadership

The prime function of leadership for authentic school improvement is to enhance the quality of teaching and learning (Hopkins, 2003, p. 114). This is achieved by creating learning opportunities for both students and teachers. This approach is called Instructional Leadership. Instructional leadership has been defined in different ways; most of these definitions usually specify the broad functions of instructional leadership, the behaviours that comprise it, and what it produces. In a broad sense, Greenfield (1987) refers to it as "actions undertaken with the intention of developing a productive and satisfying working environment for teachers and desirable learning conditions and outcomes for children" (p. 69). Here, the leader works with the staff, teachers, parents, and students to achieve school improvement goals and other targets.

It also emphasizes the behaviours of teachers as they engage in activities directly affecting the growth of students (Leithwood et al., 1999). This form of leadership focuses on other organizational variables that are believed to have important consequence for teacher behaviour. In describing instructional leaders in terms of what they do, Hopkins (2001) says that instructional leadership "defines and promotes the school's mission; it establishes parameters and goals for the school's instructional program and it promotes an environment in which learning is encouraged" (p. 119). In this light, it could be seen as those activities that a principal takes, or delegates to others, to promote growth in student learning. In addition, it focuses on capacity-building by developing social and academic capital for students and intellectual and professional capital for teachers (Sergiovanni, 1998). This means that the focus is on the development of the school through developing others. It helps to bring out the best in the teachers and enhance their feelings of professional worth. In analyzing these descriptions and definitions above, the literature shows that this style of leadership focuses directly on learning processes, school improvement and more educationally centered. Hence, Harris et al. (2003) note, "A definition of leadership in terms of instruction tends to be much more focused and specific than many other conceptions of leadership in education" (p.21).

Furthermore, the current literature about instructional leadership looks at prescriptive models which describe instructional leadership as the integration of the tasks of direct assistance to teachers, group development, staff development, curriculum development, and action research (Glickman et al., 1985); as a democratic, developmental, and transformational activity based on equality and growth (Gordon, 1997); as an inquiry-oriented endeavour that encourages teacher voice; and as a discursive, critical study of classroom interaction to achieve social justice (Smyth, 1997).

An instructional leader is one who could work with teachers to promote classroom learning. Hence, Cunningham and Cordeiro (2006) posit, "for instructional leaders, classroom visits are more than opportunities to monitor teachers' work. They are occasions to clarify the primary mission of the school i.e. teaching and learning" (p. 213). To push this concept 66 Effective School Leadership in a Disadvantaged Area

further, Stoll and Fink, (1996) articulated the idea of Smith and Andrews (1989) and opine that instructional leader possesses four sets of competences: the leader as a 'resource provider,' an 'instructional resource,' a communicator' and a 'visible presence.' In research conducted by Blasé and Blasé (2000), they found a model of effective instructional leadership which consists of: talking with teachers to promote reflection and professional growth. In this light, instructional leadership is actively and visibly involved in the planning and implementation of change, but encourages collaboration and working in teams. It stresses the quality of teaching and learning with high expectations of all staff and all students, whilst recognizing that support and encouragement are necessary for everyone to give of their best (Hopkins, 2003).

In general, research shows that instructional leaders:

- 1. Must have been successful teachers in the classroom
- 2. Are more likely to be women
- 3. Have a clear value based vision for their schools
- 4. Explain all activities engaged in as meaningful for success (Northouse, 2013; Harchar & Hyle, 1996).

Many researchers such as Leithwood, Steinbach, Begley, Goldring, and Pasternak (1994) assert that 'instructional leadership has become a widely preferred image of the principal's role.' Research indicates that effective schools have principals who are instructional leaders (Goldring & Pasternak, 1994). In line with this view, Hopkins, (undated) posits, I have argued for a style of leadership that is consistent with raising levels of student achievement. From this perspective, instructional leaders are able to create synergy between a focus on teaching and learning on the one hand, and capacity building on the other (National College for school leadership, p. 5).

However, some authors have criticised this style of leadership in the past two decades. Firstly, Blasé and Blasé (2000) argue that despite the research done in this area, the relationships among instructional leadership, teaching, and even student achievement have not been adequately studied. Secondly, Foskett and Lumby, (2003) argue that the implementation of instructional leadership is not universal. In China, principals have 'limited involvement in curriculum matter; in Japan, the principal's role is largely symbolic and ritualistic; in Thailand, principals view themselves primarily as administrators; and in America, principals are not necessarily qualified teachers and so may have limited experience of instruction. Moreover, a case study of an Australian secondary school concludes that the curriculum linkage between departments is more significant in achieving improved student performance than instructional leadership on the part of the principal or senior managers (Northouse, 2013; Dimmock & Wildly, 1995). A review of the literature indicates that there no convincing international connection between effective instructional leadership on the part of the principal or senior managers and student performance (Foskett & Lumby, 2003). This finding implies that the leadership that enhances student performance is largely based on a number of roles performed by different people within educational organisation, and that there cannot be a monolithic prescription that can be applied across culture. Though some of these studies do not see the connection between instructional leadership and student's performance, authors like Goldring and Pasternak (1994) and Hopkins, (2001) maintain that instructional leadership enhances student outcomes.

In all these, Hopkins is of the opinion that instructional leadership is necessary for school improvement, though it needs to work with transformational orientation. He notes that "considering the leadership model appropriate for authentic school improvement, a conceptual combination of transformational and instructional orientations would seem most appropriate and practically helpful" (Hopkins, 2001, p. 119).

#### **Transactional Leadership**

Transactional leadership is a process of clarifying structures, roles, responsibilities, relationships, and getting things done on the basis of a straightforward exchange between leaders and followers (Aspinwall, 1998; Bush & Coleman, 2000). This open system model is what Leithwood and others refer to as transactional leadership (Leithwood, 1992). It developed initially out of a social exchange perspective, emphasizing the implicit social exchange that existed between leader and followers. Leithwood says it is leadership: Based on an exchange of services (from a teacher, for example) for various kinds of rewards (salary, recognition, intrinsic rewards) that the leader controls, at least in part....(p. 9)

This has to do with the leader-follower dichotomy; here, the leader is superior to the followers and the followers somehow depend on the leader. The situation is regarded as a "contract" between leader and follower (Coleman, 1994). In it, it is the duty of the followers to work towards the achievement of organisational goals while the leader must satisfy the needs of followers.

Transactional leadership is task-oriented and followeroriented (Kreitner, 2001). The leader gives consideration to both the needs of the organization (nomothetic dimension) and the needs and expectations of the group members (ideographic dimension). This style of leadership is based on the exchange relationships between the leader and the follower (Cardona, 2000; Kreitner, 2001). These descriptions stress the relationship between the leader and the led, which is based on exchange. In this relationship, the leader promotes uniformity by providing extrinsic (positive or negative) rewards to the collaborators. The distinguishing behavior of this leadership style is that the leader alternates between concern for getting the job done and concern for the development and growth of group members; and between encouraging and motivating group members to perform tasks, and directing and closely supervising them to ensure that tasks are performed to his or her satisfaction (Barker, 2005; Cardona, 2000).

Transactional leaders rely mainly on standard forms of inducement, reward, punishment, and sanction to control their followers. Hence, as Bass and Avolio (1994) assert, "transactional leadership occurs when the leader rewards or disciplines the follower depending on the adequacy of the follower's performance" (p. 4). The leader monitors followers to ensure mistakes are not made but allows groups to exist (Oluremi, 2008). Consequently, good transactional leaders are usually good negotiators (Cardona, 2000). By analysis, this form of leadership seems to emphasize collective decision-making and the distribution of responsibility.

Furthermore, leaders are seen as engaging in behaviors that maintain quality interaction between themselves and followers (Kreitner & Kinicki, 2004). The four underlying characteristics of transactional are that (1) leaders use contingent rewards to motivate employees. (2) Leaders exert corrective action only when subordinates fail to obtain performance goals. (3) The leader is superior to followers and followers depend on leader. (4) It is premised upon tasks being delegated to followers and followers completing these tasks (Harris et al., 2003).

This leadership model is primarily about management of school structure. The leader focuses on the purposes of the organization, developing plans, ensuring task completion, facilitating information flow, and working well with the various school groups, particularly teachers. Hence, Harris et al. (2003) note that, the role of the transactional leader "is to focus upon the purposes of the organization and to assist people to recognize what needs to be done in

order to reach a desired outcome" (p. 16). Transactional leaders make corrective criticisms, proactively monitoring the extent of followers' compliance with their requirements, or reactively intervening after problems have occurred (Hoyle & Wallace, 2005). These are important in the whole process of school improvement. Transactional leaders can be very effective when other purposes of change are clearly defined, such as a curriculum modification, a procedural change, or the introduction of a new textbook, to mention but a few. Though transactional leadership is equated with keeping the organization going, rather than taking the organization somewhere, Southworth (1998) argues that the importance of transactional leadership should not be under-estimated, because it is very important that a school functions efficiently and effectively as an organization, particularly in these days of self-managing schools. Efficiency and effectiveness come from the day to

day management of the school which the transactional leader ensures. Transactional leadership is therefore necessary, but not sufficient (Southworth, 1998).

On the other hand, transactional leadership may also be seen as undesirable form of leadership, which involves a manipulative, *quid pro quo* in which the leader says, "If you do this for me, I will do that for you" (Burns, cited Gomez-Mejia et al., 2005, p. 259). Since transactional leadership has become undesirable, many researchers have criticized it. This model is founded more on structure and organisational purpose rather than on people, and may not advance the course of changing beliefs, feelings and attitudes of the followers in pursuit of school improvement (Itaman, 2007). Hence, Harris et al. (2003) assert that "In approaching school development and improvement, transactional leadership would be primarily concerned with promoting structural rather than cultural change" (p. 16). Indeed, it is best suited to static schools where conformity rather than creativity is the norm, and not dynamic schools (West et al., 2000). In addition, transactional leadership does not produce longtime commitment to the values and vision being promoted by the school leaders, since it does not engage staff beyond the immediate gains (Bush, 2008). In reality, transactional leaders do not generate passion and excitement, and they do not empower or inspire individuals to transcend their own self-interest for the good of the organization (Gomez-Mejia et al., 2005). In itself, transactional leadership is thus insufficient to stimulate improvement (Day et al., 2000). Consequently, in Israel and many parts of the world, principals are expected to move from transactional to transformational leadership to ensure organizational change and school improvement (Foskett & Lumby, 2003).

#### **Transformational Leadership**

The concern about the emotional and symbolic aspects of leadership influences which emerged in leadership discourses during the 1980s has led to the emergence of transformational leadership. Mcgregor Burns (1978) advances the idea that transactional leadership and transformational leadership could be contrasted in the political context. For him, transactional leadership motivates by the offer of material rewards for success and punishes failure; transformational leadership seeks to inspire followers to exceed their own and the leader's expectations. In a bid to distinguish between transactional and transformational, Gomez-Mejia et al. (2005) state their characteristics based on the distinctions made by Bass et al. (1990), as in Table 2.2.

Table 2.2: The characteristics of transactional and transformational leadership

TRANSACTIONAL	TRANSFORMATIO
LEADER	NAL LEADER
Contingent reward:	Charisma: Provides vision
Contracts exchange of	and sense of mission, instils
rewards for effort, promises	pride, gains respect and
rewards for good	trust. It is the ability of the
performance, recognizes	leader to communicate and
accomplishment.	build an emotional
	commitment to the vision.
Management by exception	Inspiration:
(active): Watches and	Communicates high
searches for deviations from	expectations, uses symbols
rules and standards, takes	to focus efforts, and
corrective action	expresses important
	purposes in simple ways.
Management by exception	Stimulation: leader's ability
(passive): Intervenes only if	to influence the thinking
standards are not met	and imagination of the
	followers. Promotes
	intelligence, rationality,
	and careful problem
	solving
Laissez-faire: Abdicates	Individualism: Gives
responsibility, avoids	personal attention, treats
making decisions.	each employee
	individually, coaches,
	advises.

(Adapted from Gomez-Mejia et al., 2005, p. 560)

These distinctions indicate that transactional leadership differs from transformational leadership. From these distinctions, Bass refers to transformational leadership as the four I's: 'Idealised influence, Inspirational motivation, Intellectual stimulation, and Individualised consideration.' This agrees with a research analysis of twenty (20) studies on transformational leadership which shows that it is associated with these qualities: charisma/vision/inspiration, intellectual stimulation, and individualized consideration (Leithwood et al., 1996, p. 828). These constitute the four primary behaviours associated with transformational leadership (Bass & Avolio, 1994; Mullins, 2002; Leithwood et al., 1999; Wood, 2005; Odom & Green, 2003; Oluremi, 2008; Harris et al., 2003).

According to Burns, "Transformational leadership occurs when one or more persons engage with others in such a way that leaders and followers raise one another to higher levels of motivation and morality" (cited in Day et al., 2000, p. 15). This definition shows that it represents the transcendence of self-interest by both leader and led. Burns sees the transformational leaders as one who changes the outlook and behaviour of followers thus:

- 1. Relying on stimulating their followers by articulating and focusing a vision and mission.
- 2. Creating and maintaining a positive image in the minds of followers, peers, and superiors.
- 3. Exhibiting a high degree of confidence in themselves and their beliefs.

- 4. Setting challenging goals for followers.
- 5. Providing a personal example for followers to emulate.
- 6. Showing confidence in and respect for followers.
- 7. Behaving in a manner that reinforces the vision and mission of the leaders.
- Possessing a high degree of linguistic ability and non-verbal expressiveness (Adapted from House et al., 1988, pp. 100-101).

This means that transformational leaders serve as an independent force in changing the makeup of followers' motive, outlook, and behaviour (Krishnan, 2005).

Hence, the advocates of transformational leadership see the leader as a cheerleader, enthusiast, wanderer, dramatist, coach, facilitator, and builder (Odom & Green, 2003). Bass (1985) built on Burns' (1978) work to describe transformational leadership in terms of the impact that it has on followers. Transforming leaders convert followers to leaders and move them to go beyond their own selfinterest for the good of the larger entities to which they belong (Leithwood & Beatty, 2008). This suggests that transformational leadership encourages followers to reach beyond their self- interest to embrace a collective goal advocated by the leader, and turns followers into leaders (Hoyle & Wallace, 2005).

Furthermore, Burns characterizes transformational leaders as visionaries who challenge people to achieve

exceptionally high levels of morality, motivation, and performance (Kreitner, 2001). They do this by developing a vision for the organisation, developing commitment and trust among workers, and facilitating organisational learning (Bennis & Nanus, 1985; Northouse, 2013). It is a process of engendering higher level of motivation and commitment among followers, and in this leadership model, the central focus of leadership must be commitments and capacities of organisational members. The emphasis is on generating a vision for the organisation and the leader's ability to appeal to higher ideals and values of followers, as well as to create a feeling of justice, loyalty, and trust (Stoll & Fink, 1996). This is linked to vision, which Gunter (2000) says is about building a unified common vision and interest between leaders and followers. Such a leader expresses confidence in the followers, emphasizes values with symbolic actions, leads by example and empowers followers to achieve the vision (Yukl, 2002). In terms of vision, research has shown that a leader's vision was most strongly related to attitudes, and that these attitudes play important roles, inducing outcomes such as organisational commitment (Krishnan, 2005). In the organisational sense, transformational leadership is about transforming the performance or fortunes of an organisation (Mullins, 2002; Barker, 2005; Stone et al., 2004).

Bass (1990) stipulates that this transcending beyond selfinterest is for the group, organisation or society. In essence, transformational leadership is a process of building commitment to organisational objectives and then empowering followers to accomplish those objectives (Yukl, 1998). Research carried out by Ozaralli (2003) indicates that a transformational leader plays a role in empowering followers by enabling them to take on responsibilities. It is about leading by communicating a larger purpose and energizing and supporting followers, so that they contribute more than that which is required to satisfy the transactional or contracted obligations of their position (Northouse, 2004). Transformational leadership is essential for autonomous schools (Caldwell & Spinks, 1992). Here, the leader strives to gain the commitment of their followers.

To achieve a clearer understanding of this process, Cardona (2000) makes a distinction between pseudotransformational leaders and authentic transformational leaders, thus:

> Pseudo-transformational leaders are ethically questioned because they appeal to emotions rather than to reason, and may manipulate followers' ignorance in order to push their own interests. On the other hand, authentic leaders are engaged in the moral uplifting of their followers, share mutually rewarding visions of success, and empower them to transform those visions into realities (p. 201).

In analysing these differences, the above assertion indicates that authentic transformational leadership requires an enduring change in followers' values and selfconcept. Moreover, a mere change in the followers' affective outcomes will be pseudo-transformational leadership (Bass & Steidlmeier, 1999). People like Kreitner see transformational leadership as the same thing as charismatic leadership. Charismatic leadership transforms employees to pursue organisational goals over self-interest: charismatic leaders transform followers by creating changes in their goals, values, needs, beliefs, and aspirations (Kouzes & Posner, 2002). Leaders who transform are good at establishing and communicating values, beliefs, aims and direction, and have a strong sense of vision (Leask & Terrell, 1997,). In this light, Cardona, (2000) says, "Transformational leader is a visionary and charismatic leader; able to persuade his or her collaborators to want what he or she wants" (p. 204). In evaluation, a transformational leader is, therefore, a transactional leader who is also charismatic because he or she pushes his or her collaborators to go further than what is formally demanded of them. So far, the literature indicates that transformational leadership needs to be charismatic and transactional in order to be successful (Cardona, 2000).

Transformational leader recognizes and exploits an existing need or demand of a potential follower. The transformational leader looks for personal motives in followers, seeks to satisfy higher needs and engages the full person of the follower. This serves to build a relationship of mutual stimulation and elevation that converts followers into leaders (Greenfield, 2004; Bennett & Anderson, 2003; Grace, 1995; Krishnan, 2004). A transformational leader attempts to instil in followers the ability to question standard modes of operation. They are capable of revitalizing organisations by tapping people's reservoir of creativity (Gomez-Mejia et al., 2005).

It is obvious that this approach to leadership fundamentally aims to foster capacity development and higher levels of personal commitment to organisational goals on the part of leader and followers (Wallace & Poulson, 2003). Research has shown that transformational leadership is geared towards three fundamental goals:

- 1. Helping staff members develop and maintain a collaborative, professional school culture.
- 2. Fostering teacher development.
- 3. Helping them to solve problems together more effectively (Leithwood, 1992).

Moreover, transformational leaders increase their workers' commitment by "recruiting" their self-concept through increasing the salience of certain identities and values, and to an organisational vision or mission that reflects those identities and values (Leithwood et al., 1994). This model has been globalised as a means by which principals may respond to the demands of reform to achieve appropriate and effective learning outcomes by turning the school into a 'high reliability learning community' (Leithwood, 1992). This is the leadership style of choice in unstable and uncertain times (Grace, 1995).

In examining the functions of transformational leaders, Leithwood and his colleagues develop a school model of transformational leadership and posit that transformational leadership in school may be associated with these activities:

- Setting directions (includes vision-building, goal consensus and the development of high performance expectation).
- Developing people (includes the provision of individualized support, intellectual stimulation and the modelling of values and practices important to the mission of the school).
- Organising (culture-building in which colleagues are motivated by moral imperatives and structuring, fostering shared decision-making processes and problem-solving capacities).
- Building relationships with the school community (Leithwood et al., 1999; Leithwood &Jantzi,2009).

The inclusion of the school-community factor moves Leithwood and his colleagues' work beyond the previous notion of transformational leadership, recognizing that this forms a core part of effective leadership. These four elements highlight the links between the leadership and the culture of the organisation. It also means that the leader has the ability to influence the culture of the organisation in which the people work. Hence, Hopkins, (undated) asserts, "Transformational leaders not only manage structure, they purposefully seek to impact upon the culture of the school in order to change it" (p. 2). Moreover, transformational leadership model is very comprehensive because it ensures a normative approach to school leadership which stresses the process by which leaders seek to influence school outcomes (Bush, 2008). This model is more consistent with school improvement literature, and it stresses change process and school culture. Such leader emphasizes change process, engage teacher commitment to a shared vision, and model their culture and beliefs through leadership by example (Stoll & Fink, 1996; Northouse, 2013).

Studies have shown that there is a link between transformational leadership and leadership effectiveness, innovativeness, quality improvement, and both subjective and objective ratings of performance and organisational productivity (Bass, 1990; Gomez-Mejia et al., 2005; Hautala, 2006). In all, transformational leadership has conceptually encapsulated instrumental and transactional or instructional leadership. Hence, Bass maintains that the best leaders are those who combine both transformational and transactional approaches because transformation leadership can augment the effect of transactional behaviour (Leithwood & Beatty, 2008). In this connection, Ken Leithwood, one of the world's foremost researchers on school leadership, agrees with Bass and Avolio (1993) that the transformational leadership needs to build upon transactional leadership (Day et al., 2000; Northouse, 2013).

Furthermore, research has led to an understanding that principals and others interested in systemic change need to adopt a new style of leadership- facilitative or transformational leadership (Ozaralli, 2003). This style of leadership encourages participation and replaces leading by control with leading through support (Perez et al., 1999). A study by Leithwood (1992) indicates that principals who employ transformational leadership work interdependently with teachers, parents, and community members; develop leadership abilities, and encourage active participation in reshaping the school. Also, research has shown that transformational leadership involves the building of school culture or promoting culture behaviours that contribute directly to school improvement. The leader builds school culture by ensuring behaviours aimed at developing school norms, values, beliefs and assumptions that are student-centred and support continuing professional development (Harris et al., 2003).

Empirically, researchers have evidence of the effect of transformational leadership in school setting thus:

- Marks and Printy (2003) reported significant contributions to classroom instruction of both instructional and transformational approaches to leadership on the part of principals.
- Leithwood and his colleagues found that transformational school leadership practices show a small but significant amount of variation on students' engagement in school (Leithwood & Jantzi, 1999).
- Silins et al. (2000) found significant contributions of transformational leadership to both student and organisational learning in schools.
- Geijsel and her colleagues (2003) reported significant effects of such leadership on teachers' levels of effort and commitment (Leithwood & Jantzi, 2009, p. 48).

However, transformational leadership is not without its criticisms. The concept itself has been misconstrued. As Foster (1989) argues:

...the concept has been denuded of its original power; transformational leaders are now those who can lead a company to greater profits, who can satisfy the material cravings of employees, who can achieve better performance through providing the illusion of power to subordinates. Transformational leadership has gone from a concept of power to a how-to manual for aspiring managers. (cited in Gunter, 2001, p. 98)

For Foster, there is a shift in what makes a transformational leader. It is not just performance; it is the ability to harness what is available to bring about change in an organisation like school. Though these conceptions of leadership are subjects of research, reality in schools is significantly different. This agrees with the view of Southworth (1994) that, "while these categories help us to classify heads as transactional or transformational, they do not capture the character and nature of leadership in action" (p. 18). They are too abstract and omit the vigorous quality of headteachers at work (Hopkins, 2001). It is further criticized as too individualistic and being a vehicle for control over teachers and more likely to be accepted by the leader than the led (Chirichello, 1999; Bush, 2008; Hoyle & Wallace, 2005; Wood, 2005). Supporting this fact, Gunter (2001) argues that "transformational leadership isn't really transformational at all but is a 'top-dog theory that meets the needs of management control" (p. 23). Instead, emphasis should be placed on involving staff, encouraging their commitment, encouraging dispersal of discretion and responsibility and placing the highest value on continual learning, creativity, and innovation.

In addition, against the assertion that transformational leadership has a universal effect on followers, Mannheim and Halamish (2008), in a study carried out among 890 cadets, submit that the impacts of transformational leadership style are applicable to one particular context, and not universal. In addition, the climate in which schools have to operate, where leaders are expected to adhere to government prescriptions, raises questions as to the validity of transformational leadership. A controlled educational system reduces the possibility of realizing a genuinely transformational leadership (Bottery, 2001). In all, Hopkins (2001) maintains that transformational leadership "lacks a specific orientation towards student learning that is a key feature to this specific approach to school improvement" (p. 118). For him, it is necessary but not good enough for school improvement. This means that leaders need to combine both instructional and transformational leadership styles to enhance school improvement.

Finally, this review has investigated the different leadership styles that are relevant to the school setting by taking account of the literature and findings. It shows that there is no perfect style of leadership since all have advantages and disadvantages. Therefore, there is a need for leaders to combine different leadership styles in schools (Hopkins, 2001).

#### Leadership Styles and Student Achievement

Leadership styles can broadly be classified into three: autocratic, laissez-faire, and democratic (DeRue, Nahrgang, Wellman, & Humphrey, 2011; Yusuf, 2012),

though more recently, research has shifted to leadership styles like transactional, transformational, distributed, and instructional leadership (Hallinger & Lee, 2013; Leithwood et al., 1996; Leithwood & Janzi, 2008; Northouse, 2013; Yusuf, 2012). The use of various leadership styles by school leaders is defined by situations and context (Day, 2004; Hallinger, 2011; Northouse, 2013; Northouse, 2014; Robertson & Miller, 2007; Yusuf, 2012). However, scholars are not conclusive of the appropriate leadership styles that are capable of impacting on student achievement irrespective of the situation, context, and leadership personalities (Hallinger, 2011; Northouse, 2013; Obiwuru, Okwu, Akpa, & Nwankwere, 2011). Some scholars argued that the influence of leadership styles on organisational success is dependent on the environmental factors and the situations (Hallinger, 2011; Itaman, 2007; Northouse, 2013; Obiwuruet al., 2011). In this sense, Hersey and Blanchard (2008) and Hallinger (2011) argued that there is nothing like the best leadership style; rather scholars should concern themselves with the appropriate leadership style for a specific situation and context. They maintained that the more leaders use the appropriate style for a context, the more effective they become and achieve organizational goals (Hersey & Blanchard, 2008).

Leadership style is found to influence leadership behaviour in the school and school success (Leithwood & Sun, 2012; Yusuf, 2012). In a quantitative study on the influence of leadership styles on student achievement in secondary schools in Nigeria, with data collected from 50 principals, Yusuf (2012) found that the leadership styles adopted by principals in the study were informed by their assumptions about human beings, human ways of learning, the context, and human nature. These assumptions often form the basis of decision-making and leadership behavior in the school (Yusuf, 2012). The study further observed that democratic leadership style employed by the principal influenced school success, motivated the teachers, and the school achievements. The findings suggest that appropriate leadership style enhances school performance and decision-making process.

Principals' leadership style influences the decisionmaking process in the school (Yulk, 2005). In corroboration, Avolio and Bass (2002) identified transactional, transformational, autocratic, democratic, and laissez-fair as styles that are capable of influencing the decision-making process in the organisation. Democratic and distributive styles are characterized by coordination, collaboration, and cooperation (Yusuf, 2012). Distributed leadership theory holds that leadership leads to organisational success when "shared across various members of the organisation in accordance with contextual variables, needs, interests, and abilities" (Lindahi, 2007, p. 325). In corroboration, Masewicz (2010) found in a qualitative study on school principals' practices in challenging context that principals who distributed their leadership and shared responsibilities were more likely to succeed in disadvantaged areas. Yulk (2005) argued that autocratic leadership style does not allow participation in the decision-making.

Styles of Leadership 87

Leadership style has been found to be related to student achievement (Yusuf, 2012). In analyzing the impact of leadership style on student achievements with a quantitative approach, involving 50 principals from secondary schools in Osun State selected with simple random sampling and in employing descriptive analysis of the survey data, Yusuf (2012) found that autocratic and laissez-faire leadership styles did not significantly impact on student achievement. Autocratic leadership has the tendency to discourage the teachers' performance and does not promote school improvement (Yusuf, 2012). However, the findings showed a significant relationship between democratic leadership style and student achievement (Yusuf, 2012). Analysis of the findings suggests that such leadership style encourages initiatives among teachers and students; it builds teamwork that impacts on student achievement (Yusuf, 2012).

In expanding the possible conceptual frameworks of leadership, Bass (1985) added transactional and transformational leadership styles. Transactional leadership is a process of clarifying structures, roles, responsibilities and relationships and getting things done on the basis of a straightforward exchange between leaders and followers (Aspinwall, 1998; Itaman, 2007; Leithwood 1992; Odumeru & Ogbonna, 2013). It developed initially out of a social exchange perspective, emphasizing the implicit social exchange that existed between leader and followers. There are four fundamental characteristics of transactional leadership:

1. Leader utilizes contingent rewards in motivating employees.

- 2. Leaders exercise corrective action when followers fail at meeting performance goals.
- 3. The followers look up to and depend on the leader.
- 4. It entails delegating tasks to followers that must be completed (Day & Antonakis, 2012; Northouse, 2014).

Transformational leadership has been referred to as using the four I's: Idealized influence, Inspirational motivation, Intellectual stimulation, and Individualized consideration (Bass, 1990). A research analysis of 20 studies on transformational leadership observed that it is associated with these qualities: charisma/vision/inspiration, intellectual stimulation, and individualized consideration (Leithwood et al., 1996; Harris et al., 2003; Odumeru & Ogbonna, 2013; Oluremi, 2008). Bass (1990) built on Burns' work to describe transformational leadership in terms of the impact that it has on followers. Transformational leadership stresses the empowerment of teachers as leaders, building capacity and commitment to change among the teachers (Leithwood & Beatty, 2008; Leithwood & Janzi, 2008; Leithwood & Sun, 2012; Odumeru & Ogbonna, 2013). In a quantitative study of how teachers experience principal leadership, Walstrom and Louis (2008) found that transformational leadership behaviors impact positively on school climate, teacher efficacy, and student achievement. In corroboration, Leithwood and Sun (2012) found in a meta-analysis of the literature on transformational school leadership that transformational leadership style had moderate positive effects on teacher behaviors, student achievement, and

school climate. Finally, the analysis of the literature suggests that distributive and transformation leadership styles tend to impact positively on school effectiveness and student achievement (Leithwood & Sun, 2012; Masewicz, 2010; Walstrom & Louis, 2008).

90 Effective School Leadership in a Disadvantaged Area



# Chapter Four

# Catholic School Leadership

A s religious institutions, Catholic schools base their leadership on t h e t h e o l o g i c a l a n d philosophical principles. That is, its authority is based on the ethics of care and service, and theologically, it is based on man's relationship with God (Catholic Secretariat of Nigeria, 2015; Jacobs, 2002). Most Catholic schools in Nigeria are managed by Catholic priests and religious sisters. Catholic schools are a major provider of qualitative education service in many countries of the world, Nigeria inclusive (Cardak &Vecci, 2013). Students attending Catholic schools in Australia have been as many as 20% while the United States has 4% (2.16 million) of its students attending Catholic schools (Cardak &Vecci, 2013; Snyder & Dillow, 2012). In Nigeria, 24% of Nigerian children attend Catholic schools, and Catholic school provides quality education for the country (Catholic Secretariat of Nigeria, 2015). There are situations where low-cost Catholic schools are established in poor villages to serve the needs of low-income families and poor children (Tooley, Dixon, & Olaniyan, 2005).

The uniqueness of Catholic school may be found in its service of care and community spirit (Odhiambo & Hii, 2012). In a qualitative study of stakeholders' perceptions of effective leadership in a Catholic school in Australia, with 50 participants (26 teachers, 12 students, and 12 parents) from one girls' high Catholic school in Sydney, Odhiambo and Hii (2012) observed that Catholic schools are unique because they provide a religious community within the learning community of the school. The study further found that the service of care and pastoral dimension of leadership prevail within the school (Odhiambo & Hii, 2012). Analysis of these findings suggests that the pastoral care includes regular prayers, the teaching of religious values, and social justice activities (Odhiambo & Hii, 2012).

Catholic schools' principals build teacher capacity and collaboration to succeed in disadvantaged areas (Imhangbe, 2011; Ojera & Yambo, 2014). Using a qualitative study on the impact of school leadership on student achievement in Catholic schools in Nigeria, with data collected from 16 participants (4 principals and 12 teachers) from four Catholic schools, Imhangbe (2011) found that Catholic school principals exercised their authority and fostered democratic self-governance in such a way that the principals as instructional leaders empower the teachers through training. The study further suggests that an effective Catholic school principal focuses on the common good rather than a self-interest thereby exercising essential authority which enables them to excel in disadvantaged areas. Imhangbe (2011) observed that the principals adopt collaborative and distributed leadership, involve stakeholders in the management and leadership of the schools and impact on

student achievement. The study suggests a link between leadership style and leadership effectiveness with a particular reference to distributive leadership style.

A Catholic school principal gives a unique dimension of school leadership, a dimension Cattaro and Cooper (2007) called "Spiritual leadership" (p. 76). In support of this assertion, Spesia (2016) observed that Catholic principals add the religious dimension to the array of their qualities, roles, and responsibilities. It is these spiritual and religious components of leadership that distinguish Catholic school leader from non-faith-based school leaders (Sergiovanni, 2009; Spesia, 2016).

Qualities of service and leading by example have been found among Catholic school principals (Cardak &Vecci, 2013; Valadez, 2013). Supporting these findings, Valadez (2013) found in a mixed method study of leadership practices of Catholic school principals that promoted student achievement, with data collected from 50 principals through survey and interview from Archdiocese of Los Angeles that servant leadership style was prevalent among Catholic school principals. The study further observed that the principals created a culture of reading, hard work, academic success by celebrating students' achievements, and created Catholic identity through leading by example (Valadez, 2013).

In analyzing the spiritual leadership of Catholic school principals, scholars have listed the role of school principals in Catholic schools to include knowing the church documents and making them available to the school community, building spiritual development of the students, building the Catholic character in the students, teaching the children how to pray, fostering religious education and gospel values, and providing charitable services to the community (Augenstein & Konnert, as cited Imhangbe, 2011; Spesia, 2016; Valadez, 2013). These roles of school leaders suggest that Catholic school leaders are not only expected to be experts in school management and instruction but to be strong and unshakable forces and resources in developing and building the future of the children with faith and moral character (Cook & Durow, 2008; Spesia, 2016).

Finally, the principal needs to have two level qualifications to run and manage Catholic school in Nigeria. First, the principal needs to meet the requirement of the church of having the Catholic faith to build and sustain Catholic character in the school (Imhangbe, 2011). Also, the principal needs to meet the required qualifications as prescribed by the national policy on education and ministry of education in Nigeria (Imhangbe, 2011). These demands on Catholic school principals merit examining their leadership behaviours that promote academic standard in disadvantaged areas.

#### **Catholic Schools and Servant Leadership**

The philosophy informing Catholic school leadership is service. Consequently, school leaders strive to serve in leading others. This agrees with the view of Greenleaf (1977) that true leaders are first servants and this he refers to as servant leadership. Servant leadership theory was propounded by a leadership guru, Robert Greenleaf (1977). According to Greenleaf (1977), servant means "Fully human ... functionally superior because he is closer to the ground- he hears things, sees things, knows things, and his intuitive insight is exceptional [and] because of this he is dependable and trusted" (p. 32). He sees an effective leader as a worthy servant. It suggests that a true leader is one whose leadership is born out of the desire to help and serve others. Such leaders have the desire to serve the people and support them to reach their highest potential. The practice of servant leadership has its root in world's great religions. The teaching of Jesus to His disciples has been seen by many scholars as a model and example of servant leadership (Ebener & O'Connel, 2010; Lanctot & Irving, 2010; Winston, 2004).

Catholic school leadership because of the theological undertone requires a leader to maintain an ethics of care

and service. The above definition of servant suggests that a leader must have the quality of humility in order to practise ethics of service and put the needs of others first before personal needs in order to be a true servant leader. Hence, Greenleaf (2002) opined, "the servant-leader is servant first....It begins with the natural feeling that one wants to serve, to serve first. Then conscious choice brings one to aspire to lead" (p. 27). In corroboration, a mixed method study carried out among Catholic schools in Archdiocese of Los Angeles by Valadez (2013) found that most Catholic school principals see the work as a vocation rather than a job. Such principals see their work as their purpose in life. Consequently, it is a call to service, and they see themselves as servants and adopt servant leadership style.

The idea of leading by example and making sacrifice underline the concept of servant leadership. A principal who is a servant leader has the natural desire to serve and care for people, and also empower others to do the same. It suggests that a good leader initiates a vision, works out the structure and its implementation with the followers, and takes the risk of failure and chance of success (Greenleaf, 2003). The leader's position should be at the center, not at the top in any organisation (Greenleaf, 2002). Such positioning at the center will enable the leader to be in direct contact and control of the various aspects of the organization and the people in it.

In articulating the characteristics of servant leaders, Greenleaf (2002) stressed the need for the leader to have essential skills of understanding the needs of the people, to heal the wounds caused by the conflict in the organization, to build capacity for the followers, and be an effective listener, to effectively lead as servant-leader. Subscribing to the caring behavior of the leader in meeting the needs of others, Spear (2010) argued that servant leadership is grounded in an ethical and caring behaviour of the leader, involvement of others in the decision-making process, and the improvement of the environment. In this understanding, Spear (2010) listed the 10 characteristics of servant leaders to include listening to followers and their inner voices, empathy toward others, ability to heal the relationship, awareness, persuasion, conceptualization, foresight, stewardship, commitment to the growth of the people, and community building (Spear, 2010; Parris & Peachey, 2013).

The first characteristic is listening; it allows the leader to receptively listen to what the people are saying and what is left unsaid (Spear, 2010). It requires listening intently to the inner voice, identifying the will of the people, and automatically responding to any problem. The second characteristic is empathy which involves making an effort to accept and understand the background and where the people are coming from and appreciate their talents and gifts uniquely (Spear, 2010). This is important in disadvantaged areas because the leader needs to empathize with the people and accept them as they are if such leader must win their followership. Close to empathy is healing which is the third characteristic. A servant leader needs to recognize the need to heal a broken relationship and strive for the wholeness of the people and self. Additionally, awareness is another characteristic of servant leadership. Awareness of the environment and self will enable a leader to assess, appreciate, and understand the situation and view issues holistically (Parris & Peachey, 2013). It suggests that having a good awareness of what is happening in the school will enable the school leader to make the right decisions in good time and be able to convince others. The fifth characteristic is persuasion. The servant leader uses persuasion to convince the people to follow and comply instead of force. Spears (2010) argued that the fundamental difference between traditional leadership and servant leadership is persuasion over coercion. It suggests that servant leader builds consensus within groups through persuasion.

The sixth characteristic is conceptualization. The servant leader seeks to create and arouse the abilities to dream great dreams and thinks in broader and conceptual terms. Like instructional leader, it requires setting goals and objectives, and creating a vision and having the foresight to know the direction the school is heading. Servant leader creates a clear vision for the school, articulates the vision to the followers, builds shared vision, intelligently craft a path to achieve the vision, and guide the school into a new direction (Parris & Peachey, 2013). This is linked to the seventh characteristic, which is foresight. Foresight is the ability to intuitively understand the lessons of the past, the present realities, and possible outcome of future decisions (Spear, 2010; Parris & Peachey, 2013). Both Greenleaf (1977) and Spears (2010) see foresight as the central ethic of leadership that is rooted in an intuitive mind and insight. Foresight enables

a school leader to foresee the unforeseeable and work toward it.

The eight characteristic is the stewardship. It entails a leader's commitment to serving others' needs. A steward is open to the needs and desire of the people and makes an effort to meet such needs. Stewardship is linked to the ninth characteristic of commitment to the growth of the people (Spear, 2010). A good steward is disposed to helping others to grow personally, spiritually, and professionally. Finally, the tenth characteristic focuses on the community building. In helping others to grow, the leader contributes to the growth of the community (Spear, 2010). Creating a sense of community is vital in a school setting because it enhances collaboration, communication, and commitment among the members (Hitt & Tucker, 2016). Like distributed leadership, servant leadership includes distribution of work, involvement of stakeholders in the decision-making process, and building team spirit (Hitt & Tucker, 2016).

Servant leadership embodies essential components which include ethics, empathy, and community, and these are crucial to the philosophy of the Catholic education. Hence, Catholic school principals strive to create an enabling climate for the growth of both the teachers and students (Valadez, 2013). There is a correlation between servant leadership and positive school climate, which is deeply underscored by instructional leadership model (Black, 2010). In a mixed method study carried out by Black (2010) in Canada, findings indicated that where there is evidence of servant leadership, the climate was

#### 100 Effective School Leadership in a Disadvantaged Area

perceived as positive, supportive, and collaborative. It suggests that if a Catholic principal must influence school climate to enhance student achievement, the leadership must be servant leadership (Valadez, 2013). The implication of this theory of leadership in Catholic schools is that it will promote the creation of enabling environment and climate for holistic growth for the students (Valadez, 2013). In this understanding, the study by Masewicz (2010) on principal leadership in a challenging context, found that the principals who impacted on student achievement in poverty area are those that practiced stewardship as a leadership style. It influenced the way work was distributed and carried out for the benefit of the school and students while conscious of the setting and the needs of the children. A servant leader takes an interest in serving teachers and students to support their potentials and academic growth (Masewicz, 2010). Servant leadership is a viable theory that is capable of improving organizations and the well-being of followers in challenging context (Parris & Peachey, 2013). So, what does the Catholic school leader do in challenging contexts?



# Chapter Five

# Leadership in Schools in Disadvantaged Areas

Poor children learn with difficulty compared to middle-class children and those from urban areas (Amatea & West-Olatunji, 2007). Leading schools in disadvantaged context have proved problematic and difficult. In leading schools sited in poverty areas, Bacon (2008) recommended that a principal needs an understanding of the difference between the low socio-economic students and those from the middle and upper classes to enhance the academic achievement. For 30 years, Bacon studied the impact of poverty on student achievement in New York and San Francisco and maintained that meeting the needs of children in poverty is capable of building confidence and enhancing students' performance at school (Bacon, 2008). Additionally, principals need to overcome the challenges of recruiting high-quality teachers, low parental involvement in the education of their children, and high mobility among students and teachers, in order to impact on student achievement (Penlington et al., 2008). A study by Reeves (2009) showed that such schools focus on and celebrate academic achievement by creating intervention programs for weak students. Analysis of literature suggests that in such schools, there is a clear evaluation and assessment process to improve standard (Reeves, 2009).

Successful principals in disadvantaged areas were found to create an enabling environment for instructional learning by carrying others along (Groves, 2016). In a qualitative study of leadership characteristics of rural principals and graduation rate in seven high schools, Groves (2016) found that principals who ensured high graduation rate had active listening ears, collaboration, promote a relationship between the school and community. The study further observed that in challenging rural schools, successful principals promoted teacher professional development, decision-making informed by data, and improved instructional learning environment in the school.

The principals in disadvantaged rural areas improve student achievement by understanding and appreciating the difference between student learning in poverty and those who live in middle and upper-class (Amatea & West-Olatunji, 2007; Bacon, 2008). Additionally, Amatea and West-Olatunji (2007) found that schools that have excelled in disadvantaged areas have a relevant vision and a mission statement that gave the school direction and stability in poverty and challenging situations. Such schools have strong stakeholders' collaboration, supervision of teaching and learning, a structured program, and maintain a good culture of learning (Amatea & West-Olatunji, 2007; Hitt & Tucker, 2016). In a mixed method study on principal behaviour in rural poverty areas, Masewicz (2010) found that successful principal made a connection and involved parents in the management and issues in the schools to make them welcome and not alienated. The study further observed that principals immersed themselves in the situation, showed resilience, and created and communicated the vision to all stakeholders (Masewicz, 2010).

Motivating the staff and celebrating high-achieving students have been found as strategies used by effective principals (Hagel, 2014; Yelland et al., 2008). Supporting these findings, Hagel (2014) found in a qualitative descriptive case study on the roles of the principal in enhancing the performance of students living in poverty, with descriptive analysis of data collected from five principals that the principals who improved student achievement consciously recognized and appreciated the efforts to study by acknowledging students' successes in front of parents, teachers, and peers. The principals, who were found to give compliments, praise, and acknowledgment, tend to motivate both staff and students and reinforce positive behaviors for more productivity (Hagel, 2014). Also, the study showed that effective leaders in disadvantaged areas shared their vision with stakeholders and carried everybody along, and modeled pedagogy (Hagel, 2014). These findings corroborate findings of a study by Yelland et al. (2008) that found that successful principals model pedagogy and promote effective teaching and learning process to enhance student achievement in poverty environment. The findings suggested that effective principal was involved in setting the direction and redesigning the instructional process (Yelland et al., 2008).

# Improvement Strategies for Schools in Disadvantaged Areas

Meeting and sustaining educational standards are the core policy of many countries. There is the expectation that all secondary schools must meet the minimum standard in term of student academic performance. The schools failing to meet this standard and those serving socioeconomically disadvantaged communities are considered as schools facing challenging circumstances or failing schools (Chapman & Harris, 2004; Herman, 2008). Failing schools are low performing schools needing improvement, help, and intervention (Brown, 2012; Duke, 2006). Low performing schools are characterized by poor facilities, ineffective leadership, unqualified teachers, and disinterested students (Ayodele, Buari, & Oguntuase, 2016; Brown, 2012; Ehisuoria & Aigbokhaebho, 2014). Scholars have argued that performance measures such as school result are not a sufficient indicator to show that a school is facing challenges (Chapman & Harris, 2004). Hallinger et al. (1996) considered the instructional organization as one of the key mediating variables in assessing leadership impact on student achievement. In their principal effect model, they considered school context as an essential factor in determining the principal effect on school success and student achievement (Hallinger et al., 1996; Masewicz, 2010).

There is a need to consider the context, environment, socio-economic status, parental education, and availability of infrastructure (Chapman & Harris, 2004; Gardner, 2010). In a study on the strategies for improving schools in difficult and challenging contexts in the United Kingdom, Chapman and Harris (2004) found that the first strategy for school improvement in challenging context is by improving the environment. Focusing on infrastructural development will signal to stakeholders and parents that the school is changing and improving (Chapman & Harris, 2004; Gardner, 2010). The principal enhances positive school climate in poor rural areas by creating an enabling environment through the provision of basic facilities that are maintained and used effectively to promote student achievement and school success (Gardner, 2010; Hitt & Tucker, 2016). In corroboration, Thapa et al. (2013) found in a meta-analysis of school climate research that provision of basic facilities enhanced school climate and improved teaching and learning process.

Focusing on student achievement was a strategy found among school leaders who succeeded in disadvantaged areas (Leithwood, 2010; Thapa et al., 2013). In a metaanalysis of articles published within a decade on exceptional, effective practices that helped in closing achievement gap, Leithwood (2010) found in 31 studies that the leadership and district focused on student achievement. They developed wide, strong and shared beliefs and vision on student achievement and made an effort to include in the school vision a clear concept of closing the achievement gap and raising the achievement bar. The study further found the schools created student performance standards, use evidence and data for planning, engaged in the professional development of the teachers, and organisational learning to promote student achievement (Leithwood, 2010).

The principals in disadvantaged areas have been found to be proactive as a strategy in encouraging partnerships in meeting school needs (Norviewu-Mortty, 2012). In a qualitative case study of principals' strategies for academic improvement in disadvantaged rural areas in Ghana, which involved four schools, with two high-achieving and two low-achieving school, Norviewu-Mortty (2012) found that successful principals exhibited positive personal attributes and proactive school and community partnership in getting resources to meet the instructional needs and physical development of the schools. Norviewu-Mortty (2012) further observed that Parents Teachers Association (PTA) was involved in the structural development of the school and the recruitment and teachers support program, and the rural schools were found to practice collegial leadership to succeed in poverty areas. These findings suggest that considering the challenges and lack of fund in disadvantaged areas, principals need to seek the support and collaboration of stakeholders to achieve success.

Principals who have been found to be successful in disadvantaged context built a quality networking and close tie with parents and the community (Chapman & Harris, 2004; Hitt & Tucker, 2016; Leithwood, 2010; Waltstrom & Louis, 2008). As a strategy, the principal needs to build a link with the host community (Hitt & Tucker, 2016). Research suggests that creating a sense of community within the school and relationship with the local community will gain support and loyalty in difficult times (Chapman & Harris, 2004; Hitt & Tucker, 2016; Rajbhandari, 2011;Wagner et al., 2010).

Ensuring discipline among students and student intervention are essential in improving student performance in disadvantaged areas (Brown, 2013). In a quantitative study of leadership practices used by principals to improve student achievement in highpoverty areas, with data collected from 304 principals, Brown (2012) found that principals used collaboration, curriculum alignment, discipline, and emphasis on attendance as effective strategies to improve student performance in high-poverty. In the study, Brown (2012) further observed that principals studied adopted student intervention and setting a high expectation for the students as strategies for success in disadvantaged areas. As an instructional leader, Hallinger and Lee (2013) advocated that a principal in a disadvantaged school needs a thorough supervision of teaching and learning process. This will ensure that the lesson is structured, appropriate delivery of the curriculum, and effective assessment of the process of learning (Ahmed, 2016; Chapman & Harris, 2004; Hitt & Tucker, 2016). Additionally, research has suggested that there is a need for schools to engage in a continuous professional development of the teachers to hone their skills and improve productivity (Chapman & Harris, 2004; Hitt & Tucker, 2016; Wagner et al., 2010).

Purposeful and stable leadership is essential in managing and improving schools in disadvantaged areas (Kunzle et al., 2010; Merritt, 2016). In corroboration, Chapman and Harris (2004) observed that schools in difficult circumstances might suffer from lack of direction without firm and purposeful leadership. In their study, Ylimaki et al. (2007) observed that effective principals in a challenging context provided support for staff, they were creative and flexible. The principals modelled best practices in instructional issues, redesigned the school structure, policies, and encouraged collaboration (Ylimaki et al., 2007). Analysis of these findings suggests that the principals did not allow the poverty condition to determine the success of the schools rather they were passionate about making a difference irrespective of the challenges (Ylimaki et al., 2007).

There is a link between poverty and student success (Mulford et al., 2008). Supporting this finding, Mulford et al. (2008) found in a qualitative case study carried out in

21 successful schools in a disadvantaged setting in Australia that poverty negatively influences the standard of education. To achieve and sustain student achievement in schools in high poverty areas, Mulford et al. (2008) recommended that the principal needs to make the teachers put in more effort than 'normal.' The implication is that teachers and principals will need to work harder and be more committed than their counterparts in more favourable settings. The findings further indicated that schools that succeeded in challenging contexts demonstrate some elements of distributed leadership, instructional leadership, students' participation and engagement, positive school culture, continuous professional development, and parents' involvement (Mulford et al., 2008).

Research indicated that the possible steps in advancing and succeeding in a disadvantaged area would be to create a safe, secure, and child-centered environment for learning (Hitt & Tucker, 2016;Ylimaki et al., 2007).Thapa et al. (2013) and Ylimaki et al. (2007) observed that the principals who impacted on student achievement in high poverty areas showed some degree of commitment, passion, and leadership skills. Principals promote student achievement by giving time to instruction, having clear achievement goals, high expectations for the students and motivation for both teachers and students (Thapa et al., 2013;Ylimaki et al., 2007).

Finally, the above analysis of literature suggests that principals improve student achievement by creating an enabling and safe environment for learning (Hitt &

#### 110 Effective School Leadership in a Disadvantaged Area

Tucker, 2016; Lambert, 2002). It suggests that the principal needs to have the required knowledge, skills, strategies, and leadership tools to enhance positively and impact on student achievement (Thapa et al., 2013). These above leadership responsibilities align with Leithwood and Riehl's (2003) four core leadership practices framework adopted in this study in terms of setting direction, developing the people, redesigning the organization, and managing the instructional program.

#### Summary

This chapter focused on current studies on Catholic leadership in a high-poverty area by identifying the essential descriptions, practices, and behaviours of a successful school principal in disadvantaged rural areas that have been commonly accepted. Through the review of theories, practices, and high performing schools in poverty areas, the literature suggested that many scholars agreed that the principal's leadership has an impact on student academic achievement and school success. The literature showed that there is a nexus between poverty and the educational success of students, and the need to improve low-performing schools in disadvantaged areas.

Literature suggested the necessity for a Catholic school principal to create and build an effective school that could impact on student achievement. However, many scholars are divided on the manner and ways effective principals positively influence student achievement, and which specific leadership style(s) is more likely to impact on student achievement.



### Chapter Six

### Leadership Training

re leaders born or made? We do not debate whether leaders are born or made. No doubt, leadership capacity has its roots partly in genetics, partly in early childhood development, and partly in adult experience (Northouse, 2013; McCauley &Velsor, 2004; Elmuti et al., 2005). A number of researchers in this area indicate that effective leaders are results of both inherent traits and carefully developed skills (Bergner,

2008). There is an increasing understanding that all leadership skills need training for effectiveness. Those who have natural leadership qualities shaped them through learning processes (Avolio, 2005). There is an implied acknowledgement there that 'doing what comes naturally' which is based on innate qualities will not always be suitable, and it means for more effectiveness, one needs training (Williams et al., 2003). Therefore, to be effective, school leaders need professional development and training to improve their skills. Currently, there is a strong emphasis on leadership preparation through formal professional development and training across the world. In this chapter, this study seeks to investigate the concept of leadership training, the duration, content, and quality of the training, and its relationship with leadership effectiveness and performance.

Leadership training is a process of educating the future school leaders in the basic requirements and skills needed for effective leadership at schools (Arikewuyo, 2009). Considering the concept of leadership training, Bolam (2003) asserts that leadership development is:

> ... an on-going process of education, training, learning and support activities taking place in either external or working-based settings (cited in Earley & Jones, 2009, p. 168).

This training should cover the key areas of competences of the leader. There are four clusters of competences that principals should have as articulated by Oduro (2003) and this is stated in Table 6.1.

Table 6.1: The four clusters of competences for principals

	Cluster	Competence Indicator
1	Administrative	Ability to keep school
	capacity	records, e.g. maintaining
		school finance records,
		keeping admission records,
		the log book, and filing
		documents.
2	Professional	Ability to manage pupil
	capacity	assessment, knowledge of
		teacher appraisal techniques,
		knowledge of pupil teaching
		techniques, skills for teaching
		adults, the ability to vet
		teachers' lesson notes,
		knowledge about leadership,
		skills for managing people,
		acquisition of higher academic
		knowledge, the ability to
		counsel.
3	Personal capacity	Fairness and firmness,
		tolerance, patience,
		commitment to work.
4	Interpersonal	Ability to relate well with
	capacity	staff, pupils, parents, the
		school management, and
		circuit officers. Ability to
		promote teamwork, ability to
		conduct successful staff
		meetings, and possession of
		lobbying skills.

(Adapted from Oduro, 2003, p. 211)

This cluster of competence seeks to reshape a leader into a professional and effective leader. Unfortunately, many countries like Nigeria have no institution designed for school leadership training for future leaders, and this has affected the performance of many school leaders (Arikewuyo, 2009). Inadequate preparation and improper training have hindered good performance by school leaders (Su et al., 2003). The inefficiencies of the principals have been linked with lack of professional training in school leadership (Obemeata, 1984). Like Nigeria, the training of principals across Canada and many other countries tends to be an "informal, ad hoc, essentially uncoordinated approach" (Hansford and Ehrich, 2005). However, there are some countries where the training of principals is formal.

Principal Training and Preparation in other countries:

1. Hong Kong: Considering the inefficiency of the principals in Hong Kong, in 1991, the government and the education department proposed that "all principals and potential principals must undertake a needs assessment, an attitudinal and paradigm change and attend core modules including learning and teaching; human resources development; financial management; strategic management, and school administration" Arikewuyo, 2009, p. 6). Today, all potential school leaders have to undertake this training and obtain a certificate, and serving principals are expected to attend training courses after three years of service (Arikewuyo, 2009).

- 2. Singapore: In 1985, the Ministry of Education designed a formal training and preparation program for potential principals. They were required to attend a leadership-training course that leads to Diploma in Education Administration, designed and conducted by the Institute of Education. The prospective principals are identified and groomed. As a teacher, an aspirant must show that he or she has leadership qualities which will be confirmed by the principal and consequently recommend such candidates for the formal training program.
- 3. United Kingdom: In 1998, the former Prime Minister Tony Blair announced the establishment of the National College for School Leadership (NCSL) which took off in November, 2000 (Earley & Jones, 2009; Riley & Mulford, 2007). It is designed to develop world-class school leaders, system leaders and future leaders for schools. The NCSL has been organizing various courses for potential school leaders, which has greatly influenced efficiency in school leadership (National College for School Leadership, 2008). The National Professional Qualification for Headship (NPQH) is now the mandatory qualification for headship in the UK (National College for School Leadership, 2005). It is on record that England is leading the world in this leadership training (Dunford et al., 2000).
- 4. Sweden: There are four different training programs for school leaders:

- A recruitment training program for persons who wanted to become principals. This training gives a broad view of different school leadership functions but retains a focus on the national goals for education.
- An introductory training program to help new principals during their first years in office.
- A National headteachers training program for principals after two years in office
- A continuation school leader program university courses for school leaders (Johansson,2004).

Dadey and Harber (1991) quoted a 1990 study of 31 African countries as concluding that only three countries have comprehensive training programs in educational planning, administration, and leadership. In those areas where training was provided, it was regarded as inadequate, unsystematic, no follow-up, and not meeting the needs of the people.

The Federal Military Government of Nigeria, in 1992, established the National Institute of Educational Planning and Administration (NIEPA) in Ondo State. This provided professional training to all heads of schools. Nonetheless, a look at the 2008 and 2009 program of the Institute shows that it only organizes a-two or three-day workshops and seminars for principals and other educational leaders (Arikewuyo, 2009). This is insufficient for the proper training of school heads. There is a need for the NIEPA to develop training modules and organise resident long-term training programs and courses for aspiring school principals that could lead to a certificate in leadership. In agreement with this assertion, Day (2003) suggests that there should be management training linked to certification, and such certification should be a prerequisite for appointment to managerial positions in schools. Nigeria should not be content with the training of teachers; effort should be made in training the school leaders.

**Duration of the Training:** Where training is available, some principals attend only a month's in-service course on school management (Arikewuyo, 2009). Such short training hardly has an impact and is less motivating to trainees since it does not lead to certification and salary improvement. In addition, the training is often organized at the wrong time, after the appointment. It should have preceded their appointment as principals. In discussing the duration of the training, Gomez-Mejia et al. (2005) assert that one month's full-time training would be suitable.

#### Quality and Content of Leadership Training Program:

The content of educational leadership programs in developed countries can be summed up thus:

Most courses focus on leadership, including vision, mission and transformational leadership, give prominence to issues of learning and teaching, often described as instructional leadership, and incorporate consideration of the main task areas of administration or management, such as human resources and professional development, finance, curriculum and external relation. (Bush & Jackson, 2002, pp. 420– 421).

In this light, research carried out by Bush and Heystek (2006) shows that most principals want training in finance and human resource management to enable them to perform effectively. Literature indicates that the preparation program for prospective school principals should include the foundation knowledge in allied courses in psychology, child development, adolescent psychology, sociology, philosophy, measurement, administration and organization, planning (Nwagwu et al., 2004). In the same way, Aderounmu and Ehiametalor (1981) add, "the preparation program should include, sociology, economics, social psychology, political science, and anthropology" (p. 101). They further recommend inservice training in the form of workshops, conferences, and seminars for school leaders, in co-operation with Colleges and Universities.

Findings from the study by Adesina (1990) show that future school leaders should be schooled in these areas:

- 1. A broad liberal education with a degree in humanities, the social sciences, or the sciences.
- 2. Training in the field of education in general.
- 3. An awareness of the nature of society and the forces affecting its change.

Some researchers have recommended eight induction strategies for new principals thus:

- 1. Assign a veteran principal to assist the new appointee.
- 2. Provide manuals for new principals.
- 3. Ensure a smooth transition by involving the outgoing principal.
- 4. Encourage networking with other principals.
- 5. Orient the new principal to the school and its community.
- 6. Encourage principals to allow their deputies to "shadow them to gain experience."
- 7. Visits to other schools.
- 8. Provide courses in educational management (Kitavi & Van der Westhuizen, 1997, pp. 261–262).

The American Association of School Administrators comments that there is a need for school leaders to develop skills in the following areas: "designing, implementing and evaluating school climate; building support for schools; development; allocating resources; as well as educational research, evaluation and planning" (Arikewuyo, 2009, p. 8). The literature indicates that leadership training should be based on communication skills, social skills, group processes and human relations (Brundrett, 1999) with such leadership focusing on critical thinking, emotional and cognitive development, and intra- as well as interpersonal skill development. Problem- solving and managing 'competing forces' must be seen as key components of leadership training if schools are to become high-achieving learning communities (Day, 2003). Moreover, individual requirements should be incorporated into the course program so that training may be made relevant to personal needs and personal context (Brundrett, 1999; Northouse, 2013).

In considering leadership formation, Gomez-Mejia et al. (2005) recommend the following areas for leadership training: communication, interpersonal, and performance management skills. Still considering the areas of formation, it is good to look at the content of the management training given to prospective headteachers in England and Wales, focusing on five key areas of leadership thus:

- 1. Strategic direction and development of the school.
- 2. Teaching and learning
- 3. Leading and managing staff.
- 4. Effective management and allocation of staff and resources.
- 5. Accountability (Brundrett, 1999, p.5).

Considering the position and functions of the school leaders, Murgatroyd and Gray (1984) formulated the training program of school leaders thus:

Training for leadership cannot be normative, prescriptive, skill-based or problem-centred. Instead, it needs to focus on the personal and interpersonal qualities of the person. It needs to develop and sustain openness, empathy, and warmth and to encourage exchange, acceptance and exploration (cited in Coleman, 1994, p. 74).

Since NCSL (2007) presents 'a core set of leadership practices that form the basics of successful leadership,' it demands then that the development and training of future leaders should be linked to the acquisition and refinement of the skills required to carry out such task effectively as listed below.

- Building vision and setting directions
- Understanding and developing people
- Redesigning the organization
- Managing the teaching and learning program (Bush,2008,p.126).

In all, examining the content of leadership training in some countries, one could draw a line along these similarities: Instructional leadership, educational law, finance, managing people, and administration (Bush, 2008).

#### Methods and Processes of Leadership Development

Lectures are needed in most skilled-based training because they are the most efficient way to deliver large amounts of information and theory. No matter how well done, however, lectures alone are never sufficient; there is also need for other activities such as role-playing (Sogunro, 2004). In this light, Mullen and Cairns (2001) argue that outside the formal training, there should be an internship (with mentors supporting novice leaders) as a way of helping new leaders learn the practical and necessary skills required for the job. They believe that formal programs of study need to include practical aspect most effectively experienced through mentoring. This is highly supported by the review of forty (40) researchbased papers by Hansford and Ehrich (2005). Going through the review, they conclude that the programs for mentoring for principals are essential professional development for improving the learning and development for novices and experienced principals alike.

Leadership training program should expose participants to different teaching and learning approaches, and provide an opportunity to experience and reflect on them. Furthermore, management training needs to be practiced. Therefore, during the program, people should have the opportunity to practice, receive feedback and discuss with each other, since experiential learning is essential in the leadership training process (Williams et al., 2003; Karstanje & Webber, 2008). This training consists of excursions, pattern breakers, and shake-up exercises (Williams et al., 2003). A quasi-experimental study comparing indoor and outdoor leadership training showed no significant difference in the efficacy of the two types of training. They concluded that two training alternatives were likely to be equivalent (Keller & Olson, 2000).

Literature indicates that training programs for school leaders should provide opportunities for field experience in educational settings beyond students' familiarity (Hoff et al., 2006). Indeed, leaders should be trained in the area of social justice (Arikewuyo, 2009). This will broaden their perspectives and can be through student exchanges or partnerships with schools. Leadership preparation should focus concurrently on broad educational issues and the particularities of local contexts (Onguko &Abdalla, 2008; Huber, 2004). As the University of Washington says, "Quality leadership preparation programs must be organised around, and guided by an explicit set of values expressed in the program philosophy and working assumptions" (Sirontnik & Kimball, 1996, p. 191).

In considering the effectiveness of leadership training, Leithwood and Levin (2004) offer a framework for evaluating preparation programs. For them, the relationship between the programs, leadership practice and outcomes, should be considered from different aspects and levels to ensure effective evaluation. In all, the literature indicates that leadership training and its evaluation must be taken seriously to ensure effective leadership in schools.

#### Is There Any Nexus between Leadership Training and Leaders' Performance?

The training of school principals is seen as a key to their effectiveness in school leadership (Harris & Townsend, 2007). A person who is trained in the required skills for a particular job is assumed to be able to perform to the standards set for the job (Thody, 1998). In a study conducted by Eyike (1981) among principals in secondary schools in Bendel State (now Edo and Delta States), two variables were tested with a mixed method approach:

1. Principals professional training. 2. In-service training.

Both were found to be significantly related to the effective performance of the principals' leadership roles in secondary schools. Another research showed that developing leader could have an impact on four levels: individual development; development of colleagues; whole-school development; and on students' outcome (Harris & Townsend, 2007). Research further underpinned that leadership preparation and training make a difference to the quality of the school. This is

#### 124 Effective School Leadership in a Disadvantaged Area

underscored in a study carried out by Sackney and Walker's (2006) among new principals in the USA. They found that the principals were not prepared for the job, and consequently, they were not able to perform effectively. This is shown in the truism that without a "compass," the head all too easily gets into difficult waters (Bush, 2008).

This claim is further strengthened by the research carried out by Thody, Papanaoum, Johansson, and Pashiardis (2007), in it, they found a consensus that getting the right people into principalship matters as much as how you train them but that even a good leader can be improved through training. Again, in evaluating the National College for School Leadership 'New visions' program for new leaders in the UK, Bush et al. (2006), found a significant impact on the 430 heads involved in the first two cohorts of the program. In this connection, a study by Brown, Rutherford, and Boyle (2000) indicates that the training of school leaders often results in direct improvement in the classroom thereby raising students' performance and school standards. These studies suggest that there is a relationship between training and leadership effectiveness.

Finally, research and literature have shown that leadership training and development is gaining a global acceptance; though, in diversity, there is still common ground for leadership training across countries. The review of research has also revealed that the relationship between leadership training and leaders' performance is significant. Literature and research have established that training has a strong impact on the effectiveness of the leader in promoting school improvement.



# Chapter Seven

### Four Core Leadership Practices

eithwood and Riehl's (2003) four core leadership practices necessary for school success and improvement are vital for today's school management. The four core practices are setting direction, developing the people, redesigning the organisation, and managing the instructional program (Leithwood & Riehl, 2003; Leithwood & Riehl, 2005; Jacobson, 2011). The core leadership practices model has its root in transformational leadership studies by
Leithwood and colleagues including a study that explored the impact of transformational leadership on student outcomes (Leithwood, Tomlinson, & Genge, 1996); on student achievement (Leithwood & Jantzi, 2005) and on student success (Sun & Leithwood, 2012). Jacobson (2011) submitted that Leithwood and Riehl's set of core leadership practices encapsulate the leadership practices that a school principal could employ to translate ideas into actions. In their study of core leadership practice, Thomas, Herring, Redmond, and Smaldino (2013) indicated that in demonstrating core leadership practices, school principals created shared meaning about the school vision and work towards achieving the vision.

Jean-Marie and Sider (2014), Handford and Leithwood (2013) and Jacobson (2011) suggested that Leithwood and Riehl's (2003) core leadership practices promote student achievement and school success. Using a qualitative approach, Jean-Marie and Sider (2014) explored the leadership practices and behaviors of eight Haitian school principals and found that the school leaders in developing states are confronted with the challenges of adopting policies and practices from the developed world that may not favor their contexts. Also, in their study of leadership practices teachers linked to leadership characteristics, Handford and Leithwood (2013) found that integrity, consistency, reliability, and competence were associated with teachers' perceptions of the principal's trustworthiness. Using Leithwood and Riehl's (2003) core leadership practices as a framework, Jascobson (2011) studied the relationship and impact of school leadership practices on student achievement.

Finally, in employing the core leadership practices, Thomas et al. (2013) found that school leaders create school vision, develop the staff for effectiveness in achieving the vision, and support staff in their activities. Each of these four core leadership practices will be examined in detail in the following section.

#### **Setting Direction**

Setting direction entails developing and communicating the school goals and the commonality of purpose (Leithwood & Riehl, 2005; Hitt & Tucker, 2016). These actions require creating a common and compelling vision for the community, raising new expectations, ensuring the acceptance of goals, communicating these effectively to the followers, and monitoring the performance of the school (Day, 2012; Handford & Leithwood, 2013; Hitt & Tucker, 2016; Leithwood & Riehl, 2003; Petrides, Jimes & Karaglani, 2014). Leithwood and Riehl (2003) argued that providing direction for the people is a key function of the leader. This fundamental task is enshrined in the transformational leadership model, and Bass (1985) called it inspirational motivation, a practice that demands developing new opportunities, articulating, motivating, and inspiring the followers with the vision (Leithwood, Day, Sammons, Harris, & Hopkins, 2006). There are some aspects of setting a direction that I will discuss in this book. They are identifying and articulating a vision, creating a high-performance expectation for the students and adults, and fostering acceptance of the school vision.

**Identifying and articulating a vision.** Schools need a well-defined school vision that articulates clear and

measurable goals that should focus on student academic progress (Gamage et al., 2009; Hallinger, 2013; Hitt & Tucker, 2016; Stronge et al., 2008). Findings suggest that in framing and defining the vision, the school leader needs to ensure that it is understood, inspiring, uplifting, easy to communicate, and shared (Nagy & Fawcett, 2011; Stronge et al., 2008). Findings indicate that developing a clear vision and building commitment improves student achievement (Leithwood & Riehl, 2003; Masewicz, 2010). Supporting these findings, in a mixed method study carried out among Catholic schools in Archdiocese of Los Angeles to determine leadership practices that support student achievement, Valadez (2013) found that a well-articulated vision and mission aided successful Catholic school principals in leading the schools.

Creating high-performance expectation for the students and adults. In qualitative studies that examined successful principals in high-poverty schools in the USA, England, and Australia, Ylimaki, Jacobson, and Drysdale (2007) found that the principals set achievable goals, improved the physical environment, and created a sense of purpose. The study suggested that principals in the United States focused on the creation of safe environment and setting a high expectation for all students in challenging context while in England, school heads focused on directives and tasks in setting a vision for school improvement in failing schools and disadvantaged context (Ylimaki et al., 2007). The school leaders all made an effort to ensure cooperation and alignment of stakeholders to the principal's vision and value (Nagy & Fawcett, 2011; Petrides et al., 2014). Setting direction in

schools located in a disadvantaged context in Australia, Ylimaki et al.(2007) found that principals employed shared leadership and distributed leadership while striving to improve the physical school environment and student behavior. Creating a vision for a given school is one of the essential tasks of a school principal and crucial instrument for achieving effective incorporation and alignment of school activities to ensuring school success (Leithwood et al., 2006).

**Fostering acceptance of the school vision**. A school leader fosters the acceptance of the vision through an agreement on some key goals to achieve the vision (Leithwood et al., 2006). For the school goal to have motivational value, the school principal needs to lead the individual members to own the school vision, and this process requires fostering collaboration among staff in achieving a common goal (Leithwood et al., 2006). In this connection, Yang (2014) suggested that the school leader needs to craft the basic conditions to encourage the stakeholders to achieve common school objectives.

## **Developing People**

Developing the people in the workplace for effectiveness depends on the school principal's trustworthiness and effectiveness (Handford & Leithwood, 2013). Developing the people entails building personal and mutual capacity for the teachers through intellectual stimulation and appropriate role models (Jacobson, 2011). Teaching is a profession that needs on-going professional development (Bifuh-Ambe, 2013), and teachers as essential resources in the school need professional development (Hodgman,

2012). Developing people entails giving the teachers intellectual capacity building and individualized support in the learning process (Leithwood & Riehl, 2005). This concept is well articulated in transformational leadership theory by Bass (1985) who indicated that transformational leadership has the four I's: idealized influence, inspirational motivation, intellectual stimulation, and individualized consideration (Leithwood & Beatty, 2008) which suggest that the principals strive to develop people by influencing behavior towards achieving the set goals and use their practices to model the necessary behaviors for their followers (Jacobson, Johnson, Ylimaki, & Giles, 2005; Thomas et al., 2013). There are other aspects of developing teachers that are important to this book. They are providing intellectual stimulation, providing individualized support, and providing an appropriate role model.

**Providing intellectual stimulation**. School leaders offer an opportunity for teacher development and enhancement. Effective leaders focus on the capacity building of teachers so as to build their capacity and competency (Wagner et al., 2010; Pihie & Asimiran, 2014). Competency is described as "the repertoire of skills and knowledge that influences student learning" (Wagner et al., 2010, p. 99). Staff development will be effective and beneficial if it is job-embedded, classroom-centered, continuous, and collaborative (Wagner et al., 2010). In a meta-analysis of peer-reviewed articles from 2000 to 2014 on leadership practices that have influenced student achievement, Hitt and Tucker (2016) found that there is a need for schools to engage in a continuous professional

development of the teachers to hone their skills, improve productivity, and sustain academic standards. School leaders could encourage the spirit of 'teachers as learners' to build capacity for the staff. This could be done through staff training, visits to other schools to gather best practices, and sponsoring teachers to conferences and seminars (Hitt &Tucker, 2016; Ojo & Olaniyan, 2008).

Providing individualized support. School principals provide individualized support by knowing the needs of their followers or staff and raising them to another level of development (Leithwood & Riehl, 2003). It gives followers sense of worth and self-actualization when given opportunities to apply acquired skills and knowledge. Building capacity is not only for skill acquisition to achieve school goal, but there is a need to build commitment and resilience in the work process, and dispositions to always use the skills (Leithwood et al., 2006). The principal gives individualized support by showing concern and respect for the staff and being mindful of their feelings and needs (Handford & Leithwood, 2013). Additionally, the school leaders show respect by recognizing the individual's roles and contributions towards achieving school goals (Handford & Leithwood, 2013).

Teachers' motivation and stimulation are crucial to effective productivity in the school. In corroboration, Ojera and Yambo (2014) found in their survey research that the quality of the principal's leadership determines the teachers' level of motivation and the quality of teaching in the classrooms. The role and approach of principal in motivating the teachers is vital in ensuring school improvement and student achievement (Tan, 2012). In examining how principals motivate the teachers, Ahmed (2016) and Tan (2012) found that some principals motivate their staff through salary increment, praises, appreciations, encouraging initiatives, valuing people's contributions, building team relationships among the teachers, and developing an interest in the staff. These sources of motivation may determine the level of teachers' commitment to school goals (Hanushek & Rivkin, 2010).

In carrying out intellectual stimulation, the school leader encourages teachers to look at their work from different perspectives, take intellectual risk, reassess assumptions, and rethink how to do better in their work for more effectiveness (Leithwood et al., 2006). In brief, Leithwood et al. (2006) claimed it would lead to challenging the *status quo* in the system and other practices, and consequently, promote school success. Transformational leadership model articulates the practices and recommends it for school leaders, especially, leaders of schools in disadvantaged contexts (Leithwood et al., 2006).

**Providing appropriate role model.** Developing the staff requires a school leader to provide an appropriate model through leading by example (Ahmad et al., 2013; Avolio & Gardner, 2005). Providing appropriate model suggests that a school leader must demonstrate some degree of transparency in the decision-making process, optimism, hope, confidence, resilience, and consistency in

the day to day activities (Leithwood et al., 2006). Findings indicated that successful school leaders modeled behavior that they considered essential in achieving school goals (Belcastro, 2015). Developing people further encompasses Bass's (1985) idealised influence because a leader exercises the influence when he/she serve as a model for behaviours of building trust and respect in the workers (Leithwood et al., 2006).

Finally, literature suggests that while principals in the United States tend to offer expert knowledge of the curriculum and instructional practices to teachers through professional development and modelling, the school leaders in the United Kingdom tend to give time and resources to the capacity building of their teachers, and Australian school leaders tend to use research-based intervention to improve teachers' performance (Hine, 2013;Ylimaki et al., 2007).

# **Redesigning the Organization**

Redesigning the organisation has to do with the working conditions and situation in which the school operates. Increasing the motivation of staff will yield little impact without enabling working condition (Leithwood et al., 2006). Designing the school involves strengthening school cultures, removing hindrances to academic success, and building collaborative spirit among stakeholders (Jacobson, 2011). Building a positive collaborative culture and achievement-oriented cultures are essential to leadership success in disadvantaged context (Leithwood et al., 2006). The success of school activities is often determined by the levels of capacities, motivations, and opportunities for collaborators to collaborate (Connoly & James, 2006; Ojera &Yambo, 2014). Building trust, open communication, and a good relationship are needed in fostering a collaborative culture (Hitt &Tucker, 2016). Distributed leadership that encourages participation is required to enhance school success in disadvantaged context (Leithwood et al., 2006). There are some essential aspects of redesigning the organisation that are relevant to school leadership, and they are: strengthening school cultures, building collaborative processes, and modifying organisational structures.

Strengthening school cultures. The principal enhances positive school climate by creating an enabling environment through the provision of basic facilities that are maintained and used effectively to promote student achievement and school success (Gardner, 2010; Hitt & Tucker, 2016). Findings indicated that effective principals in high-performing schools create an enabling environment and set high expectations for staff and students while holding them accountable for learning (Hitt & Tucker, 2016). In building a positive culture, Ozgan (2011) and Odhiambo and Hii (2012) observed that an enabling environment where the staff can trust the organization and its leadership is important in motivating the teachers. Findings indicated that school that is not built on trust will not succeed (Ozgan, 2011). Similar to these findings, a qualitative study of the influence of principal leadership practices on student achievement in Catholic school, Imhangbe (2011) found that highperforming Catholic schools in Edo State maintained a healthy school culture where the relationship and interaction were cordial, trusted, and homely.

Literature suggests that effective leaders have a significant impact on school climate and culture, create safe and enabling learning environment for students to excel (Davos, 2009; Hitt & Tucker, 2016). In corroboration, in a qualitative case study on the influence of principal leadership on student academic achievement in highpoverty schools in California, Harri (2011) found that the school leaders created a safe, structured environment with enabling climate for students to learn and excel in a high poverty setting. The study further indicates that structure and systems, collaboration, and shared decision-making processes provide a climate of academic success in the school (Harri, 2011).

Building collaborative processes. In achieving the communal learning, Wagner et al. (2010) and Hands (2014) recommended that the school leaders need to encourage collaboration between teachers and professional learning communities, students learning in groups, and where teachers learn and share ideas. The school needs a collaborative leadership to promote change and development in the school. In analyzing the impact of effective dialogue with the teachers, Ojera and Yambo (2014) found that the principals could have a positive effect on teachers in terms of motivation, satisfaction, efficacy, sense of security, self-esteem, better instruction, and feeling of school support. School effectiveness requires the participation and involvement of the community and the stakeholders to bring about change in school development and student learning (Rajbhandari, 2011; Wagner et al., 2010). Therefore, Ahmed (2016) and Rajbhandari (2011) argued that the school principals need to encourage the participation and involvement of the teachers, parents, and local groups in the school management.

In a qualitative study that explored the driving leadership styles that encourage participation and involvement of stakeholders in school development, Rajbhandari (2011) found that involving the staff in the leadership of the school will bring about a sense of responsibility and accountability among the staff. Also, Rajbhandari (2011) further found that staff participation brings ownership, use of initiative for tasks, commitment, and belongingness among workers. The study indicates that such involvement is capable of increasing the motivational level and stability among the teachers in a particular school (Rajbhandari, 2011). Additionally, school leaders build a relationship with the communities and get the support of the host communities and parents in the process of promoting school success (Leithwood et al., 2006; Rajbhandari, 2011; Wagner et al., 2010).

**Modifying organisational structures.** Hine (2013) claimed that it is important to carry out restructuring in the school to ensure improvement. As the culture is built, the necessary structures must be provided to hone productivity and success. Such structures include common planning time, teams, groups for problemsolving, teachers' involvement in decision-making, and practice of distributed leadership (Hands, 2014; Leithwood et al., 2006). In the process of designing, the school leaders facilitate the school activities and students' learning process; alter the school culture in achieving a

shared vision and goals (Jacobson et al., 2005;Ylimaki & Jacobson, 2013). In redesigning, the principal modifies the existing structures, encourages dialogue, creates professional collaboration among the staff, and change routine procedures (Ylimaki et al., 2007; Ylimaki & Jacobson, 2013).

# Management of the Instructional Program

In managing the instructional program, an effective principal manages both the curriculum and the learning process in the classrooms (Ylimaki et al., 2007). In a multicase-study of 13 challenging schools in the United States, Australia, and England of successful principals who made a difference in high-poverty areas, Ylimaki et al. (2007) found that the principals foster teacher leadership by living and modeling the appropriate behaviours and encouraging teacher leadership. Principals manage the instructional process by staffing the school, providing instructional support, supervision, and monitoring of teaching and learning, tracking student progress, and managing instructional time (Leithwood & Riehl, 2005). The principal has the responsibility of providing competent and qualified teachers for the school especially in rural poverty areas (Leithwood & Riehl, 2003). Focusing on instruction in disadvantaged context is essential in ensuring school success and student achievement.

Managing instruction comprises the three roles of the principal: supervision and evaluation of the instructional process, coordination of the curriculum, and monitoring of students' progress (Hallinger & Lee, 2013; Hitt &

Tucker, 2016). Effective principals are vital in influencing, facilitating, supporting, and impacting on teachers' classroom effectiveness and student achievement (Olaleye, 2013;Tan, 2012). Additionally, effective principal focuses and influences student achievement by deliberately changing classroom practices and adjusting the leadership arrangement in the school to improve teaching and learning (Odhiambo & Hii, 2012; Reitzug West, & Angel, 2008). The principal does this by clarifying and emphasizing learning goals, defining the learning purpose and outcomes, organising curriculum, monitoring students' progress and holding the students and teachers accountable for their works (Odhiambo & Hii, 2012;Tan, 2012).

In a quantitative study of the relationship between principals' leadership behaviour and school effectiveness in Nigeria, Ekundayo (2010) found that the school leader ensured proper curriculum and instructional supervision by carrying out classroom visits and inspecting all school documents. These findings are supported by a study on principals' performance of supervision of classroom instruction by Egwu (2015) that schools in which the principals visit classrooms and show instructional leadership seemed to improve more than schools where principals do not visit classrooms.

The principal as an instructional leader provides visible presence, instructional resource, and communication in the learning process (Imhangbe, 2011; Ojera &Yambo, 2014).Visibly monitoring what takes place in the teaching and learning by the principal, will enhance the learning

process and facilitate achievement of school goals (Stronge et al., 2008). Such principals ensured that rules and boundaries in the classrooms are defined, that teachers have access to the necessary materials for teaching, that teachers teach in line with lesson plans, and maximize the teaching time (Stronge et al., 2008). Effective learning requires the principal to ensure that teachers prepare the lessons and make good use of classroom time (Ahmed, 2016; Hitt & Tucker, 2016; Nwagwu et al., 2004). Ensuring that teachers manage their time is essential because maximization of teaching time is crucial to effective teaching and learning at school (Ahmed, 2016; Nwagwu et al., 2004). Focusing on classroom instruction is capable of promoting and improving school success (Leithwood & Jantzi, 2008). This position is strongly supported by the findings from a case study by Norviewu-Mortty (2012) that explored the leadership practices of school principals in disadvantaged rural schools in Ghana that found that principals who focused on teaching and learning improved student achievement in the disadvantaged context in Ghana.

# The Significant of Core Leadership Practices

Leithwood and Riehl's (2003) core leadership practices are considered as relevant because it emphasises the core leadership practices and functions required of a school principal to improve schools in disadvantaged rural areas. Also, the components of the core practices of setting direction and developing people could help school principals to promote school success. Jacobson (2011) argued that principals in high-poverty areas demonstrate core leadership practices by creating an enabling

#### 140 Effective School Leadership in a Disadvantaged Area

environment, involving parents in school management and encouraging collaboration among stakeholders. These dimensions have been shown to assist school principals to sustain academic standard and student achievement (Garza et al., 2014). In the process of setting direction, principals monitor the implementation of schools' vision, which may influence teachers' practice and thus impact student achievement (Leithwood & Sun, 2012). The core practices support principals' effort in using different approaches to set direction, develop people, and redesign the school in disadvantaged areas. Most importantly, the core practices underscore and consider for challenging and disadvantaged contexts, and maintained that it works in all contexts.



# Chapter Eight

School Improvement

This chapter considers the concept of school improvement by examining how it relates to school effectiveness, its definitions, and basic principles. It looks at the approaches to school improvement, both organic and mechanistic. Since one of the key elements for positive change is the school culture, the review examines school culture and processes of change. In considering the change process, the chapter considers models of change, both top-down and bottom-up approaches. Aware that educational change rests on focusing on the 'internal condition' of the school (Harris et al., 2003); the review evaluates teaching and learning process as one of the 'internal conditions.' Also, it considers capacity building because successful school improvement depends on the ability to build capacity for managing change. It links leadership to school improvement as one of the key elements for a successful school improvement process. Finally, it considers different criticisms leveled against school improvement projects by different researchers, and draws key lessons from school improvement research by way of conclusion.

#### **Concept of School Improvement**

In this century, the need for school improvement has been emphasised across many countries. This is informed by the belief that schools can make a difference in the learning outcome of the students. Hence, Mortimore (1991) defines an effective school as "one in which pupils' progress further than might be expected from consideration of its intake" (p. 9). There is a difference between school effectiveness and school improvement (Chapman, 2005). School effectiveness is generally concerned with outcomes such as examination results, staying-on rates or pupil attitude, while school improvement is generally concerned with the introduction of change in schools (Coleman, 1994). More clearly, Reynolds et al. (1996) summarize the differences in the two traditions thus, in Table 8.1. 
 Table 8.1: The differences between school effectiveness and school improvement

	School Effectiveness	School Improvement
1	Focus on schools	Focus on teachers
2	Focus on organization	Focus on school processes
3	Data-driven, with the	Empirical evaluation of
	emphasis on outcomes	effects of changes
4	Quantitative in	Qualitative in Orientation
	orientation	
5	Lack of knowledge	Exclusively concerned
	about how to	with change in schools
	implement change	
	strategies	
6	More concerned with	More concerned with
	change in student	journey of school
	outcomes	improvement than its
		destination
7	More concerned with	More concerned with
	schools at one point in	schools as changing
	time	
8	Based on research	Focused on practitioner
	knowledge	knowledge

(Adapted from Chapman, 2005, p. 9; Bush & Coleman, 2000, p. 53)

Overall, both traditions aim to find ways of improving schools and schooling, which would have a positive impact on students. The difference between them is really the means that each takes in achieving this end. On the one hand, school effectiveness focuses on the outcomes of schooling by examining whether differentiation in the resources, organisational compositions and school processes affect student outcomes and if so, how? On the other hand, school improvement focuses on establishing principles of improving student outcomes by developing organisational culture and building capacity within schools to change and improve (Harris, 2002; Fullan, 1991; Northouse, 2013). By implication, school effectiveness research takes the outcomes of schooling as limited and measurable while school improvement researchers include both the schooling process and outcomes (Harris & Bennett, 2001).

However, many researchers in the two fields argue that the whole idea of separating these two traditions is outdated; rather, researchers within the two traditions should work together to improve the schools and impact on student outcomes, since they both need each other (Reynolds et al., 1993; Northouse, 2013; Chapman, 2005; Bush & Coleman, 2000). In this direction, school effectiveness and school improvement fields are now moving closer to a 'mixed traditions' approach within the field (Chapman, 2005).

School improvement has been defined in the International School Improvement Project (ISIP) as:

> a systematic, sustained effort aimed at change in learning conditions and other related internal conditions in one or more schools with the ultimate aim of accomplishing educational goals more effectively (Van Velzen et al., cited in Hopkins & Lagerweij, 1996; Stoll & Fink, 1996, p. 42).

In 1985, the fourteen countries involved in an international school improvement project agreed on this definition. In analysing this definition, one will recognise three dimensions that are essential in any school improvement approach:

- (a) The approach should be a systematic effort
- (b) It should aim to change the learning conditions and other related internal conditions at the school
- (c) The ultimate aim of the approach should be to accomplish the school's educational goals.

This definition shows that there may be preparatory changes needed before the ultimate aim of improving the educational goal is attained. The implication of this definition is that school improvement must be carefully planned, managed, and implemented, even though there may be periods of inevitable turbulence until changes are embedded or built into the structure. It also highlights the intricate relationship between school improvement and change (Stoll & Mortimore, 1997). The definition indicates that there are school processes and conditions which directly contribute to school improvement, and others that do so indirectly. Frequently, the current usage of the word 'improvement' appears to concentrate only on direct contributions (Fidler, 2002). Mortimore (1998) describes school improvement as "the process of improving" the way a school organises, promotes and supports learning... it includes changing aims, expectations, organisations (sometimes people), ways of learning, methods of teaching and organisational culture" (Hopkins, 2001, p. 12). This indicates that improvement process is vital for any school. In this process, an improving school is one that ensures year-on-year improvement in the outcomes of successive cohorts of similar pupils (Gray et al., 1999; Northouse, 2013). It suggests that an improving school is one that increases its effectiveness and results over time. By implication, improvement is seen in terms of student outcomes.

According to Hopkins (2001), there are two senses in which the phrase 'school improvement' can be understood and used: 'common sense and specific sense.' In the common-sense usage, it means the general effort to make schools better places for pupils and students to learn in. Considering this specific sense, Hopkins (2001) defines school improvement as "a distinct approach to educational change that enhances student outcomes as well as strengthening the school's capacity for managing change" (p. 13). This definition suggests the importance of school improvement as a process of changing school culture. It further sees schools as the centre of change, and teachers as an intrinsic part of the change process.

Furthermore, school improvement is seen as a series of concurrent, recurring processes in which a school:

- Enhances student outcomes;
- ➢ Focuses on teaching and learning;
- Builds the capacity to take charge of change regardless of its source;
- Defines its own direction;
- Assesses its current culture and works to develop positive cultural norms;
- Has strategies to achieve its goals;

- Addresses the internal conditions that enhance change;
- Maintains momentum during periods of turbulence;
- Monitors and evaluates its process, progress, achievement and development (Stoll & Fink, 1996,p.43).

The above-mentioned research suggests that school improvement is a process of enhancing the way the school organises, promotes and supports learning (Robertson et al., 2001; Barth, 1990). This is achieved by changing the aims, expectations, organisation, and ways of learning methods of teaching and institutional culture of schools. In some circumstances, it could also mean changing the school head or some of the teachers but it should not involve the large-scale replacement of students (Mortimore, 2000).

These definitions reveal the underpinning element in school improvement – changing the school culture. Within this, researchers in the field of school improvement are more concerned with the cultural dimensions of schooling (Hopkins, 2001). Hence, as Bath (1990) notes, "What need to be improved about schools is their culture, the quality of inter-personal relationships, and the nature and quality of learning experiences" (p. 45). What lies behind this idea is the belief that school culture can be changed through changing the internal conditions of the school.

### **Basic Principles in School Improvement Process**

School self-improvement or renewal of schools is based on some assumptions:

- 1. The belief that schools have the capacity to improve themselves.
- 2. That school improvement involves cultural change.
- 3. That this change is best achieved by working on the internal conditions within each individual school.
- 4. School improvement is mainly concerned with building the organisational capacity for change and growth (Harris & Lambert, 2003; Barth, 1990).

In this regard, Barth (1990) asserts that improving school from within requires basing such reforms on the skills, aspirations and energy of those within the school like teachers, school management, school governors, and parents. This process builds a 'community of learner' approach by involving the stakeholders in the process of promoting school improvement.

School improvement is a slow process, because it is about maturation.With this understanding in mind, Hargreaves (1999) uses

> the horticultural metaphor of sowing, germinating, thinning, shaping and pruning, showing and exchanging, to describe the process of improvement. We may add: grafting- the process by which an organism allows an external source to take root and flourish, and

*forever change its organic nature (*Cited in MacBeath & Mortimore, 2001, p. 17; 2003).

As mentioned above, there may not be any immediate improvement since the process is slow. This means that time must be given to the different processes of change to ensure improvement.

In ensuring improvement, schools should focus on student learning, academic achievement, and instructional strategies. This means the focus should be on student outcomes in schools. Hence, schools that have been found to be successful often place emphasis upon specific learning outcomes, rather than general learning goals (Harris, 2001). Therefore, in the school improvement process, emphasis must be upon welldefined student learning outcomes. In this light, research carried out in New York by Connell (1996) found that a common denominator of success in schools was a focus on students' academic achievement and the development of new instructional strategies. In the same way, a study carried out by Teddlies and Stringfield (1993) showed that ineffective schools focus less on core instructional policies than did the effective schools.

To achieve sustainable improvement, schools must be culturally responsive in pedagogy and human interactions (Ladson-Billings, 2001; Nieto, 1999); commit to social justice and ethical decision making as foundational principles (Marshall & Oliva, 2006); use data to understand and improve both processes and outcomes in the building of the organisation (Marzano, 2005); provide appropriate curricular programming that maximizes student learning (Newmann et al., 2001); use effective content-specific pedagogic approaches (Hiebert & Stigler, 2000); and provide access to high-quality learning experiences for all populations. These are critical elements that leaders must know and employ in promoting school improvement. School improvement must be a principled approach to educational change, not merely 'target setting,' 'high stake accountability' reform strategies, and short-term quick fix approaches (Hopkins, 2001). Consequently, Hopkins proposed what he calls authentic school improvement programmes thus:

- Achievement focused- the focus on enhancing student learning and achievement, in a broader sense than mere examination results or test scores.
- Empowering in aspiration- they intend to provide those involved in the change process with the skills of learning and 'change agentry' that will raise levels of expectation and confidence throughout the educational community.
- Research based and theory rich- they base their strategies on programs and program elements with effective research findings that contribute to the bodies of knowledge and disciplines.
- Context specific- they pay attention to the exclusive features of the school situation and build strategies on the basis of an analysis of that particular context.
- Capacity building in nature- they aim to build the organisational conditions that support continuous improvement.

- Enquiry driven- they appreciate that reflectionin-action is an integral and self-sustaining process.
- Implementation oriented- they take a direct focus on the quality of classroom practice and student learning.
- Interventionist and strategic- they are purposely designed to improve the current situation in the school or system and take a medium-term view of the management of change, and plan and priorities developments accordingly.
- Externally supported- they build agencies around the schools that provide focused support, and create and facilitate networks that disseminate and sustain 'good practice.'
- Systemic- they accept the reality of a centralised policy context, but also realize the need to adapt external change for internal purpose and, to exploit the creativity and synergies existing within the system (adapted from Hopkins, 2001, pp. 16-17).

Leadership is a key to any successful school improvement project. Hence, Mortimore (1991) asserts that "factors such as sensitive headship, the careful management of students and teachers, the care of students, the quality of the environment and the positive climate of the school have been identified as being important in school improvement" (p. 48). In this assertion, Mortimore brings out the importance and role of leadership in the whole process of school improvement. The principals as the key leaders in Nigerian secondary schools hold the key to school improvement (Bush, 2008; Olagboye, 2004). Therefore, if the schools are to improve, the principals must be effective.

A specific feature of the improvement process is the school development plan. Every improvement project should have a development plan, which attempts to codify much of what are keys to school improvement process, thus:

- It institutionalises a regular planning and review sequence.
- > It sets targets and costs them in terms of resources.
- It is ideally based on the assessment of information from previous reviews.
- It should reach every level of the organisation so that it has an effect on teaching and learning.
- Its construction and review are collectively undertaken (adapted from Harris et al., 1991, p. 16;Harris,2002).

The importance of vision to school improvement has been stressed (Valdez Perez et al., 1999). Research has shown that school improvement requires schools to build their vision of where schools could be. Vision helps schools to define their direction, and to develop an attitude that says 'we're in charge of change (Stoll & Fink, 1996). The vision of the school or the school in-thefuture should be one to which all members of the school community have an opportunity to contribute (Ainscow et al., 2000). A mental picture or vision can serve to guide schools to coherent change (Northouse, 2013; Valdez Perez et al., 1999). When there is a common vision, there is bound to be a success in the process of change (Harris, 2002). Hence, Valdez Perez et al. (1999) maintain that "a co-created vision can provide an 'internal compass' for those involved in making a change and assist them in relating individual contributions to the overall goals of reform"(p. 6). The vision needs to be shared by all in the school community. In this process, the teachers and management work together and take decisions together for the good of the school. Put differently, there should be active and participatory leadership, rather than a top-down delegation (Harris, 2002).

The literature on successful school improvement reveals that there are key levers in the whole process: building relationships, assessing teachers and school capacity for leadership, developing a culture of enquiry, organising the school for leadership work, generate purposeful collaboration, implementing one's plans for building leadership capacity, and building a professional learning community (Harris & Lambert, 2003).

Finally, a school improvement strategy constitutes the deliberate actions or sequence of actions taken by school staff in order to implement identified curriculum or organisational priorities. How powerful this strategy is depends on the strength of the factors that might militate against it (Hopkins, 2001). In this process, there is a need for a change facilitator that will diagnose attitudes to change and the skills needed to implement the change and respond accordingly. To transform an organization is to alter its fundamental character or identity (culture) (Deal, 1990).

# Organic and Mechanistic Approaches to School Improvement

This section now examines the two main approaches to school improvement project. Hopkins et al. (1994) categorise school improvement projects into two broad approaches: organic and mechanistic. School improvement that is organic suggests broad principles or general strategies within which schools are likely to flourish (Harris, 2000). This organic approach to school improvement shows the importance of taking a multilevel perspective on school development and change (Harris & Bennett, 2001). A good example of organic approach is the 'Improving the Quality of Education for All' (IQEA) which focuses on building collaborative cultures in schools. This is the most successful school improvement project in the UK (Harris, 2001). It was based on the fact that 'without an equal focus on development capacity, or internal conditions of the school, innovative work quickly becomes marginalized (Hopkins & Harris, 1997; Northouse, 2013). In this approach, schools need to work on the general school level change and classroom level to sustain improvement.

On the other hand, school improvement that is mechanistic provides direct guidelines and is highly specific in the strategies it prescribes. This self-managing approach to school improvement that was adopted in the mid-1980s has six phases: goal setting, policy making, planning, preparation, implementation, and evaluation. This has not been very successful in all schools. An example of this approach is the 'Bob Slavin's Success for All projects' (Slavin et al., 1996; Harris, 2000).

#### **School Culture**

One of the key elements for positive change is the school culture (Hopkins, 1991); thus, this review examines school culture in a bid to establish the place of culture in the process of school improvement. The two elements that can either inhibit or promote success and positive change are the school culture and leadership. For school improvement to be successful, the issue of culture should not be neglected (Creemers & Reezigt, 2005). Culture is simply defined as 'the way we do things around here' (MacGilrist et al., 1995, p. 36; Brundrett, 1999, p. 38). Alexander (1992) distinguishes between ideology and culture. For him, ideology is a collection of ideas, values, and beliefs which explain and legitimize the activities and situation of particular social groups while culture encompasses both ideology and the social and material structures in which it is embedded, with their attendant behaviour patterns and networks of relationships (Dean, 1999). Again, culture is seen as the routines, values, norms, procedures, and expectations of the institution (Brundrett, 1999). Since these definitions ignore the crucial relationship between culture and structure, they do not seem to capture the concept of culture. Consequently, Schein (1986) argues that the term 'culture'

> should be reserved for the deeper level of basic assumptions and beliefs that are shared by members of an organization, that operate unconsciously, and that define in a basic 'takenfor-granted' fashion an organisation's view of itself and environment (cited in Brundrett, 1999, p. 39).

Creating sustainable school improvement means understanding the culture of the school and deciding on strategies for change and development that are suitable for that context (Harris & Lambert, 2003). Culture defines reality for those within a social organisation; it gives them support and identity and norms, as well as a framework for occupational learning (Hargreaves, 1994). The culture of an organisation is expressed through the ways in which those who belong to the organisation feel, think and act. It focuses on the values, beliefs, and norms of individuals in the organisation and how these individual perceptions coalesce into shared meanings. Hence, the literature indicates that the beliefs and values of a group lie at the heart of its culture (MacGilchrist et al., 1995). It is manifested by symbols and rituals rather than through the formal structure of the organisation (Bush & Middlewood, 2005). School culture is shaped by its history, context, and the people in it. It is influenced by a school's external context and the students in the school, and their socio-economic background (Stoll, 2003). It further describes how things are, and acts as a screen or lens through which the world is viewed (Stoll, 1999). Culture varies from school to school. Some researchers like McLaughlin et al. (1990) and Huberman, (1992) see school culture as an agglomeration of several subcultures: cultures of those of teachers, pupils, administrators, nonteaching staff and parents (Stoll & Fink, 1996).

In a study of staff relationships in primary schools, carried out by Nias and colleagues, four features of a school culture were observed:

- 1. Beliefs and values
- 2. Understandings, attitudes, meanings, and norms.
- 3. Symbols, rituals, and ceremonies.
- 4. Preferred behaviours, styles, and stances (Whitaker, 1993).

These agree with the assertion of Bush and Middlewood, (2005) that the central features of organisational culture are the values and beliefs of members, shared norms and meanings, rituals and ceremonies. The three dimensions: professional relationships, organisational arrangements, and opportunities for learning are practical manifestations of the underlying beliefs and values of a school community. They are not only the expression of the present culture, but they help to shape and change the future culture of the school.

In building school culture, every school should have a developmental plan which helps to carry the school community along in achieving school improvement. Hence, Hargreaves and Hopkins (1991) assert that development planning transforms the culture of the school by:

- Promoting a shared vision for the school;
- Creating a management arrangement that empowers;
- Providing for every teacher a role in the management of the school and opportunities for leadership;
- Encouraging everyone involved to have a stake in the school's continuing improvement;

 Generating commitment and confidence which springs from success.

Furthermore, Bolman and Deal (1991) see culture as both product and process:

As product, it embodies the accumulated wisdom of those who were members before we came. As process, it is continually renewed and re-created as new members are taught the old ways and eventually become teachers themselves (p. 250).

Culture changes over time. In a research carried out by Rossman and colleagues (cited Stoll and Fink, 1996), three cultural change processes are identified:

- Evolutionary change- this form of change is implicit, unconscious and unplanned. With time, norms, certain beliefs, and values are introduced as others give way.
- Additive change- this may not be explicit, as norms, beliefs, and values suddenly become modified when new ideas or initiatives are introduced.
- Transformative change- this is explicit and conscious, with deliberate attention to changing norms, values, and beliefs.

In this process of culture change, the challenge of continuous improvement is to marry culture and structure. Structures without an underpinning culture of improvement are doomed to be ineffective. Meanwhile, strong cultures without sustaining structures will not survive from one generation to the next (MacBeath & Mortimore, 2001). A longitudinal study of 'Improving School Effectiveness' – the notion of school culture among some primary and secondary schools by both the University of London and the University of Strathclyde, reveals that culture plays a role in creating academically effective schools, whilst playing a role in the management of change in schools (Prosser, 1999).

In considering school culture, the teachers' world views cannot be over emphasized. Hence, Fullan (1991) asserts that educational change depends on what teachers do and think. What they do is influenced by their beliefs, values, and assumptions, which also shape norms. It is beneficial to note that norms, beliefs, and values influence teachers' perception and definition of effectiveness. This means that culture defines effectiveness (Northouse, 2013; Stoll & Fink, 1996). In the same vein, the school principal is a cultural leader, who creates, manages culture and works with culture (Whitaker, 1993; Prosser, 1999). Also, the leadership of the principal in shaping culture is highly significant in the domain of school improvement. This requires effective and stable leadership. Hence, Arikewuyo (2009) argues that it is difficult for Nigerian principals to shape school culture, because of their ineffectiveness and their frequent transfers, which creates unstable leadership. In this light, research carried out by Kruger et al. (2007) indicates that principals have impact on the culture of the school though a weak effect. Leaders have the responsibility to sustain culture, and culture maintenance is often regarded as a central feature of effective leadership (Bush & Middlewood, 2005). This cultural force of leadership binds together students, teachers, and others as believers in the work of the school. Understanding the school culture is, therefore, an essential prerequisite for any internal or external change agent (Stoll, 1999). Hence, the literature indicates that leadership needs to be connected with organisational culture (Hult & Homan, 2005). Each organisation has different values and beliefs, and these become integral to the organisation's identity. If a leader is to be successful within a particular organisation he/she must learn the culture of the organisation and impact on it (MacBeath & Mortimore, 2001).

Building a positive climate in school culture requires building trust within the learning community. As people work together, there is a need to trust each other. It is the social glue that links a learning community and allows teachers to work collaboratively (Harris, 2002). This means that school teachers need to trust their colleagues and school management; otherwise cultural change is unlikely to occur. Research indicates that trust is particularly important when the risks are high or when large-scale change is imminent (Harris, 2002). This agrees with the view of Mitchell and Sackney (2000) that "trust is a key factor in bringing about profound improvement in school. Without trust.... a culture of self-preservation and isolation is likely to pervade the school" (p. 49). The implication of these assertions is that trust is a key element for ensuring school improvement. This agrees with the findings by Harris (2002) that ineffective schools have particular cultures that are characterised by dysfunctional staff relationships and insufficient focus on teaching and learning. Therefore, effort must be made to develop a collaborative culture and to build trust among staff in schools so as to ensure school improvement and growth.

Hargreaves (1994) has suggested four 'ideal types' of school culture thus:

- The formal school culture characterised by pressure on students to achieve learning goals but weak social cohesion between staff and students.
- A welfarist culture where relations between staff and students are relaxed and friendly, but there is little academic pressure.
- A hothouse culture which pressurises staff and students to participate in all aspects of school life, whether academic or social.
- A survivalist culture characterised by poor social relations and low academic achievement.

For improvement to take place, there is a need for reculturing. This means, the process of developing new values, beliefs, and norms. To pave the way for improvement, every school in Nigeria needs new values for students and teachers (Olagboye, 2004). This agrees with Fullan (1996) that there is a need to build new conceptions about instruction and a new form of professionalism for teachers. In this light, Morgan (1997) asserts that re-culturing is

> A challenge of transforming mind-sets, visions, paradigms, images, metaphors, beliefs, and shared meanings that sustain existing... It is about inventing what amounts to a new way of life (p. 143)

Finally, school improvement cannot come from anywhere other than within schools themselves, and 'within' is a

complex web of power relationships, norms, values, beliefs, social and emotions. It requires effective stable leadership and the nurturing of the garden within which new ideas can bloom- the culture.

## **Process of Change**

In considering the process of change in the wheel of school improvement, this book investigates the concept of change by looking at the stages of change process, basic assumptions, factor for successful implementation of change and the different approaches: both top-down and bottom-up approaches.

Change can be regarded as a dynamic and continuous process of development and growth that involves reorganization in response to 'felt needs.' It is a process of transformation, a flow from one state to another, either initiated by internal factors or external forces involving individuals, groups, or institutions, leading to a realignment of existing values, practices and outcomes (Morrison, 1998, p. 13).

As this definition indicates, there are change processes that can inform the improvement process. Change is a process, not a single event (Fidler, 2002). It is important to understand change process. Hence, Fullan (2001) notes, "moral purpose without an understanding of the change process is moral martyrdom"(p. 5). Change is complex. This agrees with the view of Fullan, (1991) that 'educational change is technically simple and socially complex.'There are three stages to the change process:

- 1. *Initiation* this is about deciding to embark on innovation and developing commitment towards the process.
- 2. *Implementation* this involves carrying out action plans, sustaining the commitment to the process, checking progress and overcoming possible problems.
- 3. Institutionalisation or making the change permanentduring this stage, innovation and change stop being regarded as something new and become part of the school's usual way of doing things (Hopkins & Lagerweij, 1996; Myers, 1996; Hopkins, 2001: 2002; Morrison, 1998; Reynolds et al., 1996; Stoll & Fink, 1996).

Some researchers have added a fourth one called *Outcome* (Fullan, 1991). This refers to variety of results, including impact on students, teachers, the organisation and school-community relations. These three stages of the change process underpin the assumptions made by International School Improvement Project (ISIP). According to ISIP (cited in Hopkins, 2001), school improvement approach to educational change rests on these assumptions:

- The school is the centre of change- This means that any external reform or change must bear in mind that all schools are not the same. The situation of a particular school must be considered.
- A systematic approach to change- school improvement requires a carefully planned and managed process that takes place over a period of time.

- The internal conditions of schools must be the key focus – all activities and resources supporting teaching and learning must be considered.
- Focusing on educational goal effectively effort must be made to focus on the student outcome and general developmental needs of the students and the school community.
- A multi-level perspective though the school is the centre of change, it needs to work collaboratively with all stakeholders, with their roles defined, harnessed and committed to the process of school improvement.
- Integrative implementation strategies- there should be a link between 'top-down' and 'bottom-up' approaches in the whole process. The 'top-down' provides a framework, resources, and a menu of alternatives, while 'bottom-up' ensures school based implementation.
- The drive towards institutionalisation Change must become part of the way of life of the teachers and students in a given school (Adapted from Harris & Bennett, 2001, pp. 33-34).

In the same way, David (1982) describes four assumptions upon which strategies for change are based:

One assumption is that change does not occur unless the particulars of a school and its context are taken into account.

A second is that school staff will not be committed to a change effort unless they have had the opportunity to be involved in decisions concerning the shape of this project.

A third is that effective schools are characterized by a school-wide focus- (a set of shared goals and a unified approach to instruction) as opposed to several separate, uncoordinated projects and approaches.

Finally, proponents of school-based strategies believe that any planning effort that encourages self-awareness and reflection on the part of school staff will greatly increase the chances that behaviours will change (adapted from Hopkins, 1984, p. 17).

Considering the above assumptions, Harris (2002) agrees that there is a need to involve teachers in decision and planning regarding any change to be introduced into the school, so as to ensure its success. Change needs to be built on community, not on the individual in the community. This agrees with the view of Fink (1999) that "change has to be built into the processes. Change identified with a person has the roots of its own destruction" (p.277).

Research on school improvement focuses on the process of school level change and the improvement strategies needed to achieve such change. They stress the development process measure more strongly than the achievement outcome. What is obvious is that they are more concerned with "how schools change and become more effective" (Harris & Bennett, 2001). If school effectiveness research represents the '*what*' of change, school improvement is the '*how*' of change (Stoll & Fink, 1996). However, it is argued that not all change is improvement but all improvement leads to change (Fullan, 1991). Therefore, change must not be equated with improvement (Harris et al., 1996). The implication of this is that change for the better is complex and problematic most of the time. There is no blue print or short cut to change, change seldom follows a logical, rationally planned sequence of events.

It seems that schools have to learn to live with a period of turmoil, uncertainty and dis-equilibrium; without this, a long-lasting change will not occur (Brundrett, 1999). Schools need to know their internal conditions in relation to their route of change before they begin developmental work. This implies that there is no common recipe for all schools in the process of improvement. Therefore, the particular context, history, prevailing circumstances and developmental need of the given school must be considered before change can be introduced (Harris, 2002). Change is concerned more with people than with content. Indeed, "change changes people but people change change!" (Morrison, 1998, p. 15).

Furthermore, research findings across many countries have highlighted some key factors for successful school change thus:

- 1. Leadership research has shown the importance of leadership in securing school-level change. It indicates that in a bid to improve schools, school leaders need to have vision and ability to manage change. Such leadership needs to be shared and collaborative (Harris, 2002). It is in line with this finding that this study seeks school improvement through ensuring effective leadership in Nigeria secondary schools.
- 2. Teacher development school improvement requires teacher development. The teachers need to be empowered through training to ensure successful change process.
- 3. There is no one blueprint for action those who promote school improvement need to know that there is no one size fits all. Approaches vary from school to school. The 'one size fits all approach' to school improvement seems to fundamentally misunderstand the process of school and classroom-level change (Stoll & Myers, 1998). Hence, effort must be made to match improvement strategy to school type (Morrison, 1998). In this regard, Hopkins, (2001) maintains:

Schools at different stages of development require different strategies not only to enhance their capacity for development, but also to provide a more effective education for their students. Strategies for school development need to fit the 'growth state' or culture of the particular school. Strategies which are effective for improving performance at one growth are not necessarily effective at another (p.3).

This suggests that schools need to consider their peculiar situation and many other factors before introducing change into the school organisation.

- 4. Focusing on teaching and learning It is important to focus attention on student level and improve on the teaching and learning process in classrooms.
- 5. School culture The need to understand the culture of the school. Research has shown that school culture that promotes collegiality, trust and collaborative working relationships are more self-renewing and responsive to improvement (Harris, 2002).

With this understanding in mind, to introduce change into schools in Nigeria, the schools need to know the key issues about change process in school improvement (MacGilchrist et al., 2004; Brundrett, 1999). Therefore, they need to bear these factors in mind:

- Change takes time;
- ➤ A school's capacity for change will vary;
- ➢ Change is complex;
- Change needs to be well led and managed;
- > Teachers need to be the main agents of change;
- The pupils need to be the main focus for change (MacGilchrist et al., 2004;Brundrett, 1999).

This indicates that schools in Nigeria need to establish the need for change, involve all those concerned, monitor,

and support and reinforce the change process so as to ensure success (Morrison, 1998). The internal factors which need to be taken into consideration in the process of school improvement are: the type of leadership; school organisation; prevailing attitudes, commitment of staff, collective responsibility and the need for a united effort to improve (MacGilchrist et al., 1995; Northouse, 2013).

Still on how to implement change effectively, Morrison (1998) comments that change is likely to be successful if it is congruent with existing practices in the school; understood and communicated effectively; triallable and trialled; seen to be an improvement on existing practice by the participants, seen to further the direction in which the institution is moving. However, if change is overcomplex, not understood, poorly communicated, overdemanding, unclear, untested, too incompatible with existing practices, values and beliefs, it will fail. In this direction, Kanter and her associates present 'Ten Commandments' for successful implementation of change:

- 1. The need for analysis of the organisation and the identification of the need for change;
- 2. The creation of a genuinely shared vision that provides direction;
- 3. The need to separate past activities from current and future activities, to break with the past;
- 4. The need to create a sense of urgency for change;
- 5. The need for a strong and supportive leader of change and senior management;
- 6. The need to attract, develop and employ political sponsorship;

- 7. The careful development of the plan for implementation;
- 8. The creation of structures in the organisation that will support the change;
- 9. The need for widespread communication, honesty with people and the building up of their involvement;
- 10. The need to reinforce the change in order that it will become sustained and institutionalized (adapted from Morrison, 1998, pp. 41-42).

Thus, the main features of the landscape of change process have been articulated. The school is widely regarded as the prime unit of change, the basic assumptions are well spelled out, and its successful implementation processes are outlined. Effective leadership and the type of leadership adopted are essential ingredients for successful change that can lead to school improvement (MacGilchrist et al., 1995; Harris, 2002).

#### **Top-down School Improvement**

In education, adoptive and adaptive models of change fit the positivist and interpretative paradigms (Hopkins, 2001). On the one hand, the adoptive approach to change is a top-down approach to change. It assumes that change is linear, initiated by the head and motivated by external pressure. Thus, it does not consider variables within the individual school environment. This top-down model was developed to help in the implementation of centralized curriculum innovations in the mid-1960, and refers to an approach which is essentially externally driven. That is, initiated by policy-makers and not within the school. It is a concentration on system-level reform and change, leading to a view of school improvement that is 'top-down,' and concerned with outcomes rather than processes. It focuses more on school curriculum and formal organizational factors and is highly centralized (Fullan, 1991). Top-down school improvement is about policy formulation and provides general aims for an overall strategy and operational plans (Northouse, 2013; Hopkins & Lagerweij, 1996).

Nigeria operates a centralized system of education, in which the government makes all policies for the schools and schools are left to implement (Nwagwu et al., 2004). This system encourages a top-down approach. This centralized approach is influenced by increased government control over policy and direction. According to Hopkins (2001), what is inherent in the top-down approach is the assumption that change is linear, and should be initiated by an authority figure. A top-down approach is "a centralised reform, whereby some external (usually government) agent and agency initiate the change, creates policy and leaves it up to the schools to implement the changes" (Hopkins, 2001). There are some characteristics that are associated with the top-down approach: standardisation, curriculum development, teacher training and performance based approaches to school improvement. Standardisation means that the same curriculum, materials, instructional designs and assessment are used across various types of school. In summary, a top-down approach is an approach where schools are mandated to adopt a policy for the purposes of promoting excellence and efficiency, but the locus of control is on the external agent, who is usually the government itself (Fullan, 1991). Nonetheless, a lack of teacher commitment to government-initiated 'top-down' reforms – led to a new improvement paradigm in the 1980s, called 'bottom-up' approach (Stoll & Fink, 1996).

#### **Bottom-up School Improvement**

School improvement projects are intended to be a 'bottom-up' approach to educational development, designed to involve the teachers and students (Harris, 2002; Hopkins, 2001). The underpinning idea of this type of school improvement project is to improve student success by altering and improving the learning conditions within schools (Harris, 2002; Fullan, 1991). It is for this reason that the bottom-up approach to school improvement makes the school into the center of change and teaching and learning as the focus of change (Hopkins, 2001). Nigerian schools should lead school improvement projects by taking the initiatives and responsibilities (Olagboye, 2004). This suggests that schools should take ownership of school improvement initiatives, though they may still need the help of external agents like experts and policy makers (Elmore, 2004; Harris, 2002). This has the advantage of being situational, in that activities are tailored to the particular needs of a school (Harris & Bennett, 2001). Moreover, this approach encourages empowering the individuals within the school to initiate, manage and sustain change and improvement (Harris & Chrispeels, 2006). The main characteristics of the bottom-up approach are decentralisation, restructuring, and site-based

management. This means that power is given to the school to manage their budget, recruitment, and resources. It is often controlled by the board of governors, made up of representatives of all stakeholders.

# A Combination of Top-down and Bottom-up Approaches

Whether centralised or decentralised, top-down or bottom-up approaches will not in themselves ensure school improvement (Fullan, 1991). Since educational change involves changing people and cultures more than structures, top-down approaches tend not to work (Harris, 2002; Stoll & Fink, 1996; Fullan, 1991), though research has shown that a bottom-up approach has a greater chance of ensuring school improvement (Hopkins, 2001; Fullan, 1999). However, Hopkins (2001) argues that none of the approaches is a satisfactory basis for authentic school improvement. For him, authentic school improvement entails enhancing student achievement through the use of specific instructional strategies that have a direct impact on the organisation and culture of the school (Hopkins, 2001). Consequently, many writers argue that neither purely top-down nor purely bottom-up approaches to school improvement work; rather they suggest that a combination of the two approaches might be more effective (Hopkins, 2001; Fullan, 1999). Effective change integrates top-down strategies with bottom-up strategies. This agrees with the view of Stoll and Fink (1996) that the combination of top-down and bottom-up change works effectively. However, since such dualism can create tensions, Harris and Chrispeels (2006) maintain that a mixed approach

does not guarantee improvement either. Success is not so much about combining the two approaches, but ensuring that the core factors for successful school improvement are in place, such as building capacity within schools through improving the organisational conditions; focusing on classroom instruction; building capacity among members within the schools, especially leadership capacity and developing context-specific school improvement (Harris & Chrispeels, 2006; Harris & Lambert, 2003; Harris, 2002).

# **Capacity Building**

Successful school improvement is dependent upon the ability of individual schools to build capacity for managing change (Harris & Muijs, 2005; Northouse, 2013). Considering Hopkins (2001) definition of school improvement as a distinct approach to educational change that has the purpose of enhancing student outcomes and strengthening the school's capacity for managing change, the capacity building becomes vital in implementing change in schools. School capacity may be defined as the collective competency of the school to bring about effective change (Harris & Muijs, 2005). Research findings by Newman et al. (2000) suggest four core components of capacity, thus:

- Knowledge, skills, and disposition of individual staff members;
- A professional learning community, in which staff work collaboratively to set clear goals for student learning, assess how well students are doing, develop action plans to increase student

achievement, while being engaged in enquiry and problem-solving.

- Programme coherence the extent to which the school's programmes for student and staff learning are co-ordinated, focused on clear learning goals and sustained over a period of time.
- Technical resources high-quality curriculum, instructional material, assessment instruments, technology, workspace and physical environment (adapted from Harris et al., 2003, p. 88).

A vital indicator of a school's capacity for improvement is its increased learning ability, because as we move towards the learning organisation, the culture of the school becomes the knowledge carrier, spanning generations of staff (Fullan, 2000). In this light, the National College for School Leadership in England has created a framework which contains five elements that provide a better understanding of capacity as foundation conditions, the personal, the interpersonal, the organisational, and external opportunities (Harris et al., 2003). Building capacity for the whole school improvement "involves bringing together the four core components: resources, structures, culture and the skills of staff, not only focusing on improvement but doing so in ways which are synergistic" (Harris et al., 2003, p. 122). This capacity may be built by improving the performance of teachers, adding more resources, materials or technology and by restructuring how tasks are undertaken (Harris, 2002).

### **Internal Capacity Building**

To ensure school improvement at the classroom level,

there is a need for capacity building within the school as an organisation. Internal capacity building has to do with creating the conditions, opportunities and experiences for development and mutual learning (Harris, 2001). It requires giving attention to how collaborative processes in schools are fostered and developed. In capacity building, staff development activities need to be put in place to provide on-going support for the new programme (Harris, 2002). Staff development needs to be school-based and classroom-focused. The purpose is to equip teachers to manage classroom change, development, and improvement. Schools need to invest in teachers' professional development (Ogunu, 2000). Moreover, there is evidence that successful school improvement projects require teachers to be provided with the opportunity to enquire into their practice. This often results in change of attitudes, beliefs and behaviours of the teachers, and which often has a direct impact on their classroom teaching and improving the learning outcomes of students (Harris, 2002). In building capacity internally, the students must be empowered to participate actively in the change process. There is a need to listen to students, allowing them to take an active part in the process of enquiry and decision-making. Moreover, developing leadership capacity within the school promotes school improvement because most achievement at school level can be attributed to the values, vision and sense of purpose created and maintained by school leaders (Chapman, 2003).

#### **External Support in Capacity Building**

An external change agent is known to have great impact

in capacity building and change process (Harris, 2002; Chapman, 2003). The external agent is designed to provide support and to assist schools in diagnosing and identifying their strengths and weaknesses. This they do by providing materials needed for development, provision of counselling and the practical, technical and emotional support needed at critical stages of improvement. Moreover, they assist in staff development and providing evaluation feedback to such schools, so as to enable them to take stock of their progress and development (Harris,

#### **Teaching and Learning**

2002).

School improvement as an approach to educational change, according to ISIP, rests partly on the assumption that there is a need to focus on the 'internal conditions' of the school which includes the teaching and learning process (Harris et al., 2003). Teaching and learning lie at the heart of school improvement. Hence, school improvement is seen as raising student achievement by focusing on the teaching and learning process and the conditions which support it (Hopkins, 1994). It has become apparent that reorganising the process in a bid to improve school impacts upon student achievement and learning (Fullan, 1991). Though there are other conditions at this level which can impact on classroom improvement, the teaching and learning process remain the key determinant of educational outcome (Creemers, 1994; Northouse, 2013). In the school improvement bid in Nigeria therefore, effort should be made to mobilise change at school, department and classroom levels (Fullan, 1992). This agrees with the view of Hopkins, (2001) that 'real' improvement 'is best regarded as a strategy for educational change that focuses on student achievement by modifying classroom practice and adapting the management arrangement within the school to support teaching and learning.' For effective teaching and learning to take place in secondary schools in Nigeria, there is a need for an authentic relationship with openness between teachers and students (Ajayi, 2002). They must ensure that rules and boundaries in the classrooms are defined, that teachers have access to the necessary materials for teaching and that there is a reflection on teaching by the individual teacher by reflecting on his or her own practice (Harris, 2002). This requires the effective leadership of the principals to ensure appropriate condition for teaching learning. Unfortunately, the literature indicates that most Nigerian principals do not visit classrooms to ensure proper teaching and learning process (Olagboye, 2004; Ajayi, 2002). Effort should thus be made to ensure that teachers prepare the lesson and make good use of classroom time (Nwagwu et al., 2004). Research has shown that maximisation of teaching time is a key to effective teaching and learning (Creemers, 1994). Effective teaching and learning involve creating a learning environment, which:

- Emphasises learning goals and makes them explicit;
- Outlines learning purposes and potential learning outcomes;
- Carefully organises and sequences curriculum experiences;
- > Explains and illustrates what students are to learn;
- Frequently asks direct and specific questions to

monitor students' progress with ample opportunity to practise, gives prompts and feedback to ensure success and corrects errors;

Reviews regularly and holds students accountable for work (adapted from Harris & Hopkins,2000;Harris,2002,p.94).

Both the literature and research findings see focusing on teaching and learning as a key to school improvement by enhancing student outcomes. Literature shows that most principals in Nigeria do not ensure proper teaching and learning which has consequently influenced the poor performance of students in external examinations (Ajayi, 2002). Consequently, this research seeks to examine some issues bothering on teaching and learning such as: Do principals in Nigeria focus on teaching and learning? Is there a link between principal leadership and improvement in teaching and learning? Do the principals consequently influence student outcomes? These are some of the questions that this research seeks to address.

# Measuring Improvement in Schools

This section examines how to measure improvement in schools by considering both the literature and research findings on this issue. One way in which researchers have tried to measure stability and improvement is through examination performance (Gray et al., 1999). That is, measuring the impact of development or intervention in terms of student outcomes. Research carried out by ESRC (MacBeath and Mortimore, 2001) found that "schools' results tended to be relatively stable over time" (p. 16). Drawing on Hopkins' (2001) definition of school improvement above, MacBeath and Mortimore (2001) posit a two-dimensional matrix: by definition, improving schools has high-outcome and high-capacity, while ineffective schools have low-outcome and low-capacity. Gray et al. (1999) assert that schools that have and use outcome data in a positive, active way to enhance the capacity of their schools as organizations are those most likely to be truly self-improved in the longer term. Critics of improvement research have argued that it is not sufficient to use a single outcome measure, in particular academic achievement, to determine the true level of effectiveness in any school (Harris & Bennett, 2001). The school improvement field has recognized the need to use multiple outcome measures to explore, capture and compare levels of effectiveness (Teddlie & Stringfield, 1993). In this regard, there is need to understand the relationship between school processes and school outcomes (Harris, 2001). The implication is that for effective measurement, the process and outcomes should be considered. This agrees with the view of Fidler (2002) that in measuring effectiveness, both the process and the outcome should be considered.

### Factors that May Hinder School Improvement

To ensure effective school improvement process, it is helpful to note that there is always a time of turbulence and other internal or external factors that may hinder school improvement (Stoll & Fink, 1996). Therefore, this section investigates the literature on these possible factors. Firstly, Reynolds (1992), from a project that failed to turn school around, listed the possible factors that can hinder school improvement as including:

- Teachers projecting their own deficiencies on to children or their communities.
- Teachers clinging on to past practices.
- Defenses built up against threatening messages from outside.
- Fear of failure.
- Seeing change as someone else's job.
- Hostile relationships among staff
- Seeking safety in numbers (a ring-fenced mentality).

Again, considering what could prevent school improvement, Harris (2002) suggests the following:

- a. Unclear purposes and goals: as long as the purpose of the change is not clearly communicated, the staff will not be committed to it.
- *b. Competing priorities*: in organisation or school where there are too many changes at the same time, some changes will be given more priority than others.
- *c. Lack of support*: if the necessary and adequate technical, professional and emotional supports for teachers are not given in the process of implementing change that change will not succeed.
- *d. Insufficient attention to implementation*: school improvement is bound to fail if no sufficient thought and planning have been given to how the change will work within the schools or classrooms.

e. Inadequate leadership: since successful change or innovation requires direction or leadership, improvement will not come unless there is effective leadership in the process of change.

These observations made by Harris (2002), clearly bring out the relevance of effective leadership in the process of change and improvement in schools. As she notes, improvement will not come unless there is effective leadership. In all, the success and failure of any school improvement project depend on how it is internally led and managed (Stoll & Fink, 1996). Therefore, effort must be made to maintain momentum during periods of turbulence and to have the right strategies and leadership to promote school improvement.

# Leadership and School Improvement

There is a strong link between leadership and school improvement, with outstanding leadership being a key characteristic of outstanding schools (Bush, 2008). This was echoed by the National College for School Leadership in England, '...effective leadership is a key to both continuous improvement and major system transformation' (Bush, 2008, p. 7). Schools being able to make the necessary changes that will bring about school improvement will depend largely on the nature and quality of their leaders (Sammons et al., 1995). In this sense, a study by Huber (2004) indicates that schools classified as successful possess a competent and sound school leadership. This is strongly supported by research carried out by Hallinger and Heck (1998) that though there is difficulty establishing the effect of leadership on student outcomes, school leadership effects account for about 3 to 5 percent of the variation in student achievement. For leadership to impact on schools positively, it must be effective and the leaders must perform their roles effectively (Bush, 2008). Hence, Sammons et al. (1995) submit that firm and purposeful professional leadership is one of the key characteristics of effective schools. Therefore, this section examines the relationship between leadership and school improvement by critically evaluating the role and impact of leadership on school improvement.

The International School Improvement Programme (ISIP) working in fourteen countries has emphasised the importance of the school leader in school improvement (Coleman, 1994). Consequently, four major tasks for leaders in the process of school improvement are recommended thus:

- 1. Taking a long-term view.
- 2. Ensuring a 'corporate educational strategy' agreed to by all involved.
- 3. Working towards integration, they have to glue the results of successful improvement work on to the normal work of the school.
- 4. The management of external relations, relating the school or college to its wider environment (Coleman, 1994, pp. 68-69).

This shows that leadership is vital to the school improvement process. This agrees with Stoll and Fink (1996) who argue that leadership is one of the routes into

school improvement and the most fundamental continuing condition of school improvement. While stating the conditions for school improvement, Harris (2001) sees leadership as the most central, enabling factor for school improvement. This supports the view of West et al. (2000) that "Essentially, schools that have improved have leaders that made significant and measurable contributions to the development of the school and the effectiveness of their staff" (p. 36). The implication is that the quality of leadership matters in school success. A school without good leadership is like a body without a head; such a body is dead. With this understanding of the place of leadership in school improvement, studies have shown that successful school improvement involves building leadership capacity for change by creating high levels of involvement and leadership skilfulness (Harris & Lambert, 2003).

In discussing how leadership influences school improvement, Hallinger and Heck (1996) list four ways in which leadership influences school improvement:

- (1) Establishing and conveying the *purposes* and *goals* of the school.
- (2) Through the interplay between the *school's organisation* and *its social network*.
- (3) Through Influence over people.
- (4) In relation to organisational culture.

A leader who is able to go through these paths will certainly move the wheel of school improvement forward. Research has shown that where leadership is too authoritarian, or alternatively too laissez-faire, development will not occur, and improvement will be difficult to achieve (Harris, 2002).

In research involving 300 schools, Berman and McLaughlin found that projects having the active support of the principals were most likely to fare well (Fullan, 1992). This confirms the findings of Hall and his colleagues, namely that "the degree of implementation of the innovation is different in different schools because of the actions and concern of the principals" (Fullan, 1992, p. 82). These findings imply that school leadership is a key to successful school improvement. The success of any change or innovation in schools may be influenced by the school leader and the particular leadership style adopted. This corroborates the finding from the research carried out by Teddlie et al. (1989) among eight schools in Louisiana; here, they identify differences in the role of the principal as a critical variable. It indicates that there is a strong link between leadership practise and successful school improvement (West et al., 2000). Therefore, whoever entertains the hope of improving any school must get the leadership right.

Finally, considering the influence of leadership, Harris, (2002) argues, "The evidence from the international literature demonstrates that effective leaders exercise an indirect but powerful influence on the effectiveness of the school and on the achievement of students" (p. 69). It shows that the principal may not have direct influence on the student outcome and school improvement but may have influence through the activities of the teachers. It indicates that the quality of leadership is vital for school

improvement (Harris & Lambert, 2003). Within school improvement the quality of leadership is a key factor in building a school community where improvement is most likely to occur (Harris, 2002). It means an effective leader must have a vision, develop the staff, and be innovative and creative to achieve the vision so as to improve the school. Effective school leaders need to build the capacity for improvement within the schools. They must generate the conditions and create the climate for improvement to be initiated and sustained (Harris, 2002). In all, school leaders coordinate the whole process of change to ensure school improvement.

## Limitations in the School Improvement Field

This section exposes some criticisms against school improvement by some authors. In the past few years, there have been some criticisms and limitations levelled against school improvement projects and process. Some are articulated thus:

- 1. Lauder et al. (1998) argue that in the school improvement field, there tends to be an undifferentiated approach to schools of varying socio-economic circumstances. It is as if one size fits all. For them, little account is taken of culture, context, socio-economic status, catchment areas, the trajectory of improvement and, indeed, of all independent variables (Harris & Bennett, 2001).
- 2. Another limitation in the field concerns an overemphasis on the school level (Harris, 2001; Scheerens, 1992). Most research in this area has failed to grapple with the complexity of change

and development at different levels within the organization. Consequently, Harris (2001) maintains, "There is a growing need for researchers in this field to adopt a multi-level approach and to develop strategies which impact on the whole school, department, teachers and students level at the same time" (p. 16). Hence, Teddlie and Reynolds (2000) suggest that "Those who engage in school improvement need urgently to pay attention to the implications of multilevel modelling procedure for their programmes" (p.47).

- 3. Gray et al. (1996) assert that "the proliferation of school improvement has only generated a proliferation of factors that 'seem to work" (p. 47). However, Harris (2001) argues that though there is a high degree of overlap of factors presented by the different researchers, they gave different interpretations and emphasis to these factors.
- 4. Teddlie and Reynolds (2000) maintain that what is most worrisome in the whole issue is that many school improvement researchers have neglected the 'primacy of instruction.' For them, with all the research findings in school improvement, only a few tend to look at the classroom level.

In the same way, Scheerens (1992) warns that many of the factors identified in school improvement research are probably so context bound that they are not readily transferable, like:

- 1. The possibility of training leaders;
- 2. The value of assessment procedures in securing progress;

- 3. The modification of the school climate as changes develop;
- 4. The possibility that the organisational structure itself may promote or inhibit improvement.

Though there are some limitations, Harris (2001) suggests that a closer collaboration between school improvement and school effectiveness would be an obvious and pragmatic way out. This collaboration is possible as Teddlie and Reynolds (2000) argue when they called for a merger of the two fields. For them, the two disciplines are close and central to each other (Harris & Bennett, 2001).

# Key Lessons from School Improvement Research

In a case study of Singapore and London schools, the research team draws four key lessons from the school improvement process (Mortimore et al., 2000, p. 142):

- 1. There is no single recipe for turning a school around, but there are common elements which include motivating staff, focusing on teaching and learning, enhancing the physical environment and changing the culture of the school.
- 2. Improvement must fit in with the grain of society rather than go against it. Indiscriminate borrowing of ideas may not achieve the desired results.
- 3. Resources in themselves do not guarantee improvement but help convince staff, parents, and students that society believes in the school and is willing to invest.
- 4. Change has to be carried out by the school itself. Friends are important, but change has to come from within.

Literature has shown that school improvement research has contributed to a better understanding of how change is initiated, implemented and institutionalised in school (Fullan, 1991; Northouse, 2013). It has gone a long way to providing practical theories that show the process of successful school level change thus.

- 1. In the first case, it reveals the vital importance of teacher development in school level change, and that teacher development is inextricably linked to school improvement (Hopkins et al., 1994).
- 2. Again, school improvement has shown and reinforced the vital place of leadership in promoting school level change. It has revealed the limitations of singular leadership, emphasizing decentralized and participatory leadership rather than top-down delegation (Jackson, 2000).
- 3. School improvement research has shown that there is no one blueprint for action for change or improvement in every school. It questions the assumption of the 'one size fits all' but advocates the importance of matching improvement strategy to school type (Hopkins et al., 1997).
- 4. School improvement efforts should be related to specific student outcomes. They should emphasise the importance of focusing attention on the student level and improving teaching and learning conditions within the classroom (Hopkins et al., 1997).
- It has shown that there is a need to understand and work with school culture (Fullan & Hargreaves, 1991). Research in this area has demonstrated consistently that a school culture that promotes

collegiality, trust, and collaborative working relationships and that focuses on teaching and learning is more likely to be self- renewing and responsive to improvement efforts (Hopkins, 1996).

In conclusion, those involved in the school improvement movement recognise the significance of leadership and school culture. They are aware that school culture is instrumental in bringing about improvement; of the need to assess a school's potential to accept change; of the complexity of changing a school's culture; of the 'worthwhileness' of identifying and agreeing with the direction of change; and of the significance of leadership in change and, therefore, managing culture (Prosser, 1999).

# Theoretical Assumptions Guiding the Study of Leadership and School Improvement

Leadership and school improvement are complex and contested phenomena, therefore, although a vast amount of theoretical literature and empirical evidence exist, their understanding demands some contextualisation meaning (Alexander et al., 2008; Williams, 2001). In the case of Nigeria, there is a drought of literature and research on school leadership and school improvement and no study can be found that shows how Western theories of leadership can be contextualised in the Nigerian situation. It is believed that good theories and findings in Western literature could inspire literature and research development in Nigerian educational system. This was done while still conscious of the setting where the study is carried out and takes into account the local culture and contextual factors where they are to be implemented. This agrees with the assertion of Dalin et al. (1994):

> Both local and central initiatives work. An innovative idea that starts locally, nationally or with external donors can succeed, if programmes meet the criteria of national commitment, local capacity building, and linkage, in a configuration that makes sense for the particular country. (p. 252)

Consequently, a behavioural approach translated into exploring styles, practices, and effectiveness is useful not only for the study of leadership in countries where research is scarce but arguably in any context especially when issues of effectiveness, outcome, and improvement are examined (Robinson, 2008). Researchers and theorists believe that leadership needs to be contextualised and that it is vital to explore the views of participants and their understanding of such phenomena in order to compare and contrast with the theory. This study seeks to examine the effectiveness of leadership, and its effects on student outcome and school improvement as they are viewed by school staff made up of principals and teachers. It further seeks to explore how leadership effectiveness could be enhanced through training to impact positively on schools.

#### Summary

The chapter provided an exposition of school improvement by exploring the relevant literature and empirical findings in this area in connection with this study. It has articulated the place of culture and change in the process of school improvement and has further examined the different approaches to school improvement and change process. The literature suggests that change takes time and there is no single recipe for turning the school around (Mortimore et al., 2000). The chapter has further indicated the importance of leadership in the process of change and school improvement (Huber, 2004). In doing so, it has shown a link between leadership and school improvement (Bush, 2008) and has further indicated the need to build leadership capacity to ensure school improvement (Harris, 2002).

# References



- Ade, A. (2003). Leadership and human resources management in Nigeria. *Institute of Personnel Management of Nigeria*, 3(1), 11–14.
- Aderounmu, O. W., & Ehiametalor, E. T. (1981). An Introduction to the Administration of Schools in Nigeria. Ibadan: Evans Brothers.
- **Adeyemi, T. O.** (2008). Predicting student performance in senior secondary certificate examination from performance in junior secondary certificate examinations in Ondo State, Nigeria. *Humanity and Social Science Journal*, 3(1), 26-36.
- Ahmad, A. R., Salleh, M. J., Awang, M. M., & Mohamad, N.
   A. (2013). Investigating best practice and effectiveness of leadership wisdom among principals of excellent secondary school Malaysia: Perceptions of senior assistants. *International Education*

Studies, 6(8), 38-46. doi:10.5539/ies.v6n8p38

Ahmed, K. A. (2016). Instructional leadership practices in secondary schools of Assosa Zone, Ethiopia. *International* 

#### 194 Effective School Leadership in a Disadvantaged Area

Journal of Advanced Multidisciplinary Research and Review, 4(7), 191-211 secondary school Malaysia: Perceptions of senior assistants. International Education Studies, 6(8), 38-46. doi:10.5539/ies.v6n8p38

- Ainscow, M., Beresford, J., Harris, A., Hopkins, D., Southworth, G., & West, M. (2000). Creating the Conditions for School Improvement: A Handbook of Staff Development Activities. London: David Fulton Publishers.
- Ajayi, I. A. (2002). Performance analysis of secondary education system in Nigeria. *Journal of Contemporary Issues in Education*, 1(1), 109-115.
- Ajayi, I. A., & Oguntoye, H. O. (2003). Motivation as correlate of teachers' job performance in Ogun State secondary schools. UNAD Journal of Education, 1(3), 155-162.
- Ajayi, K. (Ed.). (1997). Educational Leadership and the Decision-Making Process in a Depressed Economy. Lagos: Malthouse Press.
- **Akomolafe, C. O.** (2012). A comparative study of principals' administrative effectiveness in public and private secondary schools in Ekiti State. *Journal of Education and Practice, 3*(13), 39-45
- Akpa, O. G. (2002). The 21st Century Principal in Nigeria. Jos-Nigeria: ICHEJUM.
- Alexander, V., Cronin, A., Moran-Ellis, J., Fielding, J., & Thomas, H. (Eds.). (2008). *Mixed Methods* (3rd ed.). London: Sage.
- Allix, N. M. (2000). Transformational leadership: democratic or despotic? *Educational Management Administration & Leadership, 28*, 7–20.
- Amatea, E. S., & West-Olatunji, C. A. (2007). Joining the conversation about educating our poorest children: Emerging leadership roles for school counselors in high poverty schools. *Professional School Counselor*, 11, 81–89. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.5330/PSC.n.2010-11.81
- Anderson, L., & Bennett, N. (2003). Developing Educational Leadership: Using Evidence for Policy and Practice. London, Thousand Oaks, Calif.: Sage Publications.
- Anyaegbu, R., Dana, E. C., & Chen, J. (2004). The challenges of rural education in Nigeria: potential lessons from

China. Teaching and Learning in Diverse Settings, 1(2), 160-174.

- **Arikewuyo, O.** (2007). Teachers' perception of principals leadership capacities in Nigeria. *Academic Leadership, 5*(3), 1–8.
- Arikewuyo, O. M. (2009). Professional training of secondary school principals in Nigeria: A neglected area in the educational system. *Florida Journal of Educational Administration & Policy*, 2(2), 73-84.
- Arogundade, J. (2015) Impact of Catholic education: Achieving and sustaining quality education in Nigeria. In Catholic Secretariat of Nigeria (Eds.) Catholic Education in Nigeria: Proceedings of the Second Summit on Catholic Education in Nigeria (pp. 4-8), Abuja: Sovereign Prints.
- Aspinwall, K. (1998). Leading the Learning School. London: Lemos & Crane.
- **Avolio, B.** (2005). *Leadership Development in Balance: Born / Made.* Mahwah, N.J.: L. Erlboaum.
- Avolio, B. J. & Bass, B. M. (2002). Developing potential across full range of leadership. New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Avolio, B. J., & Gardner, W. (2005). Authentic leadership development: Getting to the root of positive forms of leadership. *Leadership Quarterly*, *16*, 315–338. doi:10.1016/j.leaqua.2005.03.
- Barber, K. W. (2013). Perceptions of elementary school principals: Turning high-poverty elementary schools in South Carolina into high-performing elementary schools. (Doctoral dissertation, University of South Carolina).
- **Barker, B.** (1990). The Cambridgeshire Management Workshop-Professional Development and Practical Guidance for School Life in the 90's. England: Peter Francis
- **Barker, B.** (2005). *Transforming Schools: Illusion or Reality*. England and USA: Trentham Books Ltd.
- Barth, R. (1990). Improving Schools from Within: Teachers, Parents and Principals can Make a Difference. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- **Bass, B. M.** (1981). *Stogdill's Handbook of Leadership.* New York: The Free Press.

#### 196 Effective School Leadership in a Disadvantaged Area

- **Bass, B.M.** (1985). Leadership and performance beyond expectations. New York: The Free Press.
- **Bass, B. M.** (1990). Bass and Stogdill's Handbook of Leadership: Theory, Research, and Managerial Applications (3rd ed.). New York: The Free Press.
- Bass, B. M., & Avolio, B. J. (Eds.). (1993). Transformational Leadership: A Response to Critiques. San Diego: Academic Press.
- Bass, B. M., & Avolio, B. J. (1994). Improving Organisational Effectiveness Through Transformational Leadership. Thousand Oaks, California, USA.: Sage.
- Bass, B. M., & Steidlemeier, P. (1999). Ethnics, character, and authentic transformational leadership behaviour. *Leadership Quarterly*, 10(2), 181–217.
- Beare, H., Caldwell, B., & Millikan, R. H. (1989). Creating an Excellent School. London, New York: Routledge.
- **Belcastro, A. T.** (2015). Rebalancing quality education in a democratic society. *Creative Education, 6,* 428-439. doi:10.4236/ce.2015.64043
- Bell, L., Bolam, R., & Cubillo, L. (2002). A systematic review of the impact of school leadership and management on student/pupil outcomes. *Research Evidence in Education Library*, 1(1), 4-14.
- **Bello, U. G.** (2008). Educational reforms in Nigeria: successive years of inconsistencies and confusions. *Gusau Educational Development Association*, 1(1), 1-21.
- Bennett, N., & Anderson, L. (2003). Rethinking Educational Leadership- Challenging the Conventions. London: SAGE Publications.
- Bennett, N., Crawford, M., & Cartwright, M. (2003). Effective Educational Leadership London: The Open University in association with Paul Chapman Publishing.
- **Bennis, W.** (2000). *Managing the dream: Reflections on Leadership and Change*. Cambridge, M.A.: Perseus.
- Bennis, W., & Nanus, B. (1985). *Leaders: The Strategies for Taking Charge*. New York, U.S.A: Harper & Row.
- **Belcastro, A. T.** (2015). Rebalancing quality education in a democratic society. *Creative*

- **Berg, B. L.** (2009). *Qualitative research methods for the social sciences.* Boston, Massachusetts: Allyn & Bacon.
- Bergner, P. D. (2008). Developing a Mentoring Framework to Enhance Leadership Growth for Management. Canada: Royal road University.
- **Bifuh-Ambe, E.** (2013). Developing successful writing teachers: Outcomes of professional development exploring teachers' perceptions of themselves as writers and writing teachers and their students' attitudes and abilities to write across the curriculum. *English Teaching, 12(3),* 137-156. Retrieved from http://education.waikato.ac.nz
- **Bishay, A.** (1996). Teacher motivation and job satisfaction: a study employing the experience sample method. *Journal of Undergraduate Science, 3*, 147–154.
- Black, H., Govinda, R., Kiragu, F., & Devine, M. (1993). School Improvement in the Developing World. Edinburgh: The Scottish Council for Research in Education.
- Blase, & Blase. (2000). Effective instructional leadershipteachers' perspectives on how principals promote teaching and learning in schools. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 38(2), 130-141.
- Blase, J., & Anderson, G. L. (1995). The Micropolitics of Educational Leadership: From Control to Empowerment. New York: Teachers College Press.
- **Blatchford, R. (Ed.).** (1985). *Managing the Secondary School.* London: Bell & Hyman.
- Block, P. (1996). Stewardship. San Francisco: Berrett- Koehler.
- Bolam, R., & Deal, T. E. (1991). *Reframing Organizations*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Bolam, R., McMahon, A., Pocklington, K., & Weindling, D. (1993). Effective Management in Schools. London: HMSO.
- **Bottery, M.** (2001). Globalisation and the UK competition state: no room for transformational leadership in education? *School Leadership and Management, 21*(2), 199-218.
- Briggs, A. (2003). Finding the balance: exploring the organic and mechanical dimensions of middle manager roles in English further education colleges. *Educational Management and Administration*, 31(4), 421-436.
- Brighouse, T. (1991). What Makes a Good School. Stafford: Network Education Press.
- Brighouse, T., & Woods, D. (1999). *How to Improve Your School.* . London New York: Routledge.
- Brookover, W. B., Brendy, C., Flood, P., Schweitzer, J., & Wisenbaker. (1979). School, Socials System and Students Achievement: School Can Make a Difference. New York: Preveger.
- Brown, M., Rutherford, D., & Boyle, B. (2000). Leadership for school improvement: The role of the head of department in UK secondary schools. *School Effectiveness and School Improvement*, 11(2), 237-258.
- **Brown, A. A. (2012).** Turnaround schools: Practices used by nationally recognized principals to improve student achievement in high-poverty schools (Doctoral dissertation, The University of Memphis).
- Brundrett, M. (1999). Principles of School Leadership. United Kingdom: Peter Francis Publishers.
- Brundrett, M., Burton, N., & Smith, R. (2003). Leadership in *Education*. London: SAGE Publications.
- **Buhler, P.** (1995). Leaders vs Managers. *Supervision*, *56*(5), 131-142. Thousand Oaks, Calif.: SAGE Publications.
- Burns, J. M. (1978). Leadership. New York: Harper & Row.
- **Bush, T.** (1986). *Theories of Educational Management*. London: Harper and Row.
- **Bush, T.** (1995). *Theories of Educational Management* (2nd ed.). London: P. Chapman Pub.
- **Bush, T.** (2003). *Theories of Educational Leadership and Management* (3rd ed.). London, Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications.
- **Bush, T.** (2008). *Leadership and Management Development in Education* London: SAGE Publications
- **Bush, T.** (2011). *Theories of Educational Leadership and Management*. London: Sage.
- Bush, T., & Bell, L. (2002). *The Principles and Practice of Educational Management*. London, Thousand Oaks, Calif: Paul Chapman Pub & Sage Publications.
- Bush, T., Bell, L., Bolam, R., Glatter, R., & Ribbins, P. (1999). Educational Management: Redefining Theory, Policy and Practice. London: Paul Chapman Publishing.
- Bush, T., & Coleman, M. (2000). Leadership and Strategic Management in Education. London: Paul Chapman Publishing.

- Bush, T., & Heystek, J. (2006). School leadership and management in South Africa: principals' perceptions. *International Studies in Educational Administration*, 34(3), 63-76.
- Bush, T., & Jackson, D. (2002). Preparation for school leadership: international perspectives. *Educational Management and Administration*, 30(4), 417-429.
- Bush, T., & Middlewood, D. (1997). *Managing People in Education*. London: Paul Chapman Publishing Ltd.
- Bush, T., & Middlewood, D. (2005). Leading and Managing People in Education. London, Thousand Oaks, Calif: SAGE.
- Bush, T., & Oduro, G. K. T. (2006). New principals African: Preparation, induction and practice. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 44(4), 359–375.
- Bush, T., & West-Burnham, J. (1994). The Principles of Educational Management. London: Pitman
- **Busher, H.** (2006). Understanding Educational Leadership People, Power and Culture. England: Open University press.
- Busher, H., Harris, A., & Wise, C. (2000). Subject Leadership and School Improvement. London: Paul Chapman Publishing.
- Caldwell, B., & Spinks, J. (1992). Leading the Self-Managing School. London: Falmer Press.
- **Caldwell, B. J.** (2010). Strategies for leadership in a high stakes game. *International Studies in Educational Administration*, 38(1), 87-97.
- Cardak, B. A. &Vecci, J. (2013). Catholic school effectiveness in Australia: A reassessment using selection on observed and unobserved variables. *Economics of Education Review*, 37, 34-45
- **Cardona, P.** (2000). Transcendental Leadership. *The Leadership and Organisation Development, 21*(4), 201–206
- **Catholic Secretariat of Nigeria** (2014). Catholic education in Nigeria- Proceedings of the first summit on Catholic education in Nigeria. Abuja: Sovereign Prints.
- Cattaro, G. M., & Cooper, B. S. (2007). Developments in Catholic schools in the USA: Politics, policy and prophecy. In G. Grace & J. O'Keefe (Eds.), *International handbook of Catholic education: Challenges for schools in the* 21st century (pp. 61-83). Dordrecht, Netherlands: Springer.

- **Celikten, M.** (2001). The instructional leadership tasks of high school assistant principals. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, *39*(1), 67-76.
- **Centre for Educational Research and Innovation.** (2001). *New School Management Approaches.* Paris: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development.
- **Certo, S.** (1980). Principles of Modern Management Functions and Systems. USA: Wm. C. Brown Company.
- **Chapman, C.** (Ed.). (2003). Building the Leadership Capacity for School Improvement. London, New York: RoutledgeFalmer.
- **Chapman, C.** (2004). A Study of External Intervention and School Improvement in Schools Facing Challenging Circumstances. Warwick University, Coventry.
- **Chapman, C.** (2005). *Improving School Through External Intervention*. London: Continuum international Publishing Group.
- Chapman, C. & Harris, A. (2004). Improving schools in difficult and challenging contexts: Strategies for improvement. *Journal of Educational Research*, 46(3), 219–228. doi: 10.1080/0013188042000277296
- Clarke, S. &Wildy, H. (2004). Context counts:Viewing small school leadership from the inside out. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 42(5), 555–572. doi.org/10.1108/09578230410554061
- **Chirichello, M.** (1999). Building capacity for change: transformational leadership for school principals. Paper presented at the ICSEI.
- **Coban, L.** (1988). *The Managerial Imperative and the Practice of Leadership in Schools.* Albany, New York: State University of New York Press
- Cohen- Zada, D. & Elder, T. (2009). Historical religious concentrations and the effects of Catholic schooling. *Journal of Urban Economics, 66*, 65-74. doi:10.1016/j.jue.2009.04.002
- **Colby, T.** (2014). Faculty perceptions of a high-poverty, high-performing school (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from https://dspace.creighton.edu/xmlui/ handle/10504/49890

- **Cole, G. A.** (1986). *Management Theory and Practice*. Eastleigh: DP Publication Limited.
- **Coleman, M. (Ed.).** (1994). *Leadership in Educational Management*. England: Longman.
- **Coleman, M. (Ed.).** (1994). *Leadership in Educational Management*. London: Financial Time management.
- **Cole-Henderson, B.** (2000). Organizational characteristics of schools that successfully serve low-income urban African American students. *Journal of Education for Students Placed At Risk*, 5, 77–91. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/ 10824669.2000.9671381.
- **Coles, M., & Southworth, G.** (2005). *Developing Leadership: Creating the Schools of Tomorrow.* England: Open University press.
- Connolly, M., & James, C. (2006). Collaboration for school improvement: A resource dependency and institutional framework of analysis. *Educational Management Administration and Leadership, 34*(1), 69–87. doi: 10.1177/1741143206059540
- **Cotton, K.** (1996). School Size, School Climate, and Student performance. *School Improvement Research Series*.
- Cowie, M., & Crawford, M. (2007). Principal preparation- stills an act of faith? *School Leadership & Management*, 27(2), 129-146.
- **Crawford, M.** (2009). *Getting to the Heart of Leadership: Emotion and the Educational Leader.* Los Angeles, London: SAGE.
- Crawford, M., Lesley, K., & Colin, R. (Eds.). (1997). Leadership and Teams in Educational Management. Buckingham and Philadelphia: Open University Press.
- Creemers, B. (1994). The Effective Classroom. London: CASSELL.
- Creemers, B. P. M., & Reezigt, G. J. (2005). Linking school effectiveness and school improvement: The background and outline of the project. *School Effectiveness and School Improvement*, 16(4), 359-371.
- Cunningham, W. G., & Cordeiro, P. A. (2006). Educational Leadership- A Problem- Based Approach. Boston: Pearson Education.
- **Dadey, A., & Harber, C.** (1991). *Training and Professional Support for Headship in Africa*. London: Commonwealth Secretariat Education Programme.

- Dalin, P., Ayono, T., Brazen, A., Dibaba, B., Jahan, M., & Miles, M. (1994). *How Schools Improve: An International Report.* London: CASSELL.
- **Danielson, C.** (2007). Enhancing professional practice: A framework for teaching. Alexandria, VA: Association for the Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- **Davies, B.** (2009). *The Essentials of School Leadership* (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.
- **Dawson, M.** (2007, September). School vision and mission statements: What do they mean to the work of teachers? Paper presented at the ACEL New Imagery for schools and schooling: Challenging, Creating, and Connecting Conference, Darling Harbour, Sydney, NS
- **Day, C. (Ed.).** (2003). *Successful leadership in the twenty-first century*. New York and London: RoutledgeFalmer.
- Day, C., Harris, A., Hadfield, M., Tolley, H., & Beresford, J. (2000). *Leading Schools in Times of Change*. Buckingham: Open University Press.
- Day, C. (2012). New lives of teachers. *Teacher Education Quarterly,* 39(1), 7-26. Retrieved from <u>http://www.teqjournal.org/</u>
- **Day, C.** (2004). The passion of successful leadership. School Leadership and Management, 24(4), 425-437. doi.org/10.1080/13632430410001316525
- Day, D.V., & Antonakis, J. (2012). The nature of leadership (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- **De Bevoise, W.** (1984). Synthesis of research on the principal as instructional leader. *Educational Leadership*, *41*, 14–20.
- DeRue, D. S., Nahrgang, J. D. Wellman, N., & Humphrey, S. E. (2011). Trait and behavioral theories of leadership: An integration and meta-analytic test of their relative validity. *Personnel Psychology*, 64(1), 7-52
- **Devos, G.** (2009). An exploratory study on principals' conceptions about their role as school leaders. *Leadership and Policy in Schools, 8,* 173–196. doi: 10.1080/15700760902737196
- **Deal, T. E.** (1990). Reframing reform. *Educational Leadership*, 47(8), 6-12.
- **Dean, J.** (1999). *Improving the Primary School*. London, New York: Routledge.

Buckingham: Open University Press.
<b>Denscombe, M.</b> (2007). <i>The Good Research Guide for Small-Scale</i>
Social Research Projects (3 ed.). England: Open University
Press.
Denzin, N. K., & Lincolin, Y., S. (2005). The Sage Handbook of
Qualitative Research (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, London:
Sage Publication.
Dimmock, C., & Wildy, H. (1995). Conceptualising curriculum
management in an effective secondary school; a Western
Australian case study. Curriculum Journal, 6(5), 297-323.
<b>Dimmock, C. A. J., &amp; Walker, A.</b> (2005). Educational Leadership:
Culture and Diversity. London, Thousand Oaks, Calif.:
SAGE Publications.
Dinham, S. (2005). Principal leadership for outstanding
educational outcomes. Educational Administration, 43(4),
338-356.
Donnelly, J. H. J., Gibson, J. L., & Ivancevich, J. M. (1987).
Fundamentals of Management. Illinois: Business Publications
Inc

**Denscombe, M.** (2002). Ground Rules for Good Research.

- Dorling, K., & Oxford University. (Eds.). (2003) Illustrated Oxford Dictionary. London: Dorling Kindersley & Oxford University Press
- Drysdale, L. & Gurr, D. (2011). The theory and practice of successful school leadership in Australia. *School Leadership and Management*, 13(4), 355-368.
- **Duke, D.** (2006). What we know and don't know about improving low-performing schools. *Phi Delta Kappan,* 87(10), 728-734.
- Duke, D. L., Tucker, P. D., Salmonowicz, M. J., & Levy, M. (2006). The challenges facing principals of low-performing schools? *Educational Practice and Theory*, 28(2), 5–25. doi: org/10.7459/ept/28.2.02
- **Dumay, X.** (2009). Origins and consequences of schools' organizational culture for student achievement. *Educational Administration Quarterly, 45*(4), 523–555. doi: 10.1177/0013161x09335873
- Dunford, J., Fawcett, R., & Bennett, D. (2000). School Leadership- National, International Perspectives. London Kogan Page limited.

- **Dunham, J.** (1995). *Developing Effective School Management*. London: Routledge.
- **Dunn, D. S.** (2009). *Research Methods for Social Psychology*. Malden, MA: Wiley-Blackwell.
- Eberts, R. W., Schwartz, E. K., & Stones, J. A. (1990). School reform, school size and student achievement. *Economic Review*, 26(2), 2.
- Edo State, (2010). Profile of Edo State. Retrieved from, http://edostate.gov.ng/history.php
- **Edem, D. A.** (1982). *Introduction to Educational Administration*. Nigeria: John Wiley and sons.
- **Egwu, S. O.** (2015). Principals' performance in supervision of classroom instruction in Ebonyi State secondary schools. *Journal of Education and Practice*, *6*(15), 99-105
- Ehisuoria, S.E. & Aigbokhaebho, E.I. (2014). Strategies for rural poverty reduction in Ekpoma region of Edo State, Nigeria. *Research on Humanities and Social Sciences*, 4(9), 100-108
- **Ekundayo, H. T.** (2010). Administering Secondary schools in Nigeria for Quality Output in the 21st century: The Principals' Challenge. *European Journal of Educational Studies, 2*(3), 187-192.
- **Elmore, R.** (2000). *Building a New Structure for School Leadership.* Washington, DC: Albert Shanker Institute.
- **Elmore, R.** (2004). School Reform from the Inside Out: Policy, Practice and Performance. Cambridge, MA: Harvard Education press.
- Elmuti, D., Minnis, W., & Abebe, M. (2005). Does education have a role in developing leadership skills? *Management Decision*, 43(7/8), 1081-1031.
- **English, F. W.** (2008). *The Art of Educational Leadership: Balancing Performance and Accountability*. Los Angeles: SAGE Publications.
- **Enueme, C. P., & Egwunyenga, E. J.** (2008). Principals' instructional leadership roles and effect on teachers' job performance: A case study of secondary schools in Asaba Metropolis, Delta State, Nigeria. *Social Science, 16*(1), 13-17.

- Erayoma, A. A. (1990). A Study of Teachers' Perception of the Leadership Role of Secondary School Principals in Edo South Senatorial District of Edo state. University of Benin, Benin city.
- **Evboboru, R. S.** (2006). An Assessment of the Administrative Task Performances of Secondary School Principals in Benin Metropolis. University of Benin, Benin City.
- Everard, K. B., Geoffrey, M., & Ian, W. (2004). Effective School Management. London: Paul Chapman Publishing.
- **Everard, K. B., & Morris, G.** (1996). *Effective School Management*. London: Paul Chapman Publishing.
- Eyike, R. E. (1981). An Evaluation of the Supervisory Roles of Secondary Grammar School Principals in Bendel State, Nigeria. University of Benin, Benin city.
- **Federal Ministry of Education.** (2000). Comprehensive Education Analysis Project (Secondary Data report). Abuja: FGN/UNICEF/UNSCO/UNDP.
- **Federal Ministry of Education.** (2003). *Education Sector Status Report*. Abuja: FME.
- **Federal Republic of Nigeria.** (1998). *The National Policy on Education*. Lagos: NERDC Press.
- **Federal Republic of Nigeria.** (2004). *The National Policy on Education*. Lagos: NERDC Press.
- Fidler, B. (2002). Strategic Management for School Development: Leading your School's Improvement Strategy. London: P. Chapman Pub.
- Fidler, B., & Atton, T. (2004). The Headship Game- The Challenges of Contemporary School Leadership. London, New York: RoutlegeFalmer.
- Figueroa, J. P. (1981). Writing Research Reports. UK: University of Nottingham.
- Fink, D. (1999). The Attrition of Change. School Effectiveness and School Improvement, 10(3), 269–295.
- Fink, D. (2005). Leadership for Mortals : Developing and Sustaining Leaders of Learning. London, Thousand Oaks, Calif.: Paul Chapman & Corwin.
- Fleming, J., & Kleinhene, E. (2007). Towards a Moving School-Developing a Professional Learning and Performance Culture. Australia: ACER Press.

- Foreman, K. (Ed.). (1998). Vision and Mission. London: Paul Chapman Publishing.
- Foskett, N., & Lumby, J. (2003). Leading and managing Education: International Dimensions. London: Paul Chapman.
- **Foster, R.** (2005). Leadership and Secondary School Improvement: Case Studies of Tensions and Possibilities (No. 8).
- Fullan, M. (2007). *Leading in a culture of change*. San Francisco, California: Jossey- Bass.
- Fullan, M. (1991). The New Meaning of Education Change. New York: Teachers College Press.
- Fullan, M. (1992). Successful School Improvement- The Implementation Perspective and Beyond. Buckingham: Open University press.
- Fullan, M. (1999). Change Forces: the sequel. London: Falmer.
- **Fullan, M.** (2001). *Leading in a Culture of Change*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- **Fullan, M. (Ed.).** (2003). *Principals in a Culture of Change*. London, New York: Pearson Education.
- Fullan, M. (2008). What's Worth Fighting for in the Principalship? (2nd ed.). New York, Toronto: Teachers College Press & Ontario Principals' Council.
- Fullan, M., & Hargareaves, A. (1991). What's Worth Fighting for? Working Together for your School. Toronto: Ontario Public School Teachers' Federation.
- **Fullan, M. G.** (1991). *The New Meaning of Educational Change*. London: CASSELL.
- Gamage, D., Adams, D., & McCormack, A. (2009). How does school leader's role influence student achievement? A review of research findings and best practices. Retrieved from http://cnx.org/content/m19751/latest/
- **Gardner, H.** (2010). *Howard Gardner's definition of leadership.* Retrieved from

http://www.newhorizons.org/trans/gardner.htm. Gardner, J. W. (1990). On Leadership. New York: Free press.

Garza, E., Drysdale, L., Gurr, D., Jacobson, S., & Merchant,
B. (2014). Leadership for school success: lessons from effective principals. *International Journal of Educational Management*, 28, 798-811. doi:10.1108/IJEM-08-2013-0125

- Glanz, J. & Sullivan, S. (2009). Supervision that improves teaching and learning: Strategies and techniques. Thousand Oaks, California: Corwin Press.
- Glickman, C. D., Gordon, S. P., & Ross-Gordon, J. M. (1995). Supervision of Instruction: A Developmental Approach (3rd ed.). Boston, MA: Allyn and Bacon.
- Goddard, T. J. (Ed.). (2003). *Leadership in the (post) Modern Era*. London: SAGE Publications.
- Gold, A., Evans, J., Earley, P., Halpin, D., & Collarbone, P. (2003). Principles Principals? Values-driven Leadership: Evidence from ten case studies of "Outstanding " school leaders. *Educational Management and Administration*, 31(2), 127-137.
- Goldring, E., & Pasternak, R. (1994). Principals' coordinating strategies and school effectiveness School Effectiveness and School Improvement, 5(3), 239–253.
- Gomez-mejia, L., Balkin, D. B., & Cardy, R. L. (2005). Management. New York: McGraw Hill.
- Gordon, S. P. (Ed.). (1997). Has the Field of Supervision Evolved to a Point that it Should be Called Something Else. Norwood, MA: Christopher-Gordon.
- **Gordon, S. P.** (2004). Professional development for school improvement: Empowering learning communities. Boston, MA: Pearson.
- **Grace, G.** (1995). School Leadership: Beyond Education Management -An Essay in policy Scholarship. London: The Falmer Press.
- Gray, J., Goldstein, H., & Jesson, D. (1996). Changes and improvement in school effectiveness. Oxford Review of Education, 16(2), 137-156.
- Gray, J., Hopkins, D., Reynolds, D., Wilcox, B., Farrel, S., & Jesson, D. (1999). *Improving School: Performance and Potential*. Buckingham, UK: Open University Press.
- Gray, J., Reynolds, D., Fitzgibbon, C. T., & Jesson, D. (1999). Merging Traditions: The Future of Research on School Effectiveness and School Improvement. London: CASSELL.
- **Greenfield Jr, W. D.** (2004). Moral Leadership in Schools. *Educational Administration*, 42(2), 174-196.
- **Greenfield, W. D.** (1987). Instructional Leadership: Concepts, Issues, and Controversies. Boston, MA: Allyn & Bacon.
- **Gromm, Z.** (2008). The Effects of Attendance on Student Achievement. California: California State University.

- **Gronn, P.** (1999). *The Making of Educational Leaders*. London, New York: CASSELL.
- Gronn, P. (Ed.). (2002). Distributed Leadership. Kluwer: Dordrecht.
- Gronn, P. (Ed.). (2003). Distributing and Intensifying School Leadership. London, Thousand Oaks, Calif.: Sage Publications.
- Gronn, P. (2008). The future of distributed leadership. *Educational* Administration, 46(2), 141-158.
- **Groves, C. M.** (2016). Educational leadership characteristics of rural high school principals and graduation rates. (Doctoral Dissertation). Walden University, Minneapolis, Minnesota, USA
- **Gunter, H.** (2001). *Leaders and Leadership in Education*. London: Paul Chapman Publishing.
- Gunter, H. (2005). *Leading Teachers*. London, New York: Continuum.
- **Gunter, H.** (2001). Critical approaches to leadership in education. *Educational Enquiry, 2*(2), 94–102.
- Gurr, D., Lawrie, D., & Bill, M. (2006). Model of successful principal leadership. *School Leadership and Management*, 26(4), 371-395.
- Gurr, D., Drysdale, L. and Mulford, B. (2005). Successful principal leadership: Australian case studies. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 43(6), 539-551. doi.org/10.1108/09578230510625647
- Guruchandra, K. R. (2009). What makes a good leader? Exploring uncharted waters. Retrieved November, 2015, from http://www.karthikrajg.com/2009/09/whatmakes-agood-leader/ Habyarimana.
- **Hallinger, P.** (2003). Leading Educational Change: Reflections on the practice of Instructional and Transformational Leadership. *Cambridge Journal of Education*, *33*(3), 329–352.
- Hallinger, P., & Heck, R. (1996). Reassessing the principal's role in school effectiveness: A review of empirical research 1980-1995. Educational Administration Quarterly, 32(1), 5-44.
- Hallinger, P., & Heck, R. (1998). Exploring the principal's contribution to school effectiveness: 1980-1995. School Effectiveness and School Improvement, 9(1), 157-191.

- Hallinger, P., & Heck, R. N. (1998). Exploring the principal's contribution to school effectiveness. *School Effectiveness and School Improvement*, 9(2), 157-191.
- Hansford, B., & Ehrich, L. C. (2005). The Principalship: How significant is mentoring. *Journal of Educational* Administration, 44(1), 36-52.
- Harber, C., & Davies, L. (1997). School Management and Effectiveness in Developing Countries - The Post-Bureaucratic school. London, New York: CONTINUUM.
- Hargareaves, A. (1994). *Changing Teachers: Changing Times*. London: CASSELL.
- Hargareaves, A., & Fink, D. (2004). The seven principles of sustainable leadership. *Educational Leadership*, 61(7), 8-13.
- Hargareaves, A., & Hopkins, D. (1991). The Empowered School: The Management and Practice of Development Planning London: CASSELL.
- Hargreaves, D. H. (1999). Creative Professionalism: The Role of Teachers in the Knowledge Society. London: Demos.
- Harri, V. (2011). The impact of leadership on student achievement in high poverty schools. (Unpublished doctoral dissertation), University Southern California
- Harris, A. (2000). What works in school improvement? Lessons from the field and future directions. *Educational Research*, 42(1), 1-11.
- Harris, A. (Ed.). (2001). Contemporary Perspectives on School Effectiveness and School Improvement - Alternative Perspectives. London: Continuum.
- Harris, A. (2002). School Improvement: What's in it for Schools? London, New York: Routledge Falmer.
- Harris, A. (2004). Distributed leadership and school improvement: Leading or misleading? *Educational Management Administration and Leadership*, 32(1), 11-24.
- Harris, A. (2005). Leading or misleading? Distributed leadership and school improvement. *Journal of Curriculum Studies*, 37(3), 255-265.
- Harris, A., & Bennett, N. (Eds.). (2001). School Effectiveness and School Improvement: Alternative Perspectives. New York, London: Continuum.

- Harris, A., & Chapman, C. (2002). Democratic leadership for school improvement in challenging contexts. *Leadership in Learning*, 6(9), 1-9.
- Harris, A., & Chrispeels, J. (2006). Improving Schools and Educational Systems: International Perspectives. New York: Routledge.
- Harris, A., Day, C., Hopkins, D., Hadfield, M., Hargareaves, A., & Chapman, C. (2003). *Effective Leadership for School Improvement.* London, New York: Routledge Falmer.
- Harris, A., Gunraj, J., Sue, J., Clarke, P., & Harris, B. (2006). Improving Schools in Exceptionally Challenging Circumstances-Tales from the Frontline. London, New York: Continuum International Publishing group.
- Harris, A., & Hopkins, D. (2000). Alternative perspectives on school improvement. *School Leadership & Management*, 20(1), 9-15.
- Harris, A., Ian, J., & Jen, R. (1996). School Effectiveness and School Improvement: A Practical Guide. London: Pitman Publishing.
- Harris, A., & Lambert, L. (2003). Building Leadership Capacity for School Improvement. England, USA: Open University press.
- Harris, A., & Muijs, D. (2005). Improving Schools Through Teacher Leadership. England: Open University press.
- Harris, A., & Townsend, A. (2007). Developing leaders for tomorrow: releasing system potential. *School Leadership* and Management, 27(2), 167–177.
- Hartas, D. (Ed.). (2010). *Quantitative Research as a Method of Inquiry in Education*. London and New York: Continuum International Publishing Group.
- Hartas, D. (Ed.). (2010). Survey Research in Education. London and New York: Continuum International Publishing Group.
- Hautala, T. M. (2006). The relationship between personality and transformational leadership. *Management Development*, 25(8), 777-794.
- Haydon, G. (2007). Values for Educational Leadership. London: SAGE Publications.
- Heck, R. H., & Hallinger, P. (2005). The study of educational leadership and management: Where does the field stand

today? Educational Management Administration Leadership, 33(2), 229-244.

- Heck, R. H. & Hallinger, P. (2014). Modeling the longitudinal effects of school leadership on teaching and learning. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 52(5), 653-68. doi.org/10.1108/JEA-08-2013-0097
- Hiebert, J., & Stigler, J. W. (2000). A proposal for improving classroom teaching: lessons from the times video study. . *The Elementary School Journal*, 10(1), 3-20.
- Herman, R. D. (2008). Turning around chronically low-performing schools: A practice guide. Washington, DC: National Center for Education Evaluation and Regional Assistance, Institute of Education Sciences, U.S. Department of Education
- Hersey, P., & Blanchard, K.H. (1977). Management of organization behavior: Utilizing human resources (3rd ed.). Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall. Hersey
- Hine, G. S. C. (2013). The importance of action research in teacher education programs. *Educational Research*, 23(2), 151-163
- Hitt, D. H. & Tucker, P. D. (2016). Systematic review of key leader practices found to influence student achievement: A unified framework. *Review of Educational Research*, 86 (2), 531–569. DOI: 10.3102/0034654315614911
- Hodgman, M. R. (2012). Boundaries and applications: The teacher quality debate in America. *Journal of College Teaching & Learning*, 9, 223-228. doi:10.19030/tlc.v9i3.7088
- Hoff, D. L., Yoder, N., & Hoff, P. S. (2006). Preparing educational leaders to embrace the "public" in public schools. *Educational Administration*, 44(3), 239-249.
- Holmes, G. (1993). Essential School Leadership- Developing Vision and Purpose in Management. London: Kogan page Ltd.
- Hoog, J., & Johansson, O. (2006). Successful principalship: the Swedish case. *Educational Administration*, 43(6), 595–606.
- Hopkins, D. (Ed.). (1996). Towards theory for school improvement. London: CASSELL.
- Hopkins, D. (2001). *School Improvement for Real*. London, New York: Routledge Falmer.

- **Hopkins, D.** (2002). *Improving the Quality of Education for All.* London: David Fulton.
- Hopkins, D. (Ed.). (2003). *Instructional Leadership and School Improvement*. London, New York: Routledge Falmer.
- Hopkins, D. (2003). Leadership and School Improvement. In Harris, A., Day, C., Hopkins, D., Hadfield, M., Hargareaves, A., & Chapman, C. (eds.), *Effective leadership for school improvement, (p.55-72)*. London: Routledge Falmer.
- Hopkins, D., Ainscow, M., & West, M. (1994). School Improvement in an Era of Change. New York: Teachers College Press.
- Hopkins, D., Harris, A., & Jackson, D. (1997). 'Understanding the school's capacity for development: Growth states and strategies.' *School Leadership & Management, 17*(3), 401– 411.
- Hopkins, D., & Lagerweij, N. (Eds.). (1996). The School Improvement Knowledge Base. London and New York: Routledge.
- Horg, E. & Loeb, S. (2010). New thinking about instructional leadership. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 92(3), 66-69.
- House, R. J. (1971). A path-goal theory of leadership effectiveness. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, *16*(5), 321-328.
- House, R. J., & Aditya, R. N. (1997). The Social Scientific Study of Leadership: Quo Vadis. *Journal of Management*, 23(3).
- House, R. J., Woycke, J., & Fodor, E. M. (Eds.). (1988). Charismatic and Non Charismatic Leader: Differences in Behaviour and Effectiveness. San Francisco, USA: Jossey-Bass.
- Hoyle, E., & Wallace, M. (2005). Educational Leadership: Ambiguity, Professionals and Managerialism. London: Sage Publications
- Huber, S. (Ed.). (2004a). *Context of Research*. London: RoutledgeFalmer.
- Huber, S. G. (2004). School leadership and leadership development: Adjusting leadership theories and

development programme to values and the core purpose of school. *School Leadership & Development, 42*(6), 669-684.

- Huber, S. G., & West, M. (Eds.). (2002). Developing School Leaders: A critical review of current practices, approaches and issues and some directions for the future (2 ed.). Dordrecht: Kluwer.
- Huffman, J. B., & Hipp, K. K. (2004). *Reculturing schools as* professional learning communities. Lanham, MD: Scarecrow Education.
- Hult, A. C., & Homan, S. R. (2005). Growing leaders. *Industrial* and commercial Training, 37(3), 120–123.
- **Ijeoma, M. E. (Ed.).** (2004). *The Administrative Leader*. Benin City: Festa printing press.
- Imhangbe, S. (2011). Impact of principal leadership on Catholic high school students' academic achievement in Edo State, Nigeria. (Unpublished doctoral dissertation), New York: Fordham University.
- Itaman, T. (2007). Educational panaceas for school improvement. Nigeria: FOJO "B" Printers.
- Jackson, D. (2000). The school improvement journey: perspectives on leadership. *School Leadership and Management, 20*(1), 61-79.
- Jacbos, R. (2002). Authority and decision making in Catholic schools. Washington, DC: National Catholic Educational Association
- Jacobson, S. (2011). Leadership effects on student achievement and sustained school success. *International Journal of Educational Management*, 25, 33-44. doi:10.1108/09513541111100107
- Jacobson, S. L., Johnson, L., Ylimaki, R. & Giles, C. (2005). Successful leadership in challenging US school: Enabling principals, enabling school. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 43(6), 607-618. doi: 10.1108/09578230510625700.
- Janesick, V. J. (2011). "Stretching" exercises for qualitative researchers (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Jean-Marie, G., & Sider, S. (2014). Educational leadership in a fragile state: Insights from Haiti/leadership

éducationneldans un état fragile : Aperçusd'haïti. *Canadian and International Education*, 43(1), 1-15. Retrieved from http://ir.lib.uwo.ca/cie-eci/

- **Jimoh, B. O.** (2002). The role and expectations of the principal in school community relations. *Journal of Human Movement*, 2(1), 73-86.
- Jones, C., & Pound, L. (2008). Leadership and Management in the Early Years - From Principles to Practice. England: Open University Press.
- Kanter, R. B. (Ed.). (1996). *The New Managerial Work*. Boston, Mass: Harvard Business School.
- Karstanje, P., & Webber, C. F. (2008). Programmes for school principal preparation in East Europe. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 46(6), 739-751.
- Keller, T., & Olson, W. (2000). The Advisability of Outdoor Leadership Training: Caveat Emptor. *Review of Business*, 21(1), 1-2.
- Kelly, A. (Ed.) (2008). The Routledge International Encyclopaedia of Education. London and New York: Routledge.
- Kitavi, M., & Van der Westhuizen, P. (1997). Problems facing beginning principals in developing countries: a study of beginning principals in Kenyan. *International Journal of Educational Development*, 17(3), 251–263.
- Kotter, J. P. (1990). A Force for Change- How Leadership Differs from Management. New York: The Free Press.
- Kotter, J. P. (Ed.). (1993). What Leaders Really Do. New York: The Free Press.
- Kouzes, J. M., & Posner, B. Z. (2002). Leadership Challenge (3rd ed.). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Kreitner, R. (2001). *Management* (8 ed.). New York: Houghton Mifflin.
- Kreitner, R., & Kinicki, A. (2004). Organizational Behaviour (Vol. 6). New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Krishnan, V. R. (2004). Impact of transformational leadership on followers' influence strategies. *The Leadership and Organisation Development*, 25(1), 58–72.
- Krishnan, V. R. (2005). Transformational leadership and outcomes: Role of relationship duration. *Leadership and*

Organisation Development, 26(6), 442-457.

- Kruger, M. L., Witziers, B., & Sleegers, P. (2007). The impact of School leadership on school level factors: Validation of a causal model. *School Effectiveness and School Improvement*, 18(1), 1-20.
- Kunzle, B., Kolbe, M., & Grote, G. (2010). Ensuring patient safety through effective leadership behavior: A literature review. *Safety Science*, 48, 1-17. doi:10.1016/j.ssci.2009.06.004
- Ladson-Billings, G. (2001). Crossing over to Canaan. The Journey of New Teachers in diverse classrooms. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Lambert, L. (2002). A framework for shared leadership. Educational Leadership, 59(8), 37-40.
- Lambert, L., Walker, D., Zimmerman, D. P., Cooper, J. E., Lambert, M. D., Gardner, M. E., & Szabo, M. (2002). *The Constructivist Leader* (2 ed.). New York, London: Teacher College Press.
- Latchem, C. R., & Hanna, D. E. (2001). Leadership for 21st Century Learning : Global Perspectives from Educational innovators. London, Sterling, VA: Kogan Page Stylus Pub.
- Lauder, H., Jamieson, I., & Wikely, F. (Eds.). (1998). Models of Effectiveness Limits and Capacities. London: Falmer Press.
- Leask, M., & Terrell, I. (1997). Development Planning and School Improvement for Middle Managers. London: Kogan Page Ltd.
- Leithwood, K. (2012). Ontario Leadership Framework with a discussion of the leadership foundations. Ottawa, Ontario, Canada: Institute for Education Leadership, OISE.
- Leithwood, K. (2010). Characteristics of school Districts that are exceptionally effective in closing the achievement gap. *Leadership and Policy in schools, 9.* 245-291. doi.org/10.1080/15700761003731500
- Leithwood, K. (2007). What we know about educational leadership. In J. M.
- Burger, C. F. Webber & P. Klinck (Eds.), Intelligent leadership: Constructs for thinking education leaders (pp. 41-46). Dordrecht, Netherlands: Springer.

- Leithwood, K., Harris, A., & Hopkins, D. (2007). Seven strong claims about successful school leadership. *School Leadership* & Management, 28(1), 27-42.
- Leithwood, K., & Jantzi, D. (2009). A Review of empirical evidence about school size effects: A policy perspective. *Review of Educational Research*, 79(1), 464 – 490.
- Leithwood, K., Jantzi, D., & Fernandez, A. (Eds.). (1994). Transformational Leadership and Teachers' Commitment to Change. California: Corwin Press, Inc.
- Leithwood, K., Jantzi, D., & Steinbach, R. (1999). Changing Leadership for Changing Times. Buckingham: Open University Press.
- Leithwood, K., Leonard, L., & Sharratt, S. (1997). Conditions Fostering Organisational Learning in Schools. Paper presented at the International Congress for School Effectiveness and Improvement.
- Leithwood, K., & Levin, B. (2004). Approaches to the Evaluation of Leadership Programmes and Leadership Effects. London: Department for Education and Skills.
- Leithwood, K., Tomlinson, D., & Genge, M. (Eds.). (1996). *Transformational School Leadership*. Dordrecht: Kluwer Academic.
- Leithwood, K. A. (1992). The Move Toward Transformational Leadership. *Educational Leadership*, 68–72.
- Leithwood, K. A., & Beatty, B. (2008). Leading with Teacher Emotions in Mind. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press.
- Leithwood, K. A., & Jantzi, D. (1997). Explaining variation in teachers' perceptions of principals leadership: A replication. *Educational Administration*, *35*(4), 312-331.
- Leithwood, K. A., & Jantzi, D. (Eds.). (2009). Transformational Leadership (2 ed.). London: SAGE Publications Ltd.
- Leithwood, K. A., Jantzi, D., Earl, L., Warson, N., Levin, B., & Fullan, M. (2004). Strategic leadership for large-scale reform: the case of England's national literacy and numeracy strategy. *School Leadership & Management, 24*(1), 57-79.
- Leithwood, K. A., & Riehl, C. (2003). What We Know About Successful School Leadership. Leithwood, K., Day, C., Sammons, P., Harris, A., & Hopkins, D. (2006). Successful

school leadership: What it is and how it influences pupil learning (Vol. 800). London: Department for Education and Skills (UK)

- Leithwood, K., Patten, S. & Jantzi, D. (2010). Testing a conception of how school leadership influences student learning. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, *46*(5), 671-706. DOI:10.1177/0013161X10377347
- Leithwood, K., & Sun, J. (2012). The nature and effects of transformational school leadership a meta-analytic review of unpublished research. Educational *Administration Quarterly*, 48, 387-423. doi:10.1177/0013161X11436268
- Leithwood, K., & Jantzi, D. (2005). A review of transformational school leadership research 1996–2005. *Leadership & Policy in Schools, 4*, 177–199. DOI:10.1080/15700760500244769
- Leithwood, K., & Jantzi, D. (2008). Linking leadership to student learning: The contributions of leader efficacy. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 44(4), 496–528. doi/abs/10.1177/0013161X08321501
- Leithwood, K. & Riehl, C. (2003) "What do we already know about successful school leadership?" paper prepared for the AERA Division A Task Force on Developing Research in Educational Leadership.
- Leithwood, K., & Riehl, C. (2005). What we know about successful school leadership. In W. Firestone & C. Riehl (Eds.), A new agenda: Directions for research on educational leadership (pp. 22-47). New York: Teachers College
- Levin, H. M., & Lockheed, M. E. (1993). Effective Schools in Developing Countries. London, Washington, D.C.: Falmer Press.
- Lezotte, L. W. (2009). Effective schools: Past, present, and future. Retrieved:

http://aepweb.org/summit/09\_Presentations/Effective\_S chools\_ Lezotte.pdf

- Lezotte, L. W., & Snyder, K. M. (2011). What effective schools do: Re-envisioning the correlates. Bloomington, IN: Solution Tree Press.
- Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1988). Criteria for assessing naturalistic inquiries as reports. Retrieved from http://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED297007.

- Lindahl, R. A. (2007). Why is Leading school improvement such a difficult process. *School Leadership & Management, 27*(4), 319-332.
- Lingard, B., Hayes, D., Mills, M., & Pam, C. (2003). Leading Learning- Making Hope Practical in Schools. Maidenhead, Philadelphia: Open University Press
- Louis, K. S., Dretzke, B. & Wahlstrom, K. (2010). How does leadership affect student achievement? Result from a national US survey. *School Effectiveness and School Improvement*, 21(3), 315-336. doi/abs/10.1080/09243453.2010.486586
- Louis, K. S., & Miles, M. (1990). Improving the Urban High School: What Works and Why? London: CASSELL.
- Lumby, J., & Coleman, M. (2007). *Leadership and Diversity-Challenging Theory and Practice in Education*. . Los Angeles, London: SAGE Publications
- MacBeath, J. (Ed.). (1998). Effective School Leadership: Responding to Change. London: Paul Chapman publishing Ltd.
- MacBeath, J., & Mortimore, P. (Eds.). (2001). Improving School Effectiveness. London, U.S.A: Open University press.
- **MacGilchrist, B. (1995).** *Planning Matters: The Impact of Development Planning in Primary Schools.* London: P. Chapman Pub.
- MacGilchrist, B., Myers, K., & Reed, J. (2004). The Intelligent School. London: SAGA Publications.
- Mannheim, B., & Halamish, H. (2008). Transformational leadership as related to team outcomes and contextual moderation. *Leadership and Organisation Development*, 29(7), 617-630.
- Mark, R. (1996). *Research Made Simple*. London: Sage Publications.
- Marshall, C., & Oliva, M. (2006). Leadership for Social Justice: Making Revolutions in Education. New York: Pearson.
- Marzano, R. (2005). School Leadership that Works: From Research to Results. Alexandria, V.A: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- **Masewicz, S. M.** (2010). School principals: Illuminating the behaviors and practices of effective school principals in challenging public school contexts. (Unpublished doctoral dissertation).

McCall, C., & Lawlor, H. (2000). School Leadership: Leadership Examined: Knowledge and Activities for Effective Practice. London: The Stationery Office. McCallion, P. (1998). The Competent School Manager. London: The Stationery Office. McCauley, D. C., & Velsor, D. E. (2004). The Centre for Creative Leadership Handbook of Leadership Development (2nd ed.). San Francisco, CA.: Jossey-Bass. McREL. (2001). Leadership for School Improvement. New York: RoutledgeFalmer. Merritt, A. D. (2016). Effectiveness of leadership on increasing student achievement in high-poverty school. (Doctoral Dissertation), Chicago State University. Mgbodile, T. (1986). Educational Administration and Supervision. Ibadan: Henemann Educational Books. Middlewood, D., & Lumby, J. (Eds.). (1998). Strategic Management in Schools and Colleges. London: Paul Chapman Publishing Ltd. Miller, E. J. (2015). Personality traits of effective principals on the Central Coast of California. (Doctoral Dissertation), Northcentral University, Prescott Valley, Arizona. Ministry of Education. (2010). Statistical Data for Schools. Lagos: University press. Mitchell, C., & Sackney, L. (2000). Profound Improvement: Building Capacity for a Learning Community. Lisse: Swets and Zeitlinger. Moller, J., Eggen, A., Fuglestad, O. L., Langfeldt, G., Presthus, A., Skrovset, S., Stjernstrom, E. & Vedoy,

- G. (2006). Successful school leadership: the Norwegian case. Educational Administration, 43(6), 584–594.
   Morgan, D. (Ed.). (2008). Pragmatism as a philosophical foundation
- for Mixed Methods Research. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Morgan, D. (Ed.). (2008). Pragmatism as a Philosophical Foundation for Mixed Methods Research. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- **Morrison, K.** (1998). *Management Theories for Educational Change*. London, Thousand Oaks, Calif.: P. Chapman Pub.

- **Mortimore, P.** (1991). School effectiveness research: Which way at the crossroad? *School Effectiveness and School Improvement*, 2(3), 290-310.
- Mortimore, P. (1998). The Road to Improvement: Reflections on School Effectiveness. Lisse, Netherlands: Swets and Zeitlinger.
- **Mortimore, P. (**2000). *Address to School Governors*. London: London Borough of Richmond upon Thomas.
- Mortimore, P., Gopinathan, S., & Leo, E. (2000). The Culture of Change: Case Studies of Improving schools in Singapore and London. London: Institute of Education.
- Mortimore, P., & MacBeath, J. (Eds.). (2003). School Effectiveness and Improvement: The story so Far. London: Paul Chapman Publishing.
- **Moyles, J.** (2006). Effective Leadership and Management in the Early *Years*. England: open University press.
- Mozia, M. (2003). The Predicaments of Adolescents in Nigerian Secondary Schools. Ibadan: Shaneson C.I.
- Mulford, B., Kendall, D., Ewington, J., Edmunds, B., Kendall, L. &Silins, H. (2008). Successful principalship of high-performance schools in high-poverty communities. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 46(4), 161–180. doi/abs/10.1108/09578230810882009
- Mullen, C. A., & Cairns, S. (2001). The Principal's apprentice: Mentoring aspiring school administrators through relevant preparation. *Mentoring & Tutoring*, 9(2), 125-152.
- Mullins, L. J. (2002). Management and Organisational Behaviour. Great Britain: Pearson education.
- **Myers, K.** (1996). School Improvement in Practice: Schools Make a Difference Project. London, Washington, D.C.: Falmer Press.
- National College for school Leadership. (2008). National Professional Qualification for Headship (NPQH).
- National School Climate Council. (2007). The school climate challenge: Narrowing the gap between school climate research and school climate policy, practice guidelines and teacher education policy. Retrieved from http://www.schoolclimate.org/ climate/advocacy.php
- National Center for Effective Schools Research and Development. (2004). Definition of the effective schools process. Retrieved from

http://www.lib.lfc.edu/archives/EffectiveSchoolsDefiniti on.html

Nagy, J, & Fawcett, S. (2011). Proclaiming your dream: Developing vision and mission statements. Retrieved from

http://ctb.ku.edu/en/tablecontents/sub\_section\_main\_1 086.aspx

- Ndongko, T. M. (1984). Principals' Leadership Styles and their Influence on their Relationships with Teachers and Students in Anglophone Cameroon Secondary School. University of Benin, Benin
- Nettles, S. M., & Herrington, C. (2007). Revisiting the importance of the direct effects of school leadership on students' achievement: The implications for school improvement policy. *Peabody Journal of Education*, 84(2), 724-736. doi/abs/10.1080/01619560701603239
- Newmann, F. M., Smith, B., & Allensworth, E. (2001). Instructional program coherence: What it is and why it should guide school improvement. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 23(4), 297-3221.
- **NGA Center for Best Practices.** (2003). *Improving Teaching and Learning by Improving School Leadership.* Education Division
- Nicholls, G. (1997). *Collaborative Change in Education*. London, USA: Kogan page.
- Nicholls, J. (1993). The Paradox of Managerial Leadership. Journal of General Management, 18(4), 1-15.
- Nieto, S. M. (1999). The Light in their Eyes: Creating Multicultural Learning Communities. New York: Teachers College press.
- Nigeria. (1996). National Report Presented to the 45th Session of the International Conference On Education, Geneva, 30 September - 5 October, 1996.
- Northouse, P. G. (2004). *Leadership: Theory and Practice*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- **Northouse, P. G.** (2013). *Leadership: Theory and practice* (6th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.
- **Northouse, P. G.** (2014). *Introduction to leadership: Concepts and practice.* Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

- **Norviewu-Moritty, E. K.** (2012). Principals' strategies for improving the academic achievement of students of disadvantaged rural junior high schools in Ghana. (Unpublished doctoral dissertation), Western Australia: Edith Cowan University.
- **Nwabueze, B. O.** (1995). *Crises and Problems in Education in Nigeria*. Ibadan: Spectrum Books.
- Nwagwu, N., Ijeoma, M. E., & Nwagwu, C. C. (Eds.). (2004). Organization and Administration of Education: Perspective and Practice. Nigeria: Festa printing press.
- Nwankwo, J. I. (1982). Educational Administration- Theory and Practice. New Delhi:Vikas.
- Nwankwo, J. I. (1984). *Educational Administration and Supervision*. Ibadan: University of Ibadan.
- **Obemeata, J. (Ed.).** (1984). Secondary School Headship in Nigeria Context. . Ile-Ife: University of Ife Press.
- **Obi, E.** (2003). *Educational Management*. Enugu- Nigeria: JAMOE Enterprises.
- Obiwuru, T. C., Okwu, A. T., Akpa, V. O. & Nwankwere, I A. (2011). Effects of leadership style on organizational performance: A survey of selected small scale enterprises in Ikosi-Ketu council development area of Lagos State, Nigeria. Australian Journal of Business and Management Research, 1(7), 100–111. http://ajbmr.com/articlepdf/ajbmr\_17\_16i1n7a11.pdf
- **Ocho, L. O.** (1982). The role of Educational administrators and planners in achieving educational objectives: The need for more education and training for Nigerian school heads. Paper presented at the 5th convention of NAEAP.
- Odhiambo & Hii (2012). Key stakeholders' perceptions of effective school leadership. Educational Management Administration & Leadership, 40(2), 232-247. doi/abs/10.1177/1741143211432412
- Odo, F. A. & Ugadu, S. O (2015). Enhancing the quality of teacher education for innovations and transformation in teaching and learning in Nigerian schools. *Journal of Resourcefulness and Distinction*, 9(1), 1-14
- Odom, L., & Green, M.T. (2003). Law and the ethics of transformational leadership. *Leadership and Organisation development*, 24(2), 62-69.

- Odumeru, J. A., & Ogbonna, I. G. (2013). Transformational vs. transactional leadership theories: Evidence in literature. International Review of Management and Business Research, 2(2), 355-361
- **Oduro, G. K. T.** (2003). Perspectives of Ghanaian Headteachers on their Role and Professional Development: the Case of KEEA District Primary School. Cambridge: University of Cambridge.
- **Ogunu, M.** (2000). *Introduction to Educational Management*. Benin City: Mabogun publishers.
- **Ogunu, M.** (2014).100 years of church state partnership in education in Nigeria (1914-2014): A critical analysis. Benin City: Mabogun Publishers.
- **Ogunu, M.** (2015). *Catholic schools: Their unique characteristics and what makes them effective.* Benin City: Mabogun Publishers
- **Ojera, D. A. & Yambo, J. M. O.** (2014). Role of principals' instructional leadership style in facilitating learning materials and co-ordination of personnel on students' performance. *International Journal of Humanities and Social Science Invention, 3*(3), 51-55. *http://ijhssi.org/papers/v3(3)/Version-1/I0331051055.pdf*
- Ojo, L. B. & Olaniyan, D. A. (2008).Leadership roles of school administrators and challenges ahead in post-primary institutions in Nigeria. *European Journal of Scientific Research*, 24(2), 172-178.
- Olaleye, F. O. (2008). Principals' leadership behavior and school learning culture in secondary schools in Ekiti-State Nigeria. Pakistan Journal of Social Science, 5(9), 856-860. http://docsdrive.com/pdfs/medwelljournals/pjssci/2008/856-860.pdf
- Olaleye, F. O. (2013).Principals' organizational management and students' academic achievement in secondary schools in Ekiti State, Nigeria. Singaporean Journal of Business Economics, and Management Studies, 2(2), 76-84. http://www.singaporeanjbem.com/pdfs/SG\_VOL\_2\_(2)/8.p df
- **Olagboye, A. A.** (2004). *Introduction to Educational Management in Nigeria*. Ibadan: Daily Graphics.

Oluremi, O. F. (2008). Principals' leadership behaviour and

school learning culture in Ekiti state secondary schools. *International Social Research*, 1(3), 302–311.

- **Omoike, D.** (2005). Quality assurance in educational level transition through certification in Nigeria: Implications for school leadership. *Studies in Education*, *8*, 96-101.
- **Omoregie, N.** (2005). Re-packaging Secondary Education in Nigeria for Great and Dynamic Economy. Paper presented at the Paper presented at the 2nd Annual National Conference of Association of Encouraging Qualitative Education in Nigeria (ASSEQEN).
- **Onguko, B., & Abdalla, M.** (2008). Mapping principal preparation in Kenya and Tanzania. *Educational Administration*, 46(6), 715-726.
- **Orphanos, S. & Orr, M. T.** (2014). Learning leadership matters: The influence of innovative school leadership preparation on teachers' experiences and outcomes. *Journal of Educational Management Administration and Leadership*, 42(5), 680-700. doi/abs/10.1177/1741143213502187
- Oxford Dictionary. (Ed.) (2005) Oxford Dictionary of English Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- **Oyedeji, N. B., & Fasasi, Y. A. (Eds.).** (2006). *Dynamics if Educational Leadership*. Ibadan: Codat Publications.
- **Ozaralli, N.** (2003). Effects of transformational leadership on empowerment and team effectiveness. *Leadership and Organisation Development*, 24(6), 335–344.
- **Ozgan, H.** (2011). The relationships between organizational justice, confidence, commitment, and evaluating perceptions of conflict management at the context of organizational behavior. *Educational Sciences: Theory and Practice*, 11(1), 241-247.
- Penlington, C., Kington, A., & Day, C. (2008). Leadership in improving schools: A qualitative perspective. *Journal of School Leadership and Management*, 28(1), 65-82. doi:10.1080/13632430701800086.
- Peters, T., & Austin, N. (1985). A Passion for Excellent. New York: Collins.
- Petrides, L., Jimes, C., & Karaglani, A. (2014). Assistant principal leadership development: A narrative capture study. *Journal of Educational Administration*, *52*, 173-192. doi:10.1108/JEA-01-2012-0017

leadership practices and school innovativeness. South African Journal of Education, 34(1), 1-10. Retrieved from http://www.sajournalofeducation
Pitner, N. J. (Ed.). (1988). The study of Administrator Effects and Effectiveness. New York: Longman.
Pole, C. J., & Lampard, R. (2002). Practical Social Investigation-Qualitative and Quantitative Methods in Social Research. Essex: Pearson Education Limited.
Poster, C. (1999). Restructuring - The Key to Effective school Management. London, New York: Routledge.
Powney, J., & Watts, M. (1987). Interviewing in Educational Research. London: Routledge & Kegan Paul.
Preedy, M. (1993). Managing the Effective School. London: The

Pihie, Z. A. L., & Asimiran, S. (2014). Entrepreneurial

- Open University and Paul Chapman publishing Ltd.
- Pring, R. (2000). Philosophy of Educational Research. London, New York: Continuum.
- **Prosser, J. (Ed.).** (1999). *The Evolution of School Culture Research*. London, California, New Delhi: Paul Chapman.
- Rajbhandari, M. M. S. (2011). Driving leadership style in leading to enhance participation and involvement in school. (Unpublished doctoral dissertation), University of Tampere, Finland.
- Reeves, J., Moos, L., & Forrest, J. (Eds.). (1998). The School Leader's View. London: Paul Chapman Publishing Ltd
- .Reeves, D. B. (2009). Uncovering the "secrets" of high poverty, high success schools. *Teachers of Color Magazine*. Retrieved from

http://www.teachersofcolor.com/2009/04/uncoveringthe-secrets-of-highpoverty-high-success-schools/

- Reinhorn, S. K., Johnson, S. M., & Simon, N. S. (2015). Using data to drive instruction: Teachers' experiences of data routines in six high-performing, high-poverty, urban schools. Working Paper. Cambridge, MA: Harvard Graduate School of Education.
- Reitzug, U. C., West, D. L., and Angel, R. (2008). Conceptualizing instructional leadership: the voices of principals. *Education and Urban Society*, 40(6), 694-714. Doi:10.1177/0013124508319583

- **Reynolds, D. (Ed.).** (1992). *School Effectiveness and School Improvement: an Updated Review of British Literature.* London: CASSELL.
- **Reynolds, D.** (undated). Effective school leadership: the contributions of school effectiveness research. *National College for School Leadership*.
- Reynolds, D., Bollen, R., Creemers, B., Hopkins, D., Stoll, L., & Lagerweij, N. (1996). Making Good Schools-Linking School Effectiveness and School Improvement. London, New York: Routledge.
- Reynolds, D., & Cuttance, P. (1992). School Effectiveness: Research, Policy and Practice. London: CASSELL.
- **Reynolds, D., Hopkins, D., & Stoll, L.** (1993). Linking school effectiveness knowledge and school improvement practice: Towards a synergy. *School Effectiveness and School Improvement, 4*(1), 37-58.
- Riley, D., & Mulford, B. (2007). England's National College for School Leadership: a model for leadership education? *Educational Administration*, 45(1), 80–98.
- Riley, K. A., & Karen, S. L. (Eds.). (2000). Leadership for Change and School Reform- International Perspectives. London, New York: RoutledgeFalmer.
- Ritchie, R., & Woods, P.A. (2007). Degree of distribution: Towards an understanding of variations in the nature of distributed leadership in schools. *School Leadership & Management*, 27(4), 363-381.
- Robertson, J. & Miller, T. (2007). School leadership and equity. The case of New Zealand. *School Leadership and Management*, 27(1), 91-103. doi/abs/10.1080/13632430601092560
- Robinson, V. M. J., Lloyd, C. A., & Rowe, K. J. (2008). The impact of leadership on student outcomes: An analysis of the differential effects of leadership types. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 44(5), 635-674.
- Ross, L., Rix, M., & Gold, J. (2005). Learning Distributed Leadership: part 1. *Industrial and Commercial Training*, 37(3), 130-137.
- **Ross, C. A.** (2013). The roles of leadership in high performing-high poverty schools: A case study of four torchbearer principals and

their schools (Unpublished doctoral dissertation). Auburn University, Auburn, Alabama

- Rost, J. C. (1991). Leadership for the Twenty-first Century. New York: Praeger.
- Rouche, J. E., Baker, G. A., & Rose, R. R. (1989). Shared Vision: Transformational Leadership in American Community Colleges. Washington, DC: Community College press.
- Rumberger, R., & Palardy, G. (2005). Does segregation still matter: The impact of student composition on academic achievement in high school. *Teachers College Record*, 107(9), 1999–2045.
- Rutter, M., Maughan, B., Mortimore, P., Ouston, J., & Smith, A. (1979). *Fifteen Thousand Hours: Secondary Schools and Their Effects on Children*. London, Boston, MA: Open Books & Harvard university press.
- **Rutter, R. A.** (1998). *Effect of School as a Community*. Madison WI: National centre on Effective Secondary Schools.
- Sackney, L., & Walker, K. (2006). Canadian perspectives on beginning principals: their role in building capacity for learning communities. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 44(4), 341–358.
- Sagor, R., & Barnett, B. G. (1994). The TQE Principal-A Transformed Leader. California: Corwin Press.
- Sammons, P., Hallman, J., & Mortimore, P. (1995). Key Characteristics of Effective Schools: A Review of School Effectiveness Research. London: Office for Standards in Education.
- Sammons, P., Hillman, J., & Mortimore, P. (1995). Key Characteristics of Effective Schools: A Review of Effectiveness Research. London: Open Books.
- Sammons, P., Hillman, J., & Mortimore, P. (1995). Key Characteristics of Effective Schools: Review of School Effectiveness research. London: Ofsted.
- Sanders, P., & Liptrot, D. (1993). An Incomplete Guide to Basic Research Methods and Data Collection for Counsellors. Manchester: PCCS Books.
- Sang, C. C., Chepchieng, M., & Kariuke, M. (2015). Relationship between students' family socio-economic status, school category and academic achievement in

Kericho County, Kenya. Journal of International Academic Research for Multidisciplinary, 3(4), 464–476

- Sargent, A. G., & Stupak, R. J. (1989). Managing in the 1990s: The androgynous managing. *Training and Development*, 43(12), 29-35.
- **Schafer, D.** (2005). Leadership role expectations and relationships of principals and pastors in Catholic parochial elementary schools: Part 2. Catholic Education: A *Journal of Inquiry and Practice*, 9(2), 230–249.

**Scheerens, J.** (1992). *Effective Schooling: Research, Theory and Practice*. London: CASSELL.

- Sergiovanni, T. J. (1998). Leadership as pedagogy, capital development and school effectiveness. *International Journal of Leadership in Education*, 1(1), 37-46.
- Sergiovanni, T. J. (2001). Leadership: What's in it for Schools? London, New York: RoutledgeFalmer.
- **Sergiovanni, T. J.** (2009). *The principalship: A reflective practice*. Boston, MA: Pearson.

Sheila, R., & Sally, B. (Eds.). (1991). School Effectiveness Research: Its Messages for School Improvement. . Edinburgh: HMSO.

- Shuster, E. M. (2000). Forward. In T. C. Hunt, T. E. Oldenski, & T. J. Wallace (Eds.), Catholic school leadership (pp. 191–203). New York: Falmer.
- Silns, H., & Mulford, B. (2003). *Leadership and School Results*. Dordrecht: Kluwer.
- Sirotnik, K. A., & Kimball, K. (1996). Preparing education for leadership: in praise of experience. *Journal of School Leadership*, 6(2), 180–201.
- Slavin, R. E., Madden, N. A., Dolan, L. J., & Wasik, B. A. (1996). Every Child, Every School: Success for All. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press.

Smith, R. (1995). Successful School Management. London: CASSELL.

- Smith, S. C. & Piele, P. K (2006). School leadership: Handbook for excellence in student learning. Thousand Oaks, California: Corwin Press.
- Smyth, J. (Ed.). (1997). Is Supervision More than the Surveillance of Instruction. Norwood, MA: Christopher- Gordon.

- **Sogunro, O. A.** (2004). Efficacy of role-playing pedagogy in training leaders: some reflections. *Journal of Management Development*, 23(4), 355-371.
- Southworth, G. (Ed.). (1994). School Leadership and School Development: Reflections from Research. London: Falmer Press.
- **Southworth, G.** (1998). *Leading Improving Primary Schools: The Work of Headteachers and Deputy Heads*. London: Falmer press.
- Southworth, G. (2004). Primary School Leadership in Context-Leading Small, Medium and Large Sized Schools. London, New York: RoutledgeFalmer.
- Spesia, D, D. (2016). Forming Catholic principals as leaders of the new evangelization. *Journal of Catholic Education*, 20(1), 244-265, doi.org/10.15365/joce.2001112016
- **Spillane, J.** (2004). *Distributed Leadership: What's all the Hoopla?* Northwestern University: Institute of Policy Research.
- Starratt, R. J. (1996). Transforming Educational Administration: Meaning, Community, and Excellence. New York: The McGraw-Hill Company.
- Stoll, L. (Ed.). (1999). School Culture: Black Hole or Fertile Garden for School Improvement. London: Paul Chapman Publishing.
- **Stoll, L. (Ed.).** (2003). *School Culture and Improvement*. London: Paul Chapman, SAGE publications
- Stoll, L., & Fink, D. (1996). Changing Our Schools- Linking School Effectiveness and School Improvement. Buckingham, Philadelphia: Open University press.
- Stoll, L., & Mortimore, P. (Eds.). (1997). School Effectiveness and School Improvement. London: Institute of Education, University of London.
- Stoll, L., & Myers, K. (1998). No Quick Fixes: Perspectives on Schools in Difficulty. London: Falmer Press.

Stone, A. G., Russell, R. F., & Patterson, K. (2004). Transformational versus servant leadership: a difference in Leader focus. *The Leadership and Organisation Development*, 25(4), 349–361.

Strain, M., Bill, D., Janet, O., & Valerie, H. (Eds.). (undated). Policy, Leadership and Professional Knowledge in Education. London: Paul Chapman Publishing Ltd.

- Stronge, J. M., Holly, B. R., & Catano, N. (2008). Qualities of effective principals. Alexandria, Virginia: Association for Supervision & Curriculum Development
- Su, Z., Gamage, D., & Mininerg, E. (2003). Professional preparation and development of school leaders in Australia and the USA. *International Education Journal*, 4(1), 42-59.
- Sue, L., & Glover, D. (2000). Educational Leadership and Learning-Practice, Policy and Research. Buckingham, Philadelphia: Open University Press.
- Sun, J., & Leithwood, K. (2012). Transformational school leadership effects on student achievement. *Leadership & Policy in Schools*, 11, 418-451. doi:10.1080/15700763.2012.681001
- Supovits, J., Sirinides, P., & May, H. (2009). How principals and peers influence teaching and learning. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, *46*(1), 31-56. doi: 10.1177/1094670509353043
- **Taiwo, C. O.** (1985). *The Nigeria Education System, Past, Present, & Future*. Lagos: Nelson Pitman.
- Tan, C. (2012). Instructional leadership: Toward a contextualised knowledge creation model. *School Leadership & Management*, 32(2),183–194. doi: 10.1080/13632434.2011.614944
- Teddlie, C., & Reynolds, D. (2000). The International Handbook of School Effectiveness Research. London: Falmer Press.
- **Teddlie, C., & Stringfield, S.** (1993). Schools Do Make a Difference: Lessons Learned from a 10 year Study of School Effects. New York: Teachers college press.
- **Teddlie, C., & Tashakkori, A.** (2009). Foundations of Mixed Methods Research: Integrating Quantitative and Qualitative Approaches in the Social and Behavioural Science. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- **The Open University.** (1988). Leadership and Decision-Making in Schools: Roles and Responsibilities. Scotland: Thomson Litho Ltd.
- **The Wallace Foundation,** (2011). Research findings to support effective educational policies: A guide for policymakers. Retrieved from

http://www.wallacefoundation.org/knowledgecenter/school-leadership/keyresearch/Documents/Findings-to-Support-Effective-Educational-Policy-Making.pdf

- The Wallace Foundation. (2012). Research findings to support effective educational policymaking: Evidence and action steps for state, district, and local policy makers. Retrieved from http://www.wallacefoundation.org/knowledgecenter/school-leadership/key-research/Pages/Findingsto-Support-Effective-Educational-Policy-Making.aspx
- Thapa, A. Cohen, J., Guffey, S., & Higgins-D' Alessandro, A. (2013). A review of school climate research. *Review of Educational Research*, 83(3), 357–385. doi: 10.3102/0034654313483907
- **Thody, A.** (1997). *Leadership of School -Chief Executives in Education*. London: CASSELL.
- **Thody, A.** (1998). Training school principals, educating school governors. *International Journal of Educational Management*, 12(5), 232-239.
- Thomas, T., Herring, M., Redmond, P., & Smaldino, S. (2013). Leading change and innovation in teacher preparation: A blueprint for developing TPACK ready teacher candidates. *TechTrends*, *57*(5), 55-63. doi:10.1007/s11528-013-0692-7
- Tooley, J. Dixon, P. & Olaniyan, O. (2005). Private and public schooling in low-income area of Lagos State, Nigeria: A census and comparative survey. *International Journal of Educational Research*, 43, 125-146. doi:10.1016/j.ijer.2006.05.001
- **Townsend, T.** (1994). *Effective Schooling for the Community*. London & New York: Routledge.
- Tschannen-Moran, M., & Gareis, C. R. (2015). Faculty trust in the principal: An essential ingredient in high-performing schools. *Educational Administration*, 53(1), 66–92. doi/abs/10.1108/JEA-02-2014-0024
- Uduigwomen, F. A., & Ozumba, O. G. (2004). Philosophy and Nigeria's National Policy on Education. *The African Symposium- Educational Journal*, 4(2), 63-71.

- Undie, J. A., Udida, L. A., & Sule, M. A. (2005). Principals perception of education quality in private and public secondary schools in Cross River South Senatorial District. *Nigerian Journal of educational administration and planning*, 5(2), 19–26.
- **Uwameiye, R., & Onyewadume.** (1999). Work visits in the South-Western Nigerian junior secondary schools: a neglected challenge? *Journal of Vocational Education and Training, 51*(4), 573-583.
- Uwazurike, C. N. (1991). Theories of educational leadership: Implications for Nigerian educational leaders. *School Management and Administration*, 19(4), 259–263.
- Valadez, D. (2013). Effective leadership practices of Catholic high school principals that support student achievement. (Unpublished doctoral dissertation), University Southern California.
- Valdez Perez, A. L., Milstein, M., Wood, C. J., & Jacquez, D. (1999). *How to Turn a School Around- What Principals Can Do*. California, London: Corwin Press, Inc.
- Wagner, T., Kegan, R., Lahey, L., Lemons, R. W., Garnier, J., Helsing, D., Howell, A., &Rasmusssen, H. T. (2010). Change leadership: A practical guide to transforming our schools. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass
- Wallace, M., & Louise, P. (Eds.). (2003). Learning to Read Critically in Educational Leadership and Management. London: SAGE Publications.
- Wallance, M. (2002). Modelling distributed leadership and management effectiveness: primary school senior management teams in England and Wales. School Effectiveness and School Improvement, 13(2), 163–186.
- Walstrom, K. L., & Louis, K. S. (2008). How teachers experience principal leadership: The roles of professional community, trust, efficacy, and shared responsibility. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 44(4), 458–495. doi/abs/10.1177/0013161X08321502
- Weihrich, H., & Koontz, H. (2005). Management- A Global Perspective. New Delhi: Tata McGraw-Hill
- **West African Examination Council** (2009). *A brief history of the council*. Presented in the 57th anniversary celebration brochure of the Council, held in Lagos, Nigeria.

- *council*. Retrived: http://www.waecnigeria.org/ West, M., Jackson, D., Harris, A., & Hopkins, D. (Eds.).
- (2000). *Leadership for School Improvement*. London: RoutledgeFalmer.
- West, M., Jackson, D., Harris, A., & Hopkins, D. (Eds.). (2000). *Leadership for School Improvement*. London: RoutledgeFalmer.
- West-Burnham, J., Bush, T., O'Neill, J., & Glover, D. (1995). Leadership and Strategic Management. London: PITMAN Publishing.
- **Whawo, D. D.** (1995). *Educational Administration Planning and Supervision*. Benin City: Jodah Publications.
- Whitaker, P. (1993). *Managing Change in School*. Buckingham, Philadelphia: Open University Press.
- Wiles, K., & Lovell, J. T. (1975). Supervision for Better Schools (4th ed.). New Jersey: Prentice- Hall Inc.
- Williams, J. (2002). Professional Leadership in Schools- Effective Middle Management & Subject Leadership. . London: Kogan Page Ltd.
- Williams, S. (2001). Emotions and Social Theory. London: Sage.
- Williams, S. D., Graham, T. S., & Baker, B. (2003). Evaluating outdoor experiential training for leadership and team building. *Journal of Management Development*, 22(1), 45–59.
- Wood, P. A., & Gronn, P. (2009). Nurturing democracy: the contribution of distributed leadership to a democratic organizational landscape. *Educational Management Administration & Leadership*, 37(4), 430-451.
- **Woods, P. A.** (2005). *Democratic Leadership in Education*. London: Paul Chapman Publishing Ltd.
- Woods, P. A., Bennett, N., Wise, C., & Harvey, J. A. (2004). Variabilities and dualities in understanding distributed leadership: Findings from a systematic literature review, educational management. *Administration and Leadership*, 32(4), 439-457.
- World Bank, (2015a). Nigeria overview World Bank. Retrieved from:

http://www.worldbank.org/en/country/nigeria/overvie w

- 234 Effective School Leadership in a Disadvantaged Area
  - **World Bank** (2015b). *Rural population (% of total population)*. Retrieved:

http://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.RUR.TOTL.ZS

- Yang, Y. (2014). Principals' transformational leadership in school improvement. The International Journal of Educational Management, 28, 279-288. doi:10.1108/IJEM-04-2013-0063
- Yelland, N., Cope, B., & Kalantzis, M. (2008). Learning by design: Creating pedagogical frameworks for knowledge building in the twenty-first century. Asia-Pacific *Journal of Teacher Education*, 3, 197–213. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/ 13598660802232597
- Ylimaki, R.M., Jacobson, S., & Drysdale, L. (2007). Making a difference in challenging, high-poverty schools: Successful principals in the USA, England, and Australia. School Effectiveness and School Improvement, 18(4), 361-381. doi: 10.1080/09243450701712486
- Ylimaki, R. M., & Jacobson, S. (2013). School leadership practice and preparation. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 51, 6–23. doi:10.1108/09578231311291404
- Yulk, G. (2005). *Leadership in organization*. New York: Prentice Hall.
- Yusuf, A.F. (2012).Influence of principals' leadership styles on student academic achievement in secondary schools. *Journal of Innovative Research in Management and Humanities, 3*(1), pp. 113–121.
- Yukl, G. (1994). Leadership in Organisations (3rd ed.). London: Prentice-Hall International.
- Yukl, G. (1999). An evaluation of conceptual weakness in transformational and charismatic leadership theories. *Leadership Quarterly, 10,* 255-305.
- Yukl, G. (2002). Leadership in Organisations (5 ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice-Hall, Inc.
- Yusuf, A.F. (2012).Influence of principals' leadership styles on student academic achievement in secondary schools. *Journal of Innovative Research in Management and Humanities, 3*(1), pp. 113-121.